Agenda

B City of Fort Atkinson
=N = City Manager’s Office
101 N. Main Street

FORT-ATKINSON Fort Atkinson, WI 53538

CITY COUNCIL MEETING
IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM
THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 17, 2022 - 7:00 PM
CITY HALL - SECOND FLOOR

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5997866403?pwd=alcreldSbGpNUVI1VnR1RWF5bXovdz09
Meeting ID: 599 786 6403
Passcode: 53538

Dial by Location
+1 312 626 6799

If you have special needs or circumstances which may make communication or accessibility
difficult at the meeting, please call (920) 563-7760. Accommodations will, to the fullest extent
possible, be made available on request by a person with a disability.

AGENDA
1. Call meeting to order

2. Roll call

3. Public Hearings:

a. Community Development Block Grant (CBDG) CLOSE Program Presentation and
Public Hearings (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director; Kianna Lindh, MSA
Professional Services/Program Administrator)

i. Public Hearing relating to the CDBG — CLOSE Lorman Scrapyard
Remediation Project

ii. Public Hearing relating to the CDBG — CLOSE Water Main Replacement
Project

4. Public Comment: The City Council will receive comments from City residents. Comments
are generally limited to three minutes per individual. Anyone wishing to speak is required
to sign up in advance or state the following items for the record when called upon:
name, address, subject matter, and contact information. No action will be taken on any
public comments unless the item is also elsewhere on the agenda.



https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5997866403?pwd=alcreldSbGpNUVI1VnR1RWF5bXovdz09

5. Consent Agenda: The Consent Agenda outlined below is hereby presented for action by
the City Council. Items may be removed from the Consent Agenda on the request of any
one Council member. Items not removed may be adopted by one action without debate.
Removed items may be taken up either immediately after the Consent Agenda or placed
later on the agenda at the discretion of the Council President.

a. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the January 26, 2022
Police and Fire Commission meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

b. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the February 1, 2022
regular City Council meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

c. Review and possible action relating to building, plumbing, and electrical permit
report for January 2022 (Juarez, Building Inspector)

d. Review and possible action relating to the City Clerk-issued License and Permit
Report for January 2022 (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

e. City Sewer, Water, and Stormwater Utility Financial Statements as of December
31, 2021 (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

f. Review and possible action relating to a Special Event: Friends of Haumerson’s
Pond - Candlelight Ski and Hike on February 26, 2022 (Ebbert,
Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

6. Petitions, Requests, and Communications — None

7. Resolutions and Ordinances:

a. Third/final reading and possible action relating to an Ordinance to adopt
Amendments to the City of Fort Atkinson Comprehensive Plan (Selle, City
Engineer/Director of Public Works)

b. Third/final reading and possible action relating to an Ordinance to repeal and
recreate Section 1-13 of the Municipal Code regarding the Official Map for the
City of Fort Atkinson (Selle, City Engineer/Director of Public Works)

c. Third/final reading and possible action relating to an Ordinance to repeal and
recreate the Land Division and Development Code for the City of Fort Atkinson
(Selle, City Engineer/Director of Public Works)

d. Third/final reading and possible action relating to an Ordinance to amend
Sections 42-36 and 42-37 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code relating
to the Historic Preservation Commission (LeMire, City Manager)

e. Third/final reading and possible action relating to an Ordinance to amend
Section 58-148 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code relating to the sale
of tobacco, nicotine products, electronic smoking devices, and electronic
smoking device paraphernalia near schools (Bump, Police Chief)

8. Reports of Officers, Boards, and Committees:




a. Annual Tourism Report (Katie Carey, Fort Atkinson Chamber of Commerce
Tourism Manager)
b. City Manager’s Report (LeMire, City Manager)

9. Unfinished Business — None

10. New Business:

a. Review and possible action relating to the Modification of Control Panel 55-LCP-
3-2 Programmable Logic Controller (PLC) at a cost of $11,960 from the
Wastewater Utility Equipment Replacement Fund (Christensen, Wastewater
Utility Supervisor)

11. Miscellaneous — None

12. Claims, Appropriations and Contract Payments:

a. Review and possible action relating to the Verified Claims presented by the
Director of Finance and authorization of payment (Ebbert,
Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

13. Adjournment
Date Posted: February 11, 2022

CC: City Council; City Staff; City Attorney; News Media; Fort Atkinson School District; Fort Atkinson
Chamber of Commerce

Visit us online! City news and information can be found at www.fortatkinsonwi.net, and be sure to follow
us on Facebook @FortAtkinsonWI.



http://www.fortatkinsonwi.net/

City of Fort Atkinson

City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office
101 N. Main Street

Fort Atkinson, Wl 53538

MEMORANDUM
DATE: February 17, 2022
TO: Fort Atkinson City Council
FROM: Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director
RE: Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) CLOSE Program Presentation and

Citizen Participation Public Hearings

BACKGROUND

In 2019, the Wisconsin Department of Administration (WDOA) made the determination to close
the CDBG loan program, or Revolving Loan Fund (RLF). Unused funds held by municipalities
were provided the option to reimburse the State for funds on hand or to return those monies
to the State. The Council decided to return the unused funds of $1,492,956.62 to the DOA and
buyout the three revolving loans that were being managed at that time, those included
Blodgett Milling Company, Fort 88 Investments, and Badger 47, LLC.

When the State decided to terminate the RLF and participate in the CDBG-Close grant program,
the WDOA allocated approximately $1.5 million of grant money for which the City could apply.
In order to access this grant money, the City would have to meet certain federal requirements
and follow specific WDOA application requirements. Two projects were identified as having the
potential to meet the requirements:
e Purchase and remediation of a former scrap yard, 115 Lorman Street, 205 Hake Street
and 600 Oak Street
e Public facility improvements including water main replacement and street
reconstruction.

The City received CDBG-CLOSE funds for both of the projects above and completed the initial
requirements outlined below on November 5, 2020.
e (Citizen Participation Plan —Adopted November 5, 2020
e Citizen Participation Plan Adopting Resolution — Adopted November 5, 2020
e Fair Housing Ordinance — Enacted November 5, 2020
e Fair Housing Ordinance Adoption Resolution — Adopted November 5, 2020
e Use of Force Ordinance — Adopted November 5, 2020
e Residential Anti-Displacement and Relocation Assistance Plan (RADRAP) — Adopted
November 5, 2020
e Authorizing Resolution Grant Application #1 (Lorman Remediation Project) — Adopted
November 5, 2020




e Authorizing Resolution Grant Application #2 (Water Main Project) — Adopted
November 5, 2020

DISCUSSION

To meet the CDBG program requirements, the City must conduct a second set of public
hearings, one for each of the projects that received CDBG funds by March 31, 2022. The City
must then report back to the WDOA by March 315t with the record from the public hearings.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
The public hearing is not expected to impact the City financially. The budgets associated with
each of these projects are outlined in the City’s 2022 Budget Document, in Sections 16 and 17.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends that the City Council conduct public hearings relating to the CBDG — CLOSE
projects.

ATTACHMENTS

Public Hearing Notice — CDBG Close Public Facilities — 115 Lorman Street, 205 Hake Street and
600 Oak Street

Public Hearing Notice — CDBG Close Water Main Relay and Road Rehabilitation

Citizen Participation Plan for the CDBG Program

November 5, 2020 City Council materials


https://cms8.revize.com/revize/fortatkinson/2022%20COFA%20Adopted%20Budget%20Document.pdf

PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT-CLOSE PUBLIC FACILIITES
BLIGHT ELIMINATION
SECOND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION MEETING
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON
IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM
CITY HALL, 101 N. MAIN STREET, SECOND FLOOR
FORT ATKINSON, WI 53538
THURSDAY FEBRUARY 17, 2022 - 7:00 PM

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5997866403?pwd=alcreldSbGpNUVI1VnR1RWF5bXovdz09
Meeting ID: 599 786 6403

Passcode: 53538

Dial by Location +1 312 626 6799

Public Notice is hereby given that the City of Fort Atkinson will hold a public hearing on February 17
at 7:00 pm at the Fort Atkinson City Hall, 101 N. Main Street, Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin. The purpose
of the public hearing is to inform the public of the progress on the blight elimination project in the
City of Fort Atkinson, and to request citizen input on the Community Development Block Grant
(CDBG) program, which has partially funded the project. Discussion items will include a review of the
current CDBG program activities, the project progress and construction activities, and CDBG program
goals. At the public hearing, interested parties will be given a reasonable opportunity to provide
guestions or suggestions on the CDBG program.

Residents of the City of Fort Atkinson are encouraged to attend especially residents of low-to-
moderate incomes. The meeting room is handicapped accessible. Persons needing additional
accessibility accommodations should contact the City’s Clerk’s Office at 920-563-7760.

Published: Tuesday, February 1, 2022

Agenda:
1. Review of program performance
a. This project includes funding of $1,441,750 CDBG CLOSE-Public Facilities for blight
elimination activities.
b. The City has acquired properties located at 115 Lorman St., 205 Hake St., and 600 Oak
St. for $282,000.
c. The environmental consultant on the project, Terracon, has been paid $21,635.75.
d. $300,633.67 CDBG-CLOSE PF has been issued from the grant for property acquisition
(including title work) and environmental consulting services.
e. Demolition is anticipated to begin March-April 2022, weather permitting.
f. The project must be completed by December 31, 2022.
2. Citizens’ views on the program
3. Other CDBG issues


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5997866403?pwd=alcreldSbGpNUVI1VnR1RWF5bXovdz09

PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT-CLOSE PUBLIC FACILIITES
WATER MAIN INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS
SECOND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION MEETING
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON
IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM
CITY HALL, 101 N. MAIN STREET, SECOND FLOOR
FORT ATKINSON, WI 53538
THURSDAY FEBRUARY 17, 2022 - 7:00 PM

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5997866403?pwd=alcreldSbGpNUVI1VnR1RWF5bXovdz09
Meeting ID: 599 786 6403

Passcode: 53538

Dial by Location +1 312 626 6799

Public Notice is hereby given that the City of Fort Atkinson will hold a public hearing on February 17t
at 7:00 pm at the Fort Atkinson City Hall, 101 N. Main Street, Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin. The purpose
of the public hearing is to inform the public of the progress on the water main infrastructure
improvement project in the City of Fort Atkinson, and to request citizen input on the Community
Development Block Grant (CDBG) program, which has partially funded the project. Discussion items
will include a review of the current CDBG program activities, the project progress and construction
activities, and CDBG program goals. At the public hearing, interested parties will be given a
reasonable opportunity to provide questions or suggestions on the CDBG program.

Residents of the City of Fort Atkinson are encouraged to attend especially residents of low-to-
moderate incomes. The meeting room is handicapped accessible. Persons needing additional
accessibility accommodations should contact the City’s Clerk’s Office at 920-563-7760.

Published: Tuesday, February 1, 2022

Agenda:
1. Review of program performance

a. This project includes partial funding of $362,244.46 CDBG CLOSE Public Facilities for
approximately 5,900 linear feet of water main relay and road rehabilitation in the area
bound by Rockwell Ave, S. Main St., Hilltop Trail West, and Peterson St. No CDBG
funds have been expended to date.

b. The WI Department of Administration has granted environmental certification; the
project does not have an impact on the environment and no further environmental
review is not required.

c. The City has entered into a service agreement with Ruekert Mielke for project
engineering.

d. The project has not yet been awarded to a contractor.

e. Construction is anticipated to commence March-April 2022 weather permitting.

f. The project must be completed by December 31, 2022.

2. Citizens’ views on the program
3. Other CDBG issues


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5997866403?pwd=alcreldSbGpNUVI1VnR1RWF5bXovdz09

Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Citizen Participation Pian

City of Fort Atkinson

Citizen Participation Plan for the
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program
PURPOSE

In order for the CDBG Program to operate effectively, and to address the needs of the
citizens of the City of Fort Atkinson, the entire population must be kept informed. The
decision-making process must be open and consistent with State and Federal regulations.
To accomplish this, the following plan will be followed:

PROGRAM OVERSIGHT

1. The City of Fort Atkinson shall create a Citizen Participation Plan Committee (Finance
Committee), members of which shall be appointed by the Chief Elected Official and
confirmed by the City Council. This Committee shall be responsible for
implementation of the Citizen Participation Plan, as well as offering guidance in
preparation of the grant application.

The City of Fort Atkinson shall oversee the preparation of the Community
Development Block Grant (CDBG) grant application.

2. Toinsure responsiveness to the needs of its citizens, the City of Fort Atkinson shall

provide for and encourage citizen participation. Particular emphasis shall be given to
participation by persons of low- to- moderate income (LMI).

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION

1. The City of Fort Atkinson shall establish a committee composed of persons
representative of the City of Fort Atkinson demographics. This committee must include
at least one LMI person.

The committee members should also include representatives from the local
government, real estate, banking and labor communities whenever possible. This
committee shall assume responsibility for coordinating all required elements of the

Page 1 of 4
v2020.01.28 8
3/19



Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Citizen Participation Plan

Citizen Participation Plan. All committee members must be residents of the City of
Fort Atkinson.

NOTICE OF HEARINGS

1. Official notice of hearings will be by public notice in the Daily Jefferson County Union
at least two full weeks prior to the hearing. In addition, the public notice shall be
posted at the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Building. These notices will include time,
place and date of meetings, as well as a brief agenda.

2. All notifications of meetings and available assistance must be worded in such a way as
to encourage LMI participation. In addition, all meeting announcements shall include
where, and during what time, information and records relating to the proposed and
actual use of funds may be found.

REQUIRED PUBLIC HEARINGS

Public hearings shall be held to obtain citizen views and to enable them to respond to
proposals at all stages of the CDBG Program, including the development of needs, the
review of proposed activities and the review of program performance. Hearings shall be held
after adequate notice, at times and locations convenient to potential or actual beneficiaries
and with accommodations for the handicapped, and, if needed, for non-English speaking
persons.

1. The first hearing will receive citizens’ views ana orovide an explanation of:
a. Community development needs, objectives, and strategies.

b. The CDBG program including goals, objectives, application procéss, amount of
funds available, timetable, eligible activities, etc.

2. The second hearing will receive citizens’ views ana provide a review of the
performance of the funded activities.

3. The first public hearing shall be held during the development of the application for
funds. The second public hearing shall be held during the implementation of the
program. The City of Fort Atkinson will attempt to nave at least one of the public
hearings in the service area (if applicable).

Page 2 of 4

v2020.01.28 9
4/19



Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Citizen Participation Pian

PROGRAM INFORMATION, FILES, and ASSISTANCE

1. Technical assistance will be provided to any citizen who requests information about
program requirements. Assistance with the application process will be provided by
City staff in the Community Development Department. A Fort Atkinson staff member
will meet with citizens on request.

2. The City of Fort Atkinson will maintain, in thé Fort Atkinson Municipal Building, a
record of all citizen participation efforts including minutes of meetings, newspaper
clippings, and copies of notices and brochures.

3. Citizens will be invited to make proposals regarding the application. If suitable
proposals are submitted in writing, a written response will be provided within 15 days.
Every effort will be made to respond to all proposais prior to the final action on the
subject.

4. Citizens may petition or request in Writi‘ng assistance or changes.

The Fort Atkinson City staff will respond to all such requests within 15 days after the
Fort Atkinson Citizen Participation Committee has met to discuss the request.

COMPLAINTS

The City of Fort Atkinson will handle citizen complaints about the program in a timely manner.
By federal regulation the City of Fort Atkinson will respona in writing to all written letters of
complaint within 15 days after receipt of the complaint. The nature and disposition of verbal
complaints will be reported in a complaint log. The first contact for complaints should be
made to Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer.

In addition to the above procedure, any citizen wishing to object may complain directly to the
following address:

Attention: Executive Staff Assistant
Wisconsin Department of Administration

Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources, 9" Floor
P.O. Box 7970

Madison, WI 53707-7970

Written complaints should contain the following information and should be as specific as
possible when describing:

Page 3 of 4
v2020.01.28 10

5/19



Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Citizen Participation Pian

1) The Program area being referenced: HOME. Community Development Block
Grants for Housing (CDBG — Housing), Community Development Block Grants for
Community Development (CDBG ~ Community Development), Community
Development Block Grant Close Program (CIDBG-CL), Emergency Solutions
Grants (ESG), etc.;

2) The event resulting in the complaint;
3) The dates, details, and reason for the compiaint; along with

4) The complainant’s name, address, and telepnone number.

NON-ENGLISH SPEAKING PERSONS

The City of Fort Atkinson will regularly survey the municipality to identify non-English
speaking persons and will make all special efforts to assure them equal opportunity in the
citizen’s participation process.

Page 4 of 4
v2020.01.28 1

6/19



Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Citizen Participation Certification (Public Hearing #2)

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION

CERTIFICATION
for Public Hearing #2

|,  Michelle Ebbert |, for the City of Fort Atkinson , hereby
(Typed Name) (City, Town, Village, or County) (Grantee /UGLG / Community Name)

certify that the following checked topics were discussed at the Community Development Block Grant
(CDBG) Citizen Participation Public Hearing held at 7:00 pm on [Thursday Feb 17, 2022

(Time: 00:00 am/pm) (Date: Month, Day, Year)
Items
Dlscgﬁzed e Agenda Items / Topics Covered
Public Hearing
X 1. An update on the status of the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)

project was provided, including an overview of project activities completed to
date, and activities remaining to be completed. [Required]

X 2. An update on the status of residential and/or business displacement and
relocation assistance activities required as a result of the CDBG project was
provided. [Required if displacement occurred as part of the CDBG project]

X 3. Housing needs identified in the community were discussed. [Required if the
UGLG did not cover this in Citizen Participation Public Hearing #1 prior to the
UGLG’s CDBG Application Submission]

= 4. The public attending this meeting were offered an opportunity to provide input
and feedback on the CDBG project activities. [Required]

O] 5. Add Additional Topic If Applicable
] 6. Add Additional Topic If Applicable |
[ COUNCIL PRESIDENT 02/17/2022
Signature of UGLG Official or Public Hearing Facilitator Title Date Signed

_CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

UGLG/Organization Name for Signatory Person Above

** This Certification (verifying the topics described above were discussed) may be provided to DEHCR with
the minutes from Public Hearing #2, along with the hearing notice documents, which must be submitted
as part of the UGLG’s Semi-Annual Report after the public hearing has been held. **

v2020.10.01 12



Item 9c¢

City of Fort Atkinson
Resolution to Adopt a Citizen Participation Plan

WHEREAS, the City of Fort Atkingon has applied

for a Community Development Block Grant (CDBG); and

WHEREAS, the State of Wisconsin Department of Administration (DOA) and the U.S. Department
of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) require recipients of Community Development Block
Grant (CDBG) monies to have in place a Citizen Participation Plan: and

WHEREAS, the Citizen Participation Plan shall encourage citizen participation (especially by
persons of low and moderate income (LMI)), provide citizens reasonable and timely access to local
meetings and information, provide for technical assistance. provide for public hearings, provide

for complaint procedures, and accommodate non-English speaking residents; and

WHEREAS, the City of Fort Atkinson has prepared

(County, City, Village, or Town) (UGLG/Unit of General Local Government's Name)
and publicly reviewed a Citizen Participation Plan:

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that : City Council
the
(Citv Council, County Board, Village Board, Town Board)
of the City of Fort Atkingon Officially
(County, City, Village, or Town) (UGLG/Unit of Generai Local Government's Name)

adopts the Citizen Participation Plan.

ADOPTED on 5th day of , 2020 . ATTEST:
this November
(Day) (Month) (Year) (Signature of Clerk)
The governing body of The City of Fort Atkinson has authorized the above resolution
(UGLG/Unit of General Local Government's Name:
by Resolution No.: , dated
(Resolution Number) (Date Authorized)
City Council President
Signature of the Chief Elected Official Title - Date Signed

Mason Becker
Typed Name of the Chief Elected Official

13
7/19



Item 9d

ORDINANCE NO.
The City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson does hereby ordain as follows:

That Chapter 46, HUMAN RELATIONS, Atticle II, Discrimination, Division 2, Fair Housing, Sec, 46-
51. - State statutes adopted, implemented; complaints, be deleted in its entirety:

(e)-The-couneil-adopts Wis—Stats—§-101-22-and-all-subsequent-amondments-thereto:

tb)y-The-officials-and-employees-of the-city-shall-assist-in-the-orderly-prevention-and-removal-ofall
%%ﬁm%emmwma%ﬂﬁm&mg%aﬂﬁwﬂwmmﬁpwm
forth-in-Wis—Stats—§-104-22;

te)-Fhe-eity-manager-shall-maintainforms-for-complaintsto-be-filed-under Wis—Stats—§ 16422 and
shall-assist-any-person-aleging-a-violation-thereof inthe-eity-to-file-a-complaint thereunder-with-the
state-department-of-industrytabor-and-human-relationsfor-enfore eoment-of- WisStats—§-101-22-

And replaced with the following:

Sec. 46-51. ~ State statutes adopted, implemented; complaints.
(a) The City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson hereby adopts Section 106.50, Wisconsin Statutes, as
amended, and all subsequent amendments thereto.

(b) The officials and employees of the City of Fort Atkinson shall assist in the order ly prevention and
removal of all discrimination in housing within the City of Fort Atkinson by implementing the authority
and enforcement procedures set forth in Section 106.50, Wisconsin Statutes, as amended,

(¢) The City of Fort Atkinson Clerk shall maintain forms for compiaints to be filed under Section 106.50,
Wisconsin Statutes, as amended, and shall assist any person alleging a violation thereof in the City of Fort
Atkinson to file a complaint thereunder with the Wisconsin Deparument of Workforce Development,
Equal Rights Division, for enforcement of Section 106.50, Wisconsin Statutes, as amended.

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereny replaced.
This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after the aate of its passage and publication.

Dated: November 5, 2020

Pres. of the City Council
ATTEST:

Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk

14
8/19



Item 9e

Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Resolution to Adopt a Fair Housing Ordinance

City of Fort Atkinson
Resolution to Adopt a Fair Housing Ordinance

AN ORDINANCE TO CREATE SECTION 46-51 ©OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE
OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON CODE {OF ORDINANCES
ADOPTING WISCONSIN STATUTES, SECTION 106.50, AS AMENDED,
RELATING TO THE EQUAL RIGHTS OF ALL PERSCNS TO FAIR HOUSING, AND
PROVIDING MEANS FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION AND ENFORCEMENT THEREOF.

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:

Section 46-51 of the City of Fort Atkinson Code of Ordinances is created to read as follows:
Fair Housing

State statutes adopted, implemented; complaints.

(a) The City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson hereby adopts Section 106.50, Wisconsin Statutes, as
amended, and all subsequent amendments thereto.

(b) The officials and employees of the City of Fort Atkinson shall zssist in the orderly prevention and
removal of all discrimination in housing within the City of Fort Atkinson by implementing the authority and
enforcement procedures set forth in Section 106.50, Wisconsin Statutes, as amended.

(c) The City of Fort Atkinson Clerk shall maintain forms for compiaints to be filed under Section 106.50,
Wisconsin Statutes, as amended, and shall assist any person alieging a violation thereof in the City of Fort
Atkinson to file a complaint thereunder with the Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development, Equal
Rights Division, for enforcement of Section 106.50, Wisconsin Statutes, as amended.

Mason Becker, Council President
Chief Elected Official Chief Electe Official Signature

ATTEST:

Michelle Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer
Municipal Clerk Municipal Clerk Signature

Adopted: November 5, 2020
Published:
Effective:

v2020.01.27 15
9/19



Item 9f

Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Anti-Displacement and Relocation Assistance Plan

WISCONSIN RESIDENTIAL ANTIDISPLACEMENT AND
RELOCATION ASSISTANCE PLAN
FOR CDBG PROGRAMS

This Residential Anti-Displacement and Relocation Assistance Plan (RARAP) is prepared by
the City of Fort Atkinson in accordance with the Housing and Community Development Act
of 1974, as amended; and HUD regulations at 24 CFR 42.325 and is applicable to our CDBG!
projects.

Minimize Displacement

Consistent with the goals and objectives of activities assisted under the Act, the City of Fort
Atkinson will take the following steps to minimize the direct and indirect displacement of
persons from their homes:

X Coordinate code enforcement with rehabilitation and housing assistance programs.

Evaluate housing codes and rehabilitation standarcls in reinvestment areas to prevent
undue financial burden on established owners and tenants.

Stage rehabilitation of apartment units to allow tenants to remain in the
building/complex during and after the rehabilitation. working with empty units first.

X
L]
[0 Arrange for facilities to house persons who must ve relocated temporarily during
rehabilitation.

[

[

L]

Adopt policies to identify and mitigate displacement resultlng from intensive public
investment in neighborhoods.

Adopt policies which provide reasonable protections for tenants faced with conversion
to a condominium or cooperative.

Adopt tax assessment policies, such as deferred tax payment plans, to reduce impact
of increasing property tax assessments on lower iricome owner-occupants or tenants
in revitalizing areas.

[J  Establish counseling centers to provide homeowners and tenants with information on
assistance available to help them remain in their neighborhood in the face of

revitalization pressures.
(continued on the next page)

1 \ R 3

CDBG programs include: Entitlement Community Development %lock Grant (CDBG) Program, State
CDBG Program, CDBG Small Cities Program, Section 108 Loan iiuarantee Program, CDBG Special
Purpose Grants Program, and the Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP).

Page 1
v2017.01.26

16
10/19



Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Anti-Displacement and Relocation Assistance Plan

Xl Where feasible, give priority to rehabilitation of housing, as opposed to demolition, to
avoid displacement,

If feasible, demolish or convert only dwelling units that are not occupied or vacant
occupiable dwelling units (especially those units which are “lower-income dwelling
units” as defined in 24 CFR 42.305).

] Target only those properties deemed essential to the need or success of the project.

Relocation Assistance to Displaced Persons

The City of Fort Atkinson will provide relocation assistance for lower-income tenants who, in
connection with an activity assisted under the CDBG Program. move permanently or move personal
property from real property as a direct result of the demolition of any dwelling unit or the conversion
of alower-income dwelling unit in accordance with the requirements of 24 CFR 42,350, A displaced
person who is not a lower-income tenant, will be provided retocation assistance in accordance with the
Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended, and
implementing regulations at 49 CFR Part 24.

One-for-One Replacement of Lower-Income Dwelling Units

The City of Fort Atkinson will replace all occupied and vacant occupiable lower-income dwelling
units demolished or converted to a use other than lower-income housing in connection with a project
assisted with funds provided under the CDBG Program in accordance with 24 CFR 42.375.

Before entering into a contract committing the City of Fort Atkinson to provide funds for a project
that will directly result in demolition or conversion of lower-income dwelling units, the City of Fort
Atkinson will make public by publication in the Daily Jefferson County Union and submit to HUD [the
State, under the State CDBG Program] the following informarion in writing:

1. A description of the proposed assisted project;

2. The address, number of bedrooms, and location on a map of lower-income dwelling units
that will be demolished or converted to a use other than as lower-income dwelling units as
a result of an assisted project;

3. A time schedule for the commencement and completion of the demolition or conversion;

4. To the extent known, the address, number of lower-income dwelling units by size
(number of bedrooms) and location on a map of the replacement lower-income housing
that has been or will be provided. NOTE: See also 24 CFR 42.375(d).

5. The source of funding and a time schedule for the provision of the replacement dwelling
units;

6. The basis for concluding that each replacement dwelling unit will remain a lower-
income dwelling unit for at least 10 years from the dawe of initial occupancy; and

7. Information demonstrating that any proposed replacement of lower-income dwelling
units with smaller dwelling units (e.g., a 2-bedroom unit with two 1-bedroom unit), or any
proposed replacement of efficiency or single-room occupancy (SRO) units with units of a

Page 2
v2017.01.26 17
11/19



Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Anti-Displacement and Relocation Assistance Plan

different size, is appropriate and consistent with the nousing needs and priorities
identified in the HUD-approved Consolidated Plan and 24 CFR 42.375(b).

To the extent that the specific location of the replacement dweiling units and other data in items
4 through 7 are not available at the time of the general submission, the City of Fort Atkinson
will identify the general location of such dwelling units on a map and complete the disclosure
and submission requirements as soon as the specific data is available.

Replacement not Required Based on Unit Availability

Under 24 CFR 42.375(d), the City of Fort Atkinson may submit a request to HUD (or to the
State, if funded by the State) for a determination that the one-for-one replacement requirement
does not apply based on objective data that there is an adequate supply of vacant lower-income
dwelling units in standard condition available on a non-discriminatory basis within the area.

Contacts

The City Clerk/Treasurer 920-563-7760 is responsible for wacking the replacement of lower-
income dwelling units and ensuring that they are provided within the required period.

The City Clerk/Treasurer 920-563-7760 is responsible for providing relocation payments and
other relocation assistance to any lower-income person displaced by the demolition of any

dwelling unit or the conversion of lower-income dwelling unis to another use.

Adopted by the City of Fort Atkinson City Council on: November 5, 2020.

Signature of Authorized Official Title of Authorized Official

PRINTED NAME of Authorized Official

Page 3
v2017.01.26 18
12/19



Item 9¢g

Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Resolution to Adopt Civil Rights Demonstration Policy

Resolution to Support and Maintain Policies and Laws that
Prohibit the Use of Excessive Force and the Barring of Entrances/Exits
for Non-Violent Civil Rights Demonstrations

RESOLUTION NO.

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROHIBITION ON THE USE OF EXCESSIVE FORCE AND THE BARRING OF ENTRANCES/EXITS FOR
NON-VIOLENT CIVIL RIGHTS DEMONSTRATIONS

WHEREAS Section 104 (L)(1) of Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974 as amended (42 U.S.C.
69 §5304) prohibits the State from expending or obligating any Community Development Block Grant funds to any unit
of general local government that does not have or adopt a policy pronibiting the use of excessive force by local law
enforcement agencies within its jurisdiction against any individuals engaged in nonviolent civil rights demonstrations;
and a policy of enforcing State and local laws against physically barring entrance to or exit from a facility or location
which is the subject of such nonviolent civil rights demonstration within 1ts jurisdiction;

AND WHEREAS it is in the interest of the City of Fort Atkinson to pursue Community Development Block Grant Funds

and to adopt policy that complies with Section 104 (L)(1) of Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of
1974 as amended (42 USC 69 §5304)

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL PRESIDENT AND THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF FORT ATKINSON: : ' '

It is POLICY of the City to prohibit the use of excessive force by law enforcement agencies within the City's
jurisdiction against any individuals engaged in nonviolent civil rights demonstrations.

Itis POLICY of the City to enforce applicable State and local laws against physically barring entrance to or exit

from a facility or location which is the subject of such nonvioient civil rights demonstration within the City's
jurisdiction. '

The officials and employees of the City shall assist in the ordeny prevention of all excessive force within the City
of Fort Atkinson by implementing the authority and enforcement procedures set forth in Title | of the Housing
and Community Development Act of 1974.

The City Council directs the Police Chief to implement this Resolution by maintaining applicable Police
Department procedures.

PASSED BY THE COUNCIL PRESIDENT AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON.

Date
Chief Elected Official Signature
Mason Becker, City Council President
ATTEST:

Date

Municipal Clerk Signature
Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer

v2017.01.26
19
13/19



Item 9h

Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant ~ Authorizing Resolution for CDBG Application Submission

AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION

for the Submission of a
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Application

Relating to the City of Fort Atkinson participation in the
(County, City, Village, or Town) (UGLG/Unit of Generaf Local Government's Name)
Community Development Block Grant — Public Facilities (CDBG-PF) / Planning (CDBG-PLNG)
program;

WHEREAS, Federal monies are available under the Community Development Block Grant

(CDBG) program, administered by the Wisconsin Department of Administration (DOA) Division of
Energy, Housing and Community Resources (DEHCR) for the purpose of the provision or

development of a City

(County, City, Town, Village)
plan (CDBG-PLNG), or for the provision or improvement of nublic facilities (CDBG-PF); and

WHEREAS, after public meeting and due consideration, City Council
the '

(Name of Appropriate Committee)
has recommended that an application be submitted to DOA for the following project(s):

Blight elimination at 115 Lorman Street and 600 Oai Street including property ; and

purchase, environmental remediation, and demolition of buildings
(CDBG Proposed Project Title)

WHEREAS, it is necessary for City Council to
the '

(County Board, Citv Council, Village Board, Town Board)
approve the preparation and filing of an application for City to
the

(County, City, Town, Village)
receive funds from this program; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the

(County Board, City Council, Village Boarc. “own Board)
need for the proposed project(s) and the benefit(s) to be gained there from;

v2017.01.26 (continued on the next page)
14/19



Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Authorizing Resolution for CDBG Application Submission

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that City Council
the

(Citv Council, County Board, Village Board, Town Board)
does hereby approve and authorize the preparation and filing of an application for the above-

named project(s); and that the Council President is hereby
the

(Council President, Mayor, Boarc Chair, Village President)
authorized to sign all necessary documents on behalf of City ; and
the

(County, City, Village, Town)
that authority is hereby granted to City Council

(Name of Appropriate Committee)
to take the necessary steps to prepare and file the application for funds under this program in
accordance with this resolution.

ADOPTED on 5t dayof November , 2020 . ATTEST:
this
(Day) (Month) (Year) (Signature of Clerk)
The governing body The City of Fort Atkinson has authorized the above
of resolution
(UGLG/Unit of General Local Government's Name:
by Resolution No.: , dated November 5, 2020
(Resolution Number) (Date #uthorized)

Council President
Signature of the Chief Elected Official Title Date Signed

Mason Becker
Typed Name of the Chief Elected Official

Page 2 v2017.01.26

21
15/19



|

!

Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Authorizing Resolution ior CDBG Application Submission

AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION: CDBG APPLICATION SUBMISSION

FORM INSTRUCTIONS

The Unit of General Local Government (UGLG) must submit documentation of an Authorizing Resolution for
submission of a Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) grant application with the application
materials. : .

Fill-in the designated spaces throughout the form. (Please refer to the micro text located beneath each
fillable slot for guidance on the type of information that must pe input.)

The Authorizing Resolution form must be signed by the locai Clerk.

The Authorizing Resolution form must be signed by the Unit of General Local Government's (UGLG's)
Chief Elected Official (i.e., Mayor, City Council President, Viliage President, Town Board Chairman,
County Board Chairman, or County Executive). Make sure to provide the signature, typed name, and
title of the Chief Elected Official (CEO). Fill-in the date the form is signed by the CEO.

The Authorizing Resolution form must be mailed with your CDBG Application materials. Fill-in the
date the form is submitted with your CDBG Application materials.

Retain the original completed Authorizing Resolution form for your prospective grant file and mail a

copy to the Division of Housing (DOH) with your CDBG Application materials. Send the completed form
to: '

Wisconsin Department of Administration

Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Bureau of Community Development

Attn: CDBG Grant Application Reviewer

101 E. Wilson Street, 6! Floor

P.O. Box #7970

Madison, WI 53707-7970

Page 3 v2017.01.26
22
16/19



Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Authorizing Resolution for CDBG Application Submission

AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION

for the Submission of a
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Application

Relating to the City of Fort Atkinson participation in the
(County, City, Village, or Town) (UGLG/Unit of Generaf L.ocal Government’s Name)

Community Development Block Grant — Public Facilities (CJBG-PF) / Planning (CDBG-PLNG)
program;

WHEREAS, Federal monies are available under tHe Community Development Block Grant

(CDBG) program, administered by the Wisconsin Department of Administration (DOA) Division of
Energy, Housing and Community Resources (DEHCR) for the purpose of the provision or

development of a City

(County, City, Town, Village)
plan (CDBG-PLNG), or for the provision or improvement of public facilities (CDBG-PF); and

WHEREAS, after public meeting and due consideration, City Council
the

(Name of Appropriate Committee)
has recommended that an application be submitted to DOA for the following project(s):

Public facility improvements which may include water main replacement, sanitary ; and
sewer replacement, stormwater replacement, and street reconstruction within

Census Tract 101400, Block Group #3 and/or Census Tract 101500, Block Group #4
(CDBG Proposed Project Title)

WHEREAS, it is necessary for | the City Council to
the '

(County Board, Citv Council, Village Board, Town Board)
approve the preparation and filing of an application for City to
the

(County, City, Town, Village)
receive funds from this program; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the
(County Board, City Council, Village Boarc. “own Board)

need for the proposed project(s) and the benefit(s) to be gained there from;

v2017.01.26 (continued on the next page)
17/19



Division of Energy, Housing and Community Resources
Community Development Block Grant — Authorizing Resolution for CDBG Application Submission

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that City Council
the

(City Council, County Board, Village Board, Town Board)
does hereby approve and authorize the preparation and filing of an application for the above-

named project(s); and that Council President is hereby
the

(Council President, Mayor, Boarc: Chair, Village President)
authorized to sign all necessary documents on behalf of City ; and
the '

(Cbunty, City, Village, Town)
that authority is hereby granted to the City Council

(Name of Appropriate Committee)
to take the necessary steps to prepare and file the application for funds under this program in
accordance with this resolution.

ADOPTED on 5% dayof November , 2020 . ATTEST:
this
(Day) (Month) (Year) (Signature of Clerk)
The governing body the City of Fort Atkinson has authorized the above
of resolution
(UGLG/Unit of General Local Government's Name:
by Resolution No.: , dated November 5, 2020
(Resolution Number) (Date Authorized)

Council President

Signature of the Chief Elected Official ‘ Title Date Signed

Mason Becker

Typed Name of the Chief Elected Official

Page 2 v2017.01.26

24
18/19



Agenda

City of Fort Atkinson

City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office
101 N. Main Street

Fort Atkinson, W 53538

\
(o]

POLICE AND FIRE COMMISSION MEETING
IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM
TUESDAY, JANUARY 26, 2022 - 3:00 PM

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER
Chairperson Frame called the meeting to order at 3:07 pm.

2. ROLL CALL
Commission members present: Frame, Raub and Schultz. Also present: City Manager, Police
Chief, Fire Chief and City Clerk/Treasurer. Absent: Jones and Turk.

3. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION RELATING TO THE MINUTES OF THE NOVEMBER 30, 2021,
POLICE AND FIRE COMMISSION MEETING.
Schultz moved, seconded by Raub to approve minutes as presented. Motion carried.

4. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION IN RELATION TO THE 2022 HIRING PROCESS OVERVIEW
FOR THE POLICE DEPARTMENT (BUMP)

Chief Bump reviewed in detail the hiring process that began with internal postings on

December 6™ with final deadline of January 7. Seventeen total applicants, thirteen met the

minimum requirements and were invited to test. Of the thirteen, nine were invited to the next

step of interviews which provided a top candidate.

5. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON HIRING TOP CANDIDATE FROM THE 2022 HIRING
PROCESS FOR THE POLICE DEPARTMEN (BUMP)

Chief Bump announced the top candidate as Lauren Blevins. Ms Blevins is currently a part-time

code enforcement officer.

Schultz moved, seconded by Raub to authorize the hiring of Lauren Blevins contingent on her
successful completion of the Physical Assessment, Drug Test, Psychological Assessment,
Physical Agility Test and Background Investigation. Motion carried.

6. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON CREATING AN ELIGIBILITY LIST FOR FUTURE
VACANCIES AT THE POLICE DEPARTMENT, IF APPLICABLE (BUMP)

Chief Bump discussed the next three top candidate and requested a six month eligibility list

should another vacancy arise in the Department.

Schultz moved, seconded by Raub to create an eligibility list expiring on July 26, 2022 with the
following candidate: (alpha order) Clayton Klubertanz, Zachariah Stiemsma and Kole Weber.
Motion carried.

25



7. ADJOURMENT
Raub moved, seconded by Schultz to adjourn. Meeting adjourned at 3:25 pm.

Respectfully submitted
Michelle Ebbert
Clerk/Treasurer

26



Agenda

City of Fort Atkinson

City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office
101 N. Main Street

Fort Atkinson, Wl 53538

e '\t

FORT’ATKINSO

CITY COUNCIL MEETING
IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM
TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 1, 2022 - 7:00 PM
CITY HALL - SECOND FLOOR

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER
President Scherer called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm.

2. ROLL CALL

Present: Cm. Becker, Cm. Hartwick, Cm. Housley, Cm. Johnson and President Scherer. Also
present: Manager, Engineer, Attorney, Clerk/Treasurer, Police Chief, Public Works
Superintendent, Museum Director and Building Inspector.

3. PUBLIC HEARINGS — NONE

4. PUBLIC COMMENT:

Ron Martin, 409 Nadig Drive inquired on the borrowing item listed on the agenda. He asked if
the replacement of the vehicles assumes the results of the Public Safety Referendum. Manager
LeMire stated the need to replace this vehicle is complete independent from the referendum
and is a budgeted purchase in line with the rural Township contracts.

5. CONSENT AGENDA:

a. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the January 18, 2022 regular Fort
Atkinson City Council meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

b. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the January 25, 2022 Plan Commission
meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

c. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the January 26, 2022 Police and Fire
Commission meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

d. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the January 28, 2022 Economic
Development Commission meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

e. Review and possible action to confirm the City Manager’s appointment of Lori Sachse to the
Sex Offender Residency Board for the remainder of a two-year term expiring in 2023
(LeMire, City Manager)

Cm. Hartwick moved to remove item 5.c., seconded by Cm. Becker and motion carried.

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Hartwick to approve the Consent Agenda as listed, items
5.3, 5.b, 5.d and 5.e. Motion carried.

6. PETITIONS, REQUESTS, AND COMMUNICATIONS

27



a) Presentation of Human Services and the County Corporation Council Crisis Intervention Officer
of the Year 2021 award to School Resource Officer Dan Hefty (Bump, Police Chief and Human
Services Director Kathi Cauley)

No action required.

b) Robert Street Bridge construction update (Selle, City Engineer/Director of Public Works)
Engineer Selle presented the update including traffic routes, removal of parking on Main Street
temporarily and maintaining left turn signals. Signage will be added directing public parking.

Bids will be opened April 12, removal of Main Street parking will occur May 23", and parking
restored August 22"Y. Substantial completion is scheduled for August 27t™". Robert Street bridge will
closed May 23™ and opened by August 27™. No action required.

c) Presentation relating to the City’s new Interactive Zoning Map (Dan Eckberg, Vandewalle &
Associates)

Building Inspector Juarez introduced Dan Eckberg and the progress that brought to this
presentation. Dan gave a detailed presentation of the zoning map emphasizing features, layers
and search criteria. No action required.

d) Presentation relating to 2022 Note Anticipation Note and General Obligation Refunding
Bonds in the amount of 52,275,000 (Justin A. Fischer, Baird)

Justin Fischer reviewed the borrowing, structure and purpose including a preliminary financial
plan. The Resolution gives authority to move forward with the NAN and provides flexibility.

7. RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES:
a) Review and possible action relating to a Resolution Providing for the Sale of Approximately
52,275,000 Note Anticipation Note (LeMire, City Manager)
Manager LeMire noted the 2022 Capital Improvements Projects Budget included $1,574,000 in
borrowing for the following projects and equipment planned in 2022:

e Police Department Squad Car

e Lorman Site Remediation & Demolition

e Annual Street Reconstruction Program (gap funding)

e Robert Street Bridge Construction — City portion

e Public Works — Operations Single Axle Dump Truck/Plow (2)

e Public Works — Operations Skid Loader

e Public Works — Operations Transit Van with Water Tank

The following additional projects and purchases were pushed out from 2022 and prior years:
e Police Department Squad Car
e Whitewater Avenue Mill and Overlay — City portion
e Fire Department — Replacement of Squad with Rescue/EMS Unit
e Fire Department — Equipment, hoses, PPE Dryer
e Parks Department — Flatbed Truck Replacement

28



The table below outlines the proposed projects and equipment to be funded in 2022 and 2023,
the year of the expenditure, the term permitted for borrowing, the source of debt repayment,
and the total. Note that the City is proposing to borrow approximately $2,275,000 as a Note
Anticipation Note and then refinance through General Obligation Refunding Bonds later in

2022.

City of Fort Atkinson Proposed 2022/2023 Borrowing

Year Funds
Project/Purchase Needed Term |Levy/General Fund Water Total

Police Department Squad Cars (2) 2022 & 2023 10 S 88,000.00 S 88,000.00
Lorman Demo & Remediation -
Funding Gap 2022 10 S 340,000.00 S 340,000.00
Annual Street Construction - CDBG
Water Main Project Funding Gap 2022 20 S 517,000.00 | S 250,000.00 | S 767,000.00
Public Works Plow Trucks (2) 2022 10 S 350,000.00 S 350,000.00
Robert Street Bridge Deck
Replacement - Local
Improvements (SMA) 2022 20 S 100,000.00 S 100,000.00
PW Skid Loader 2022 10 S 40,000.00 S 40,000.00
PW Transit Van 2022 10 S 25,000.00 S 25,000.00
Whitewater Avenue - Mill &
Overlay (SMA) 2023 20 S 65,000.00 S 65,000.00
Fire - Replacement of Squad with
Rescue/EMS Unit 2023 10 S 425,000.00 S 425,000.00
Fire - Firefighting equipment,
hoses, and PPE dryer 2023 10 S 25,000.00 S 25,000.00
Parks - Flatbed Truck Replacement 2023 10 S 50,000.00 S 50,000.00

$ 2,025,000.00 | $ 250,000.00 | $  2,275,000.00

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to adopt the Resolution providing for the Sale of

Approximately $2,275,000 Note Anticipation Note. Motion carried.

b) Second reading of an Ordinance to amend Sections 42-36 and 42-37 of the City of Fort
Atkinson Municipal Code relating to the Historic Preservation Commission (LeMire, City

Manager)

Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to direct the City Manager to prepare this
Ordinance for a third and final reading at the City Council meeting on February 17, 2022.

Motion carried.

c¢) Second reading of an Ordinance to amend Section 58-148 of the City of Fort Atkinson
Municipal Code relating to the sale of tobacco, nicotine products, electronic smoking devices,
and electronic smoking device paraphernalia near schools (Bump, Police Chief)

29



Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Becker to direct the City Manager to prepare this
Ordinance for a third and final reading at the City Council meeting on February 17, 2022.
Motion carried.

d) Second reading, and possible third/final reading, of an Ordinance to amend Section 94-332 of
the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code relating to zoned and posted speed limits (Selle, City
Engineer/Director of Public Works)

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to suspend the rules and waive a third reading of
this Ordinance to reduce the speed limit on Banker Road. Motion carried.

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Hartwick to adopt the Ordinance amending Section 94-
332 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code to reduce the speed limit on Banker Road from
45 miles per hour to 35 miles per hour. Motion carried.

8. REPORTS OF OFFICERS, BOARDS, AND COMMITTEES:
a) City Manager’s Report (LeMire, City Manager)
No action required.

9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS — NONE

10. NEW BUSINESS — NONE

11. MISCELLANEOUS — NONE

12. CLAIMS, APPROPRIATIONS AND CONTRACT PAYMENTS:

a) Review and possible action relating to the Verified Claims presented by the Director of
Finance and authorization of payment (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Becker to approve the list of verified claims and
authorize payment. Motion carried.

13. THE CITY COUNCIL MAY CONSIDER A MOTION TO CONVENE IN CLOSED SESSION
PURSUANT TO STATE STAT. §19.85(1)(E) TO DELIBERATE OR NEGOTIATE THE PURCHASING
OF PUBLIC PROPERTIES

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Hartwick to adjourn into closed session pursuant to State

Stat. §19.85(1)(e) to deliberate or negotiate the purchase of public properties. Motion carried.

14. ADJOURNMENT
Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Hartwick to adjourn. Meeting adjourned at 9:21 pm.

Respectfully submitted
Michelle Ebbert
City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director

30



RTATKINSON

01/01/2022~01/31/2022

Group: Add/Alter Commercial

1/17/2022

22010

611 E

Fort
Healthcare

Add/Alter
Commercial

Remodel
entrance &
small
addition

252,106

$210.80

Group: Electrical

Giroup Total: 1

1/29/2022 22013(1217 Skip Marshall |Electrical 39 openings 0 $64.25
W Sherman

Ave.

1/21/2022 220161635 Premier [Matthew Electrical 1 opening 0 $30.75
Pl Denoyer

1/27/2022 22021|216 Heritage |Bill & Debbie |Electrical 16 openings 0 $42.00
Dr. Kautz

1/28/2022 22023(1428 Rob Bare Electrical Sub panel 11 0 $44.25
Lakeview Dr. openings

1/31/2022 220271907 Hillcrest |Bill & Lorin  |Electrical 100 amp 0 $56.50
Dr. Koch service & 2

openings

Group: HYAC

Group Total: 5

1/5/2022 22003|1245 Janette [Mike HVAC Gas fireplace 0 $65.00
- St. Raddatz insert
1/12/2022 22004|311 Nadig  |Josh Bartels |HVAC Replace 0 $65.00
Ct. Furnace
1/12/2022 22005|812 Carson HVAC Replace 0 $65.00
Dempster St. [Hooper Furnace
1/21/2022 22015|1551 Culvers HVAC RTU replace 0 $90.00
Madison Ave.
1/26/2022 22017|1604 Fort HVAC Unit 0 $65.00
Madison Ave. |Healthcare humidifier
1/26/2022 22018|1217 Skip Marshall |[HVAC Basement 0 $85.00
Sherman Finish HVAC
Ave

Grayp Total: 6



. Group: Plumbing

1/17/2022 22007|1534 Rangita |Lynn Krive  |Plumbing Shower 0 $36.00
St. replace

1/17/2022 22008|606 Grove  [Nancy Jung |Plumbing Shower 0 $36.00
St. replace

1/20/2022 22014(1217 Skip Marshall {Plumbing 3 fixtures 0 $48.00
Sherman

, Ave,
1/26/2022 22019809 Hillcrest |Elsa Meyer |Plumbing Bath remodel 0 $48.00

Group: Right of Way Opening Permit

Group Total: 4

1/4/2022 22001|700 Oak St. |WE Energies |Right of Way Gas main 0 $50.00
Opening Permit  [install
1/28/2022 22022|1662 Right of Way RETIRE 0 $50.00
JANESVILLE Opening Permit  |EXISTING
AVE GAS SERVICE
1/28/2022 22026|1680 Right of Way RETIRE 0 $50.00
JANESVILLE Opening Permit  |EXISTING

Group Total: 3

Group: Sign
1/5/2022 22002(1200 0SI Inc. Sign two 2,000 $80.00
o Industrial Dr directional
cpa signs
1/ 1412022 22006|1642 Extreme Sign One wall sign 10,000 $55.00
Madison Ave. [Smoke and one
t |

Group: Single Family Alteration/Addition

Group Total: 2

1/17/2022 22009(1217 Skip Marshall|Single Family Basement 37,355 $201.75
Sherman Alteration/Addition|Finish
Ave,
1/20/2022 22012|809 Hillcrest {Elsa Meyer |Single Family Bath remodel 40,000 $39.75
Dr. Alteration/Addition
1/28/2022 220241428 Rob Bare Single Family Bathroom 1,000 $34.50
LLakeview Dr. Alteration/Addition
1/28/2022 22025(1209 Greene |Tim Madson |Single Family Adding bath 30,000 $71.85
. St. Alteration/Addition|Remodel
bedroom




Agenda

B City of Fort Atkinson
=N = City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office
101 N. Main Street

FORT-ATKINSON Fort Atkinson, WI 53538

MEMORANDUM
DATE: February 17, 2022
TO: Fort Atkinson City Council
FROM: Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director
RE: Monthly Report of Licenses and Permits Issued by the City Clerk

The following is a list of the Licenses and Permits issued by the City Clerk for the period of January
15, 2022 through February 11, 2022, per the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code of Ordinances.

No action is necessary by City Council, as these licenses and permits have already been issued. This
report is for informational purposes only.

BEEKEEPING
None
OPERATOR
Licensing Period —July 1, 2021 — June 30, 2022
Applicant Place of Employment Recommended Approval
by Fort Atkinson
Police Department
Trevor J Letourneau Kwik Trip #439 X
Elena C Kleman Kwik Trip #439 X
Jada Schumacher Brock’s Riverwalk X
Skylar Figueroa Kwik Trip #439
Tasha Glynn Tavern on Rock X

MOBILE MERCHANT
None

DOOR-TO-DOOR RESIDENTIAL / DIRECT SELLER
None

33



Agenda

City of Fort Atkinson

City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office
101 N. Main Street

Fort Atkinson, W1 53538

FORT®-

MEMORANDUM
DATE: February 17, 2022
TO: Fort Atkinson City Council
FROM: Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director
RE: Review and possible action relating to Special Event:

Friends of Haumerson’s Pond — Candlelight Ski and Hike

BACKGROUND

The City of Fort Atkinson is committed to supporting quality special events throughout the
community. The Special Event Guide and Application was created to assist with planning events
in the city and to allow appropriate contact information be obtained and forwarded to
Departments. The planning guide is designed to assist members of the community in the
planning, preparation and running of events and programs in Fort Atkinson.

The Special Event Guide defines a special event as a planned extraordinary occurrence or
temporary aggregation of attractions, open to the public, that (a) is conducted on public
property, (b) is conducted on private property and has a substantial impact on public property,
(c) has activities that request special temporary licenses; or (d) require special city services,
whether open to the public or not, including but not limited to, any of the following: street
closures, provisions of barricades, garbage cans, stages or special no parking signs, special
electrical services, or special police protection. Special events include, but not limited to,
neighborhood and community festivals, parades, processions, fairs, and bicycle or foot races.

DISCUSSION

Event: Candlelight Ski and Hike

Dates and Hours of Event: Saturday, February 26, 2022 —3:00 pm to 8:00 pm
Locations: Haumerson’s Pond off Zida Street

Contact Person: Josie Kincaid, josie7001@gmail.com

Estimated Number of Attendees: 400

The group has requested assistance with refuse and recycling containers, picnic tables and
barricades to direct parking. They additionally asked for appropriate snow clearing for
attendee parking.

Event information was routed to Departments with the following comments without concerns.

There will be no alcohol sales or consumption in conjunction with this event. No music is
planned.

34



Feb 26 3 -8pm
Haumerson'’s Pond

550 South 4th St.
East Fort Atkinson
(past the Middle School)

up while listening to
Iive music. Snack and
drinks will be available

for purchase

Ski & Scate
Rentals Available at
2 Rivers Bicycle & Outdoors

BEAL ESTATE LLE

Penier g e

35



posiewney

.8
2.
>

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
There is no financial impact to the City of Fort Atkinson for the event.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that City Council approve the Friends of Haumerson’s Pond Candlelight Ski
and Hike for Saturday February 26, 2022.

ATTACHMENTS
Special Event Application

36



CITY OF FORT ATKINSON
Special Event Application

FORT

Name of Business/Group Organizing Event: Fr\er\ds OQ H(l—\—k M%O H\'f) PO }’\C'[

Contact Person for Event: J OS @ K/‘ V-\C()-&d

Phone Number: QZD"’]Z,B ,76(}‘ Email: S\e 7C) ‘ O(.) d h"\é—i ’ (O M

Is the Business/Group Organizing Event: [Iror profit or & Non-Profit
Special Event Details

cetene (L orle g+ S and HhiKe

Event Date: SQWJM T"'e/hr\/{_@m% 2 Lg 2027

Event Location: | 14 , | mg,rl-'\@nb P r\c{ 50'5 O QC) utln L‘{ +n Styge - é: A%t

Estimated Number of Attendees: (__} Hours of Event: — ”
100 == sl

Check all applicable boxes:

[ ! am renting a City Park Attach copy of paid park rental from Parks & Recreation (920) 563-7781.

[ ! will be having music Start and end time of music:

3 1 will be closing a street(s) Attach site diagram with details. Barricades can be provided by Public Works upon request (920) 563-7771.
1 1 will be selling beer and/or wine* Attach Temporary License and Bartender/Operator Applications. Contact City Clerk (920) 563-7760

*Restroom Plan also required with sales of beer and/or wine. Refer to the Special Event Guide.

-] I will be erecting a tent, canopy or other temporary structure.

By signing, | agree to the following statements:

I understand | am responsible for a fire safety and medical plan. | understand it is my responsibility to read the Special Events Guide. | understand | may be
required to provide Proof of Insurance. | am responsible to contact each Department to arrange for assistance. | understand | am responsible for timely clean up
after the event.

Responsjble Party Signature:

Ia Kow

) Office Use Only
. [z / n A
Date Submitted to Clerk: i/ :]/&‘,_/7} Date Emailed to Departments: /;\ § LZ Im 2
Department Comments, Concerns, Action(s) to be taken
m/CIerk/Treasurer (\}0 (//‘m (,, er ns

dEMS Ryan Brothers Ambulance |\ /) re /‘)Z L4

m/Engmeer and Building Inspection [\j/» ﬁ ()‘\'/) iy (') v N5

[ Electrician No /\ Y L€ v NS

jFlre and Rescue Department /\/ 0 /’) I [7{7»/1/ NG

Library and Museum N 0 (\(m (:‘ V3% )/A'C/’

EZ( Parks & Recreation (\/ 0 /,‘[/YT lﬂ-zlt/ﬂ 5 Wi /l Wov < V(/!‘ {L’,’/(_ ;./;li Vo Wp ,’/&/;\} L‘Ll/"?f,f

m/ Police Department  {\f ¢ ﬂ/ﬁ,/;(‘ rnNs

ﬂP,uinc Works Department ~ f\( 0 ,i\/_)\/i Cl o n 7 il [ W Dy ke ;/}//' %/‘4 O] [d'z,z'/,ﬂ //2 2 " /’5177‘?
7 v

2 7 &
E/Wastewater and Water Utility (\/ ¢ [\()j,/l f,l\-{i/l,’ .5

Date Reported to City Council (if necessary): 0’7\ ) i<} ( 23

Comments, Contingencies, Findings:

37




Agenda

City of Fort Atkinson
Engineer’s Office

101 N. Main Street

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538

MEMORANDUM
DATE: February 17, 2022
TO: Fort Atkinson Plan City Council
FROM: Andy Selle, P.E., City Engineer/Director of Public Works
RE: First Reading of an Ordinance to adopt Amendments to said Comprehensive
Plan
BACKGROUND

The City made a concerted effort to revise its suite of planning documents over the last several
years. These three documents include the Comprehensive Plan (2019), Zoning Code (2020), and
the Land Development and Division Ordinance (2022). The City is also engaged in repealing and
recreating the Official Map, which allows the City to identify appropriate locations for future
public infrastructure within and beyond the City’s borders.

State Statutes require that land use decisions, including changes to a municipality’s Official
Map, be consistent with a City’s Comprehensive Plan. The City is proposing to change the
Comprehensive Plan to accommodate some of the changes proposed through the Official Map
process.

DISCUSSION

The following are some of the major recommended changes to Map 9 (Transportation) and

Map 10 (Community Facilities):

1. Reevaluated and relocated several proposed future off-street trails, on-street bicycle
facilities, wells, parks, and roads.

2. Removed a few outdated elements regarding future locations of a new hospital and the

previously planned USH 12 Bypass.

Added a new potential future airport expansion area and STH 26 overpass.

Updated the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Boundary to reflect the existing boundary.

5. See the current Maps 9 and 10 attached to this memo, and proposed Maps 9 and 10 to be
posted and emailed on January 10, 2022 for specific changes.

W

As part of the Comprehensive Plan Amendment process, the Plan Commission and City Council
must adopt a Public Participation Plan, which provides written procedures designed to foster
public participation at every stage of the Comprehensive Plan amendment process. That Plan
was adopted by the Plan Commission and the City Council in January.

38



The Comprehensive Plan Amendment schedule is proposed as follows, assuming approvals at

each step:
DATE GOVERNING BODY MEETING ACTION
Jan 1, 2022 N/A Newspaper Publication of Public Hearing

Date (2/1/22)

Jan 11, 2022

Plan Commission

Introduction to amendments and
adoption of Public Participation Plan

Jan 18, 2022

City Council

Introduction to amendments and
adoption of Public Participation Plan

Feb 1, 2022

Joint City Council & Plan
Commission

Public Hearing on Comprehensive Plan
Amendments

Feb. 17, 2022

City Council

Adoption of Comp Plan Amendments

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends that the City Council perform the third/final reading and adopt the attached
Ordinance, which adopts Amendments to the City’'s Comprehensive Plan.

ATTACHMENTS

Ordinance Adopting Comp Plan Amendments; 2019 Adopted Map 9 — Transportation; 2022
Proposed Map 9 — Transportation; 2019 Adopted Map 10 — Community Facilities; 2022
Proposed Map 10 — Community Facilities; Resolution No. 1368, Establishing Public Participation
Procedures; Resolution No. 1372, Plan Commission’s Recommendation for Approval of the

Amendments

39




ORDINANCE NO.

ORDINANCE TO ADOPT AMENDMENTS TO THE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, WISCONSIN
The City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, does ordain as follows:

WHEREAS, pursuant to sections 61.35 and 62.23(2) and (3) of Wisconsin Statutes, the
City of Fort Atkinson is authorized to prepare and adopt a comprehensive plan as defined in
sections 66.1001(1)(a) and 66.1001(2) of the Wisconsin Statutes; and

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted its comprehensive plan in 2019 entitled “City of
Fort Atkinson Comprehensive Plan”; and

WHEREAS, as part of the City’s original adoption of a comprehensive plan the City
Council adopted and has since followed written procedures designed to foster public
participation in every stage of the preparation of a comprehensive plan as required by
§66.1001(4)(a) of the Wisconsin Statutes; and

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission of the City of Fort Atkinson, by a majority vote of the
entire Commission recorded in its official minutes, has adopted a resolution recommending to
the City Council the adoption of amendments to the Transportation Map (Map 9) and
Community Facilities Map (Map 10) which involves changing the location of some planned
roads, trails, and other public facilities. The proposed amendments to the maps are described in
a map provided dated December 22, 2021, copies of which are attached hereto and
incorporated by reference herein as Exhibit A; and,

WHEREAS, the City of Fort Atkinson has, in compliance with the requirements of section
66.1001(4)(d) of the Wisconsin Statutes, provided opportunities for public involvement per its
adopted public participation plan; and

WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on the proposed amendments on

February 1, 2022, considered the public comments made and the recommendations of the Plan
Commission and staff, and has determined to approve the recommended amendments.

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, does ordain that the
proposed amendments are hereby adopted as amendments to the City’s Comprehensive Plan

pursuant to section 66.1001(4)(c) of Wisconsin Statutes.

Enacted this 17" day of February, 2022.

40



ATTEST:

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

Michelle Ebbert,
City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director

Christopher Scherer,
City Council President

41



To Oakland
Highlands Park

2009: 1,700

Y
2018: 1,300

Mud
Lake

2015: 6,800

2018: 7,100

2009: 2,900
2015: 2,600

kiesling Ave

[ |
|
[ ]
]
|}
n

[ |

[ |

[ ]

Rose
Lake

Banker Rd

2015: 10,900 W
2018:13,300

U

2015: 6,100

2018: 6,300 :
.‘ 2608 950 2018: 4,900
L4
: A
: ! i E
‘* “ I-IIIII-II I;_I;! :
~
1% & ! erE- 4
\ \ g e,
R IR N 7 G
SR S 2 o '
R R 9 2009: 500
K 2015: 6,400
\ ~ Star School Rd 83 nie
’.§~‘ 2018: 3,600
A
/\A§
e m = —- \*
?
2009: 9,100 “
Q
Q
2015: 8,200 :
*
*
)
*
*
‘Q
v I il 24

"t s mmmmmm

]
.
<o A &
1 - o 1
-1 _J.._.?..-....J.. <« UL Al
A | u a4 v v,
. th L Y V‘ D/ - Z]
< 1 . o Nmm
im g o7 . 1 x 2015: 5,500
» d .
T T T P 2018: 5,000
" 3 J .
x 2015: 5,200 3 ‘.._‘
—d I E
2015: 11,500 " 2015: 16,000 2018: 4,600 E". N
«2018:13}800W I_g_-_-_’ ) 2018: 13,100 . @
. H [ - = A, %
| ) I R , WA
[ H 5 B @ Ll 1
G = A 8 Third §1 s
™~ 0 - 2 LRIEES 2015: 5,400
1 > Te, ® _2009'1_1_6_0_0’ Sherman Ave - | = 4
- N !"'l' ] 2015: 13900 K b 2018: 3,700
! 'S - r 2018: 9,200 i
LI 2015: 2,800 nEEy .
. (2 ol P
1 - g .29.:;8' 2,400 onog: 1,300
. oY ! Y, Bark River Rd
i 20'1'5: 13,300 n < i,; _:
: ¢2018:9,700 u ¢ :t‘
o, i b3 |
n b (7
Wy i RU/@/
u i
- «

2009: 12,600

% Hilltop Trlg
*
“ & " .
> I ' To Cold Spring
2015: 11,900 . 3 : ‘.J Dot o
$8 2018:12,000 1 /S w \

: P wrienic [
F - w‘\ﬁ-!iu

NN NN R

2009: 1,900

Fort Atkinson /"

v, b
2015: 11,700 Mu.mapal 4
. /s Airport, §
2018:13,000" 14
* -
(89) ;rord
< -
'O ~'
.! .i
" *.
- \ y; ',
Se, @
2 -~
(),

W/ Possible Airport
Runway Expansion

7 L

]

.

/|
< Deer Creck

2009: 1,500

IE‘ 83 2009: 2;100

CELTETT N
il
FPEEEEEE~

2015: 6,400

City of Fort Atkinson
Comprehensive Plan

Existing & Planned
| Map 9 Transportation Facilities

(Conceptual Location)

Roads
'- i ity of Fort Atkinson — Truck Routes Recommended Street/Sidewalk Upgrades
—++ TRailroads mmmm  Fxisting Principal Arterial Roads : : Janesville Avenue Streetscape Enhancements
Surface Water = Hxisting Minor Arterial Roads % Community Gateway Featutes oo
Existing Collector Roads
Trails Existing Local Roads Potential Park & Ride Facﬂity Sources: Jefferspn County, V & A,
Existing Trails/Bike Route . City of Fort Atkinson
Pronosed O Road Trail = = = Previously Proposed Hwy 12 Bypass  Airport Zoning Structure 0 0B 05 1
(C(())Ir):c)e;tu al Lo c(;ii on) : Other Proposed Roads Height Limitations Miles
= =% (Conceptual Location < A I
Proposed On-Road Bike Facilities (Conceptual Location) 875 Fect Above Mean Sca Leve VANDEWALLE &
- Average Daily Trips 875-925 Feet Qg’s&gCIﬁ\T‘) Egc'ﬂfi 45 0

Other Improvements




2009: 2,900
2015: 2,600

'
Kieg:
.' " s mmmmms '.
[ ] e . NE-a
[ ] > f
» Fort Atkinson :.'/
v, £, N
IE‘ [ ] N 4 Municipal 5
2015: 117700 .
[ ] &/ Airport , f
. 2018: 13,000 ‘'~ <
N @ 3 :~"’,
L o
% !
Rose s 5
Lake nd 4
ug g
o0
2015: 6,800 :
2018: 7,100 " ¥ Possible Alrpo}‘t
n Y - Runway Expansion
. /,
2015:10,900 g / E Deer Cl‘e‘fk

2018:13,300
2009: 1,500

c | o o
X 7 £
, L i
N\ % LECTERE PR 5 LERr Al
’,
. e i v\
- { gy ARY 2015: 5,500
- =l 4
LI 3 X 2018: 5,000
2 7 -
’ ] \
2015: 5,200 3 o
1 J
\20151 11,500 2015: 16,000 2018: 4,600 2
$°3)2018: 13,=800 i 2018: 13,100 i'__ @
i 1 = = = ! x
Ui Third 3t A5
~, b W 2015: 5,400
e 201511379007 GG/ 2018: 3,700
2018: 9,200 1 m

2009: 1,700

832009: 1,300

P 2018: 2]400 f
L. . 14 p= 2 [
. '] ) :
= = . ; ’
: : 3 A ,,f,’) Bark River Rd
:  2015:13,300 " vy
% i
I 42018:9,700 - \ Y/
:::J\wv e
;% g R
fo8 . : r
r &
PR S 7
| ]

2009: 12,600

LT S
N

\k

Hilltop Trl

2015: 11,900
S8 2018:12,000

LY TR

g @83 2009: 2,100
<
Mud / SR R L
Lake 2015: 6,100 2000:1,900 IR 2015: 6,400
2018: 6,300 .
’ 2009: 950 2018: 4,900
i

5 (]

Poeppel Rd

4//0
7 Gr
et 2009: 500

T
% Star School Rd %

S 2015: 6,400
2018: 3,600

2009: 9,100

2015: 8,200

City of Fort Atkinson Existing & Planned
Comprehensive Plan | Map 9 Transportation Facilities
- | Roads Other Improvements | r a t
;-! City of Fort Atkinson m—  Truck Routes Recommended Street/Sidewalk Upgrades
e Tuilkerds mmmm  Bxisting Principal Arterial Roads : : Janesville Avenue Streetscape Enhancements
Surface Water = Pxisting Minor Arterial Roads % Comsmiiy Gy Heisies
Existing Collector Roads 12.22.21
Trails Existing TL.ocal Roads Potential Park & Ride Facﬂity Sources: Jefferspn County, V. & A,
Existing Trails/Bike Route o . . City of Fort Afkinson
: = = o Other Proposed Roads Airport Zoning Structure 0 025 05 1
Proposed Off_Roa.d Trail (Conceptual Location) Height Limitations —— ]
(Conceptual Location) _ . Above Mean Sea Level Miles
Proposed On-Road Bike Facilities ¢ Average Daily Trips <875 Feet Above Mean Sea Leve VANDEWALLE &
875-925 Feet Sodl s e, (A

(Conceptual Location)




7

Rose’IZaké
YA

Rose
Lake

5
7///

To Oakland
Highlands Park

St/a/té’l\/T d/tul”.;l/l /A/rea:/
Land Aduisition
StudyAfea’,

D

7/ e Seived] A;;

orothy, Carnes

Bark 7 ‘

i

| |
Atkinson
)
owhead®
Park

*

McCoy
. s o |

Park

Baime
entary

Riverside

fr 'l B
Ju-

Iy
NMVARICR oy o

rl?‘@clgwell
Elementary

0 G 0
Bicentenniale

2 4

'.IIIII-I-‘

EEEEm
[Lam R et u_n

f ]
M Feri Alldinsen) 26
MUniciDal

//'
w4

Possible Airport
~Rtﬁ'nwc|y Expdnsion

Deer Creek

Hoard's Dairyfarm
Nati()na.l Register
Historic Site

T

L Fort Memorial

Health Campus

.

- Hoard Historic

Museum &
Dairy Shrine

s

Fort Afkinsam

Jones Farm 4 . S A
@ Q,O National Register K "' MIdC”e SChodl
Historic Site ."\wv m Bark RiVﬁf". 8 S,
(Farm Preserve) ' § m Nature Pﬂ[‘ki ark River
i —————— _.' \oé" ElementanyAlRUrdy El‘emenfory :
H Lion's I - l Memorial :
. piff W ok
= 2 o B
. : Nafional Guord
. ariona uar .
!_ (S e
: ¢ wice o ASY
«'~.--. - . ..-.. " !‘-l.'. ™ .-“- w
. WcTJsfewToFf,Ier T = 'I AW R
rearmen an [ | o
I E 0 et IE‘
Jay ] R T P
lyl//l(d @ y g & N N ] ‘.-IIJ--.----
ake £ Bramble Bush
y oF /Park
23 iy P
& 1: " Woodlawn
! % Mush-Ko-Se-Day Park \
x) e e Park
v L Briarwood
v H - Village Park
\ .-, i
+ \ : t;
Lake Koshkonong H '
State Wildlife Area | h CAEY E
1 m
e !
‘ s 7/
X \ 1 % Ch
b \ . cef @
* \ ‘
'R, !
‘ \‘_ V‘ \
)
P -
- - \J Proposed
- - ? Star
L Y School
Fen
“ Natural
EY Area
3
(26) N
L 3
3
L 3
]
‘ -
fJ - F-F-F-F-F-F.l-.'-.l--l-"-’-'- .'.'F:E
City of Fort Atkinson Map 10 Existing & Planned
Comprehensive Plan | Community Facilities
i : City of Fort Atkinson = = = Previously Proposed Hwy 12 Bypass
——+ Railroads Fire Department Proposed Off-Road Trail (Conceptual Location)
6 EEEEm

Surface Water
Existing Trails/Bike Route
Existing Parks & Recreational Facilities
[ Existing Community Facilities
Community Facility Points
i} City Hall
Police Department

o

B oo

Ed

Water Department
U.S. Post Office
Religious Facilities
Cemeteries

Library

Public Works Garage

Potential Future Health
Care Facility

Proposed On-Road Bike Facilities (Conceptual Location)

o—e— Urban Services Boundary 3/19/19
£\ Proposed Water Tower
Sources: Jefferson County, V & A,
%E% Proposed Neighborhood Parks Cliyy elilFesi Audiyon
0 025 05 1
23 Proposed Community/Special Purpose Parks Miles
VANDEWALLE &

ASSOCIATES INC.

Shaping places, shaping change

.0

* Proposed School/Community Park Sites




7 Nesiing 4,

Dorothy, Carnes

Bark //

|
L
| |

*Rert AT
o R
K/‘ HIgRISEhoolA

3 Park
L

e

rowhead

Riverside

,\qe‘side D

Park

Barrie
Park

Hoard's Dairyfarm
. ” )
sz(ma'l Register
Historic Site

Bicentenniale

/ -
Ri\) er :
Q\§ Jones Farm . Jones
@ %0 National Register ! 2f pri
Historic Site K "\:\wv
(Farm Preserve) # S
o s &
:_...._...._...,} Ky
i Lion's
3 Park
\\\

Mud
Lake

Lake Koshkonong
State Wildlife Area

Endli ™" =7}

Park’s
*

i

Tenmwnww

Bramble Bush

-y
(o]

'.llll.l.-‘

i Fert Avdnsen
MUnicipaly ¢
Alipert £

.\'-

4)()(

®

possible Airport
7 RLﬁ'nwoy Expansion

A

Deer Creek

®
Kiement
Park
mm

Fort Memorial
Health Campus

Museum &
Dairy Shrine

f

¥ Bark River b
Nature Park:

<?(1]/'[( RI.VCI'

\
Memorial
Park F’

- .
Ll LT .

National Guard
Armory

=

L

1 -

-
1 mmn oAy

Park

Woodlawn

Mush-Ko-Se-Day Park
Park ‘

Briarwood
Village Park

Iatl

Proposed
Star
School
Fen
Natural
Area

City of Fort Atkinson
Comprehensive Plan

Map 10 Existing & Planned
| Community Facilities

e

! City of Fort Atkinson

Railroads

Surface Water

—— Fire Department

©

Water Department
U.S. Post Office

Religious Facilities

Existing Trails/Bike Route

Existing Parks & Recreational Facilities '
Cemeteries

Library
Public Works Garage

Potential Aiport
Expansion Area

[ ] Existing Community Facilities
Community Facility Points
M City Hall

8  Police Department

HRE

A
L
%
L

Draf

Proposed On-Road Bike Facilities (Conceptual Location)

Proposed Off-Road Trail (Conceptual Location)

Urban Services Boundary
12.22.21

Sources: Jefferson County, V & A,
City of Fort Atkinson

Proposed Water Tower
Proposed Neighborhood Parks

0 025 05 1
Proposed Community/Special Purpose Parks Miles
VANDEWALLE &

ASSOCIATES INC.

Shaping places, shaping change

Proposed School/Community Park Sites

;O




RESOLUTION NO. /5[0 &7

ESTABLISHING PUBLIC PARTICIPATION PROCEDURES
FOR THE 2022 AMENDMENTS TO THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

WHEREAS, the City of Fort Atkinson on March 19, 2019, adopted the City of Fort Atkinson
Comprehensive Plan, under the authority of and procedures established by §66.1001(4), Wisconsin
Statutes; and

WHEREAS, that Comprehensive Plan document advises both the regular Plan Commission review
of the Comprehensive Plan, as well as the ability to respond to unique circumstances which arise in
relation to the Comprehensive Plan which are distinct from the regular plan review process, and to enable
the City’s consideration of potential amendments where the Plan becomes irrelevant or contradictory to
emerging policy or trends; and

WHEREAS, §66.1001(4)(a), Wisconsin Statutes, requires that the governing body of the local
governmental unit adopt written procedures designed to foster public participation at every stage of the
comprehensive plan preparation or amendment process, and that such written procedures shall provide
for wide distribution of draft plan materials, an opportunity for the public to submit written comments on
the plan materials, and a process for the governing body to respond to such comments; and

WHEREAS, the City of Fort Atkinson believes that meaningful public involvement in processes
designed to periodically consider and adopt amendments to its Comprehensive Plan is important to assure
that the resulting Plan and adopted amendments meet the wishes and expectations of the public; and

WHEREAS, the attached “City of Fort Atkinson Comprehensive Plan Amendment Public
Participation Plan” includes procedures to foster public participation, ensure distribution of draft plan
materials, provide opportunities for written comments on such materials, and provide mechanisms to
respond to such comments,

WHEREAS, at a noticed public meeting held on January 11, 2022, the City of Fort Atkinson Plan
Commission adopted a Resolution recommending that the Fort Atkinson City Council adopt the attached
“City of Fort Atkinson Comprehensive Plan Amendment Public Participation Plan” as its public
participation procedures for amendments to the City’s 2019 Comprehensive Plan.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Fort Atkinson City Council hereby adopts the
procedures included in the “City of Fort Atkinson Comprehensive Plan Amendment Public Participation
Plan” as its public participation procedures for periodic amendments to the City’s Comprehensive Plan,
meeting the requirements of §66.1001(4)(a), Wisconsin Statutes.

Utat-. AL
Christophef Scherer, City Council President

Approved this 18t day of January, 2021,

ATTEST:

NG Ll pert

Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director

46



-
RESOLUTION NO. / J Iol
RESOLUTION RECOMMENDING AMENDMENTS TO THE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

PLAN COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, WISCONSIN

WHEREAS, the City of Fort Atkinson on March 19, 2019 adopted the City of Fort Atkinson
Comprehensive Plan, (hereinafter “Plan”) as the City’s comprehensive plan under Section
66.1001(4), Wisconsin Statutes, with said Plan including procedures for consideration of
amendments to it; and

WHEREAS, Section 66.1001(4), Wisconsin Statutes, establishes the required procedure
for a local government to amend a comprehensive plan once it has been initially adopted; and

WHEREAS, the City of Fort Atkinson Plan Commission has the authority and responsibility
to recommend amendments to the Plan to the City Council, under Section 66.1001(4)(b); and

WHEREAS, on February 1, 2022, the Plan Commission reviewed proposed amendments to
the Comprehensive Plan’s Transportation Map (Map 9) and Community Facilities Map (Map 10)
which involves changing the location of some planned roads, trails, and other public facilities.
The proposed amendments to the maps are described in a map provided dated December 22,
2021, copies of which are attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein as Exhibit A;
and,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Plan Commission of the City of Fort Atkinson
hereby recommends that, following a public hearing, the City Council adopt an ordinance to
constitute official City approval of the proposed amendments to the 2019 City of Fort Atkinson
Comprehensive Plan that the Plan Commission recommended for approval at its February 1,
2022, Plan Commission Meeting.

This Resolution was adopted at a meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Fort
Atkinson on the 1%t day of February, 2022.

By: | =T (-

= R -
Rebecc:jHousenJ[ﬂan LeMire,
Plan Commission Chair

ATTEST:

C VYV UL et

Michelle Ebbert
City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director

47



Agenda

City of Fort Atkinson
Engineer’s Office

101 N. Main Street

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538

MEMORANDUM
DATE: February 17, 2022
TO: Fort Atkinson City Council
FROM: Andy Selle, P.E., City Engineer/Director of Public Works
RE: Third reading of an Ordinance to repeal and recreate Section 1-13 of the

Municipal Code regarding the Official Map for the City of Fort Atkinson

BACKGROUND

The City made a concerted effort to revise its suite of planning documents over the last several
years. These three documents include the Comprehensive Plan (2019), Zoning Code (2020), and
the Land Development and Division Code (2022 — in review). Only the Comprehensive Plan
indicates planning beyond the municipal boundary of the City. Such areas are prescribed on the
Future Land Use Map and document a logical expectation for commercial, residential, park and
reserved (wetlands, floodplains etc) lands within a reasonable distance of the City’s boundary.
Although these designations exist, the City has no real authority to influence development in
these areas to ensure such logical future expansion is preserved. This is intentional within the
law to preserve private property rights and limit the reach of government. The law does
recognize that planning ahead for the continuation of public right of way corridors and the
public improvements contained within them (roads, sidewalks, water, sewer, cable, electric etc)
beyond the borders of a City (or Town) is in the best interest of all citizens. The tool that
documents this planning is known as the Official Map. The Comprehensive Plan, and its
associated maps, must agree with the Official Map. The process for adoption of the Official Map
will also require a parallel process for a revision to the Comprehensive Plan as well.

This topic was presented to the Planning Commission at their January 11, 2022 meeting. The
presentation was informational only, no vote or recommendation required. The Ordinance
Committee heard the presentation as well, at their January 11, 2022 meeting and voted to
move the ordinance to Council for consideration. The second reading was held at a joint
meeting of the Plan Commission and City Council on February 1, 2022.

DISCUSSION

The Official Map Ordinance allows the City to identify public infrastructure beyond the border
of the City on the map. The Official Map is attached and focused on two areas, called out on the
map; the northwest portion of the City and an area on the south side of the City adjacent to the
City boundary. The City plans to complete additional planning in the southeast and southwest
areas as well and will bring those additions through the same adoption process when ready.

48



Many of the planned corridors exist within current right of way, such as paths shown adjacent
to existing roads. Other right of way corridors exist on private parcels.

Once the ordinance moves through the public process of review and approval, proposed
development within the footprint of these mapped features requires approval by the City of
Fort Atkinson.

If land is not developed and continues as agricultural or natural, a right of way shown on the
map in such a private parcel has no bearing on the owner’s continued use of the land in this
way. However, if the owner or a subsequent owner decides to develop the parcel into
something other than agricultural or natural, the City of Fort Atkinson becomes an approving
authority with respect to the impact the development may have on the mapped features on the
parcel. Practically speaking, the Official Map allows the City a seat at the table as the
development, which remains in the Town, is planned and approved. An example scenario using
the Official Map tool is provided below that may provide further understanding.

FUTURE MONTCLAIR
OVERPASS

Figure 1: Proposed road right of way noted in pink/purple. Trails noted in green.

49



The City has planned for an overpass of the HWY 26 by-pass at the end of Montclair Street. The
by-pass roughly represents the City boundary, land to the west lies in the Town of Koshkonong.
New development at the end of Montclair has proceeded with this corridor for the overpass
reserved. There are no plans at present to construct such an overpass. In the future, this would
be the planned location. The pink and purple lines to the west of the by-pass represent possible
locations for public right of way to continue Montclair Street as well as other secondary roads.

Scenario: Current farm land along HWY 12 is sold for the construction of a sizeable self-storage
facility. The facility does not require any City services (water, sewer) and can thus remain as a
rural commercial development without annexing into the City. The Official Map indicates
several public right of way corridors within the parcel slated for development. The developer
will need to either preserve the corridors for right of way or recommend an alternative (move
the road corridor to another location) for the City to approve that preserves the necessary
access. The City is required to compensate the developer for the preservation of the public
right of way on the property in exercising the option. In the unlikely scenario the developer
chooses to ignore the City’s interests, the Official Map would provide legal standing for the City
to pursue compliance. It is important to understand in this scenario that the information shown
on the Official Map only becomes relevant upon the development of the land. It is further
important to understand that the location of rights of way shown can be adjusted to
accommodate the development and still serve the future interests of the public right of way.

As with all Ordinances and in particular with updates to the Comprehensive Plan, the process
for public input and approval by the various governing bodies is provided in State Law. In
addition, although not required, the City will send a letter to each parcel owner with an
element of the official map shown on their land, whether in the City or Town. The letter will
notify them of the public hearing and invite them to contact City staff ahead of time with any
guestions. Staff have already communicated with Town of Koshkonong officials about the map
as well. The Official Map Ordinance and Comp Plan Revision schedule looks like this; assuming
approvals at each step:

DATE GOVERNING BODY MEETING ACTION

Jan 6, 2022 City and Town Rep. Meeting Information Only re: Official Map

Jan 11, 2022 Plan Commission Information Only — First Presentation

Jan 11, 2022 Ordinance Committee Review and move to City Council for
consideration

By Jan 12, 2022 | City Staff Letters Mailed to Property Owners

Jan 18, 2022 City Council First of 3 readings and call for public
input. Public Notice of Comprehensive
Plan

Jan 26, 2022 City Staff Meeting for affected landowners to ask
guestions and gain further information.

50



Feb 1, 2022

Joint City Council & Plan
Commission

Second of 3 readings and call for public
input. Public Hearing on Official Map &
Comprehensive Plan Revisions

Feb 17, 2022 City Council Last of 3 readings and call for public
input. Final approval may occur at this
meeting.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that the City Council approve this Ordinance, creating the Official Map for
the City of Fort Atkinson.

ATTACHMENTS

Final Official Map; Ordinance to Repeal and Recreate Section 1-13 of the Municipal Code
relating to the Official Map

51




N AN
Banker'R?"‘ll.A.A'.A.

N N R
% ,\,A_i,‘\J, D i

L

R Wik

—

r L ;
MRS '
s W
JLZ‘“ te
7y NRREAR RNNARN /gy o

e i

Poeppel Rd

City of Fort Atkinson Official Map
— Truck Routes fim]

Existing Principal Arterial Roads §

=

i . ! City of Fort Atkinson
—+——+ Railroads
Existing Minor Arterial Roads

Surface Water
)

1.5 Mile Extraterritorial Jurisdiction
Existing Park & Recreation Facilities
[ Existing Community Facilities

Existing Collector Roads

Existing Local Roads

[ ] Wetlands (DNR)

Existing Trails/Bike Route N\ 100 Year Floodplain

B o

NOTE: This Official Map does not show all future public facilities that the
City has planned; it instead tends to show larger planned facilities where
future locations are comparatively certain and which meet statutory
requirements for official mapping.

Community Facility Points %

Proposed New Public Parks
City Hall

Police Department

Proposed New Public Water Tower

Proposed New Public Collector Road - 100"
Proposed New Public Collector Road - 80
Proposed New Public Local Road

N

Fire Department
Water Department
U.S. Post Office

o . Proposed New Public Overpass
Religious Facilities

Proposed Off-Road Public Trail

Cemeteries
Proposed On-Road Bike Facilities

Library
Public Works Garage

0 0.25 0.5 1

N e 5
. VANDEWALLE & 0

ASSOCIATES ING5p

Shaping places, shaping change

Approval Date: 2.17.22

Sources: Jefferson County, V & A,
FEMA, WI DNR, WI DOT, City of Fort Atkinson




ORDINANCENO. __
ORDINANCE TO REPEAL AND RECREATE SECTION 1-13 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE
RELATING TO THE OFFICIAL MAP FOR THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON
The City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, does ordain as follows:

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, after recommendation by the City Plan
Commission has hereto adopted on March 19, 2019 and subsequently amended on February 1, 2022, a
Comprehensive Plan as part of the Master Plan of the City; and

WHEREAS, the City Council as previously established an Official Map for the purpose of serving
and promoting the public health, safety, convenience, economy, orderliness, and general welfare of the
community; to further the orderly layout and use of land; to stabilize the location of real property
boundary lines; to insure property legal descriptions and proper monumenting of land; to facilitate
adequate provision for transportation, parks, playgrounds, and stormwater drainage; and to facilitate
the further subdivision of larger tracts into smaller parcels of land under the authority granted by
Section 62.23(6) of the Wisconsin Statues; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson has determined that it is necessary for
the proper physical development of the City to amend the Official Map and repeal and reenact Section
1-13 of the Municipal Code to align with the current Comprehensive Plan for the City of Fort Atkinson;
and

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, on the
15t day of February, 2022, on the question of amendment to the Official Map and Section 1-13 of the
Municipal Code.

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Jefferson County, Wisconsin, do
hereby ordain as follows:

That Section 1-13 of the Municipal Code be, and the same is hereby repealed and reenacted to read as
follows:

City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code Chapter 1 — General Provisions Section 1-13. — Official Map.

(a) Intent. It is the intent of the Common Council to repeal and re-establish an official map for the
purpose of serving and promoting the public health, safety, convenience economy, orderliness and
general welfare to the community; to further the orderly layout and use of land; to stabilize the
location of real property boundary lines; to facilitate adequate provision for transportation, parks,
playgrounds, and stormwater drainage; and to facilitate the further Subdivision on larger tracts into
smaller parcels of land.

(b) Authority. This ordinance is enacted under the authority granted by Section(s) 62.23(6) of the
Wisconsin Statutes.

(c) Official Map. The Official Map shall show the location and extent of all platted and existing streets,
highways, parkways, parks, and playgrounds within the corporate and extraterritorial limits of the
City of Fort Atkinson as heretofore, platted, laid out, adopted, and established by law. There is
hereby established, as the Official Map of the City of Fort Atkinson, the map which accompanies and

53



(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

is made a part of this Ordinance bearing the date of February 1, 2021. This map is hereby designated
as the "Official Map of the City of Fort Atkinson" and all notations, references, and other information
shown thereon shall be as much a part of this Ordinance as though the matters and information
thereon were fully described herein.

Changes and additions.

1) The Common Council may change or add to the Official Map as to establish the exterior lines,
or widen, narrow, extend, or close any platted, existing, proposed, or planned streets,
highways, parkways, parks, or playgrounds.

2) The Common Council shall refer any change or addition to the Official Map to the City Plan
Commission for review and report their recommendation to the Common Council within sixty
(60) days of referral.

3) A public hearing of parties in interest and citizens before the Common Council shall be
required before any changes or additions to the Official Map are effective. At least fifteen
(15) days notice of said hearing shall be required by publication.

4) Changes and additions made by duly approved subdivision plats shall not require the public
hearing if the changes or additions do not affect any land outside the area being platted.

Building permits.

1) For the purpose of preserving the integrity of the Official Map, a building permit shall be
required for any structure or part therefore that shall hereafter be located, erected, moved,
reconstructed, extended, enlarged, converted or structurally be located, erected, moved,
reconstructed, extended, enlarged, converted, or structurally altered. No permit shall
hereafter be issued for any building in the bed of any existing or proposed street, highway, or
parkway shown on the Official Map. No permit for the erection of any building shall be
issued unless a street, highway, or parkway giving access to such proposed structure has
been duly placed on this map.

2) The City Building Inspector may require each applicant for a building permit to submit a plan,
prepared and certified by a registered land surveyor, showing accurately the location of any
proposed building with reference to any street, highway or parkway shown on the Official
Map.

Municipal Improvements. No public sewer or other municipal street utility or improvement shall be
constructed in any street, highway, or parkway within the corporate limits of the City of Fort
Atkinson until such street, highway, or parkway is duly placed on the Official Map or is otherwise
approved through a plat of subdivision approved by the City.

Appeals. The Board of Zoning Appeals shall have the power to review any administrative decision of
the City Building Inspector to deny a permit for the creation of a structure under this ordinance and
to grant relief from the requirements of this ordinance under the provision of Section 62.23(6)(d), (f),
and (g) of the Wisconsin Statutes.

Certification of Map. There shall be a certified copy of the Official Map that shall be kept in the office
of the City Clerk and shall be available for the inspection by any interested person during regular
office hours. The certified copy shall bear on its face a certification that it is a true copy of the Official
Map described in and accompanying this ordinance and shall show the date of adoption of this
ordinance and shall be signed by the president and counter-signed by the City Clerk. Thereafter, no
change or addition to such Official Map shall become effective until it shall have been indicated by
the appropriate convention of the aforesaid certified copy of the Official Map and a certificate placed

54



thereon or attached thereto, bearing the number and date of adoption of the amending ordinance.
The certificate shall be signed by the City Council President and countersigned by the City Clerk.

(i) Recording of map. The City Clerk shall be responsible immediately upon adoption of the Official Map
or any amendment thereto for recording a true copy of the amended Official Map with the Jefferson
County Register of Deeds.

(j) Enforcement. It shall be the duty of the City Building Inspector to enforce the provisions of this
Ordinance.

(k) Penalties. Any person who violates, disobeys, neglects, omits or refuses to comply with or who resists
the enforcement of any provisions of this section shall be subject to section 1-10.

This ordinance shall be effective the day following its publication, subsequent to its adoption.
Adopted this 17™ day of February, 2022.

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

Christopher Scherer, President

ATTEST:

Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director

55


https://library.municode.com/wi/fort_atkinson/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=RECOOR_CH1GEPR_S1-10PEPR

Agenda

City of Fort Atkinson
Engineer’s Office

101 N. Main Street

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538

MEMORANDUM
DATE: February 17, 2022
TO: Fort Atkinson City Council
FROM: Andy Selle, P.E., City Engineer/Director of Public Works
RE: Third/Final reading and possible action relating to an Ordinance to repeal and

recreate Chapter 70 the Land Division and Development Code

BACKGROUND

The City made a concerted effort to revise its suite of planning documents over the last several
years. These three documents include the Comprehensive Plan (2019), Zoning Code (2020), and
the Land Development and Division Ordinance (2022). The Comprehensive Plan indicates the
type of land use the City plans within large “regions” of the City and its extended boundary. The
document answers big picture questions; where should we focus re-development; where will
residential development expand; should we plan commercial and/or industrial development in
these areas? The Zoning Code takes these planning level designations and further defines them
at the individual parcel level. An area slated for residential in the Comprehensive Plan requires
parcels zoned as single family, two family, multi-family or high density residential. Following
this, the Land Development and Division Ordinance provides specific guidance and process for
dividing land, developing a parcel, or laying out a large neighborhood. The final version of the
latter is the subject of this memo.

The LDDO was presented to the Planning Commission at their January 11, 2022 Meeting for
information only. The Ordinance Committee heard this item at their January 11, 2022 meeting
and recommended it for the consideration of City Council. The Council and Plan Commission
reviewed it on February 1% at a joint meeting.

DISCUSSION

The existing equivalent of the Land Development and Division Ordinance (LDDO) is known as
the Subdivision Code and was drafted in 1993. The LDDO presents both process and content for
the orderly division and development of land within the City of Fort Atkinson.

The LDDO is a complete rewrite of the 1993 Subdivision Code. Two areas of the document
provide the reader with a good introduction; the Table of Contents and Section 70.01.04 (page
5) Purpose and Intent. The Table of Contents breaks down broadly among the following
themes:

56



development, who approves them, and how
are they constructed

Legal standing of the ordinance Articles | - 1I
What land can be divided/developed and Articles Il - VI
how to do so

What public improvements are required for Articles VII - XII

Penalties and definitions

Articles Xl and XIV

The Purpose and Intent section is pasted below for convenience:

The purpose of this Ordinance is to regulate and control all land divisions and
condominiums within the City of Fort Atkinson’s geographic jurisdictional limits
specified in Section 70.0103 in order to promote and protect public health, safety,

prosperity, aesthetics, and general welfare of the community. The regulations are
intended to encourage the most appropriate use of land, to provide the best possible
environment for human habitation, and to conserve the value of buildings placed

upon the land. More particularly, and without limitation, it is also the purpose of the

Ordinance to:

(1) Implement the City’s comprehensive plan and components thereof and
facilitate enforcement of community development standards set forth in other
Chapters of the City’s Municipal Code of Ordinances.

(2) Promote the wise use, conservation, and protection or proper development
of the soil, water, wetland, woodland, and wildlife resources, and to achieve a

balanced relationship between land use and development and the supporting and
sustaining natural resource base. Restrict buildings in areas poorly suited for

development. Such areas are typically indicated by one or more of the following
metrics: presence of high groundwater, presence of artesian or confined aquifers,
seasonal flood inundation, historic or contemporary wetland soils, presence of

critical infrastructure, natural drainageways, and presence of critical ecological

habitats.

(3) Further the orderly layout, efficiency, and appropriate use of land for the
promotion of public comfort, convenience, and prosperity.

(4) Avoid the harmful effects of premature division or development of land.
(5) Lessen congestion in the streets and highways and accommodate street,

pedestrian and bike connectivity.

(6) Provide for proper ingress to and egress from development sites, including
the proper arrangement of proposed roads and highways in relation to existing roads
and highways for safe and convenient vehicular and pedestrian movement and

future growth beyond City boundaries.

(7) Secure safety and resiliency from fire, flooding, disastrous storms, water
pollution, disease, and other hazards to help minimize expenditures for disaster relief

and flood mitigation projects.

57



(8) Prevent and control erosion, sedimentation, and other pollution of surface
and subsurface waters.

(9) Preserve native vegetation and cover to the extent practicable and protect
the natural beauty of the City.

(10) Preserve the distinct character of neighborhoods, special planning districts,
and the community.

(12) Provide adequate light, air, and water.

(12) Prevent the overcrowding of land. Provide adequate and convenient public
rights-of-way or easements for traffic, utilities, recreational paths, access for
emergency response vehicles and equipment, recreation, light and air, and the
avoidance of congestion of the population.

(23) Preserve areas for future higher density City growth complete with municipal
utilities.

(14)  Discourage scattered development and urban sprawl.

(15) Preserve prime agricultural land for agricultural use where designated within
the City’s extraterritorial jurisdictional limits.

(16) Plan the location and timing of new development to make it efficient, and to
reduce public costs.

(17) Facilitate the division of land into smaller parcels in accordance with the
adopted comprehensive plan and zoning code. Accommodate a variety of housing
types, density, and mixed uses.

(18) Provide adequate and diverse affordable housing options.

(19) Facilitate and ensure the adequate provision of transportation, water,
sewerage, stormwater management, schools, parks, playgrounds, and other public
facilities and services.

(20)  To favor land use intensities and patterns that are supportive of alternative
modes of transportation.

(212) Further the sustainability of the City by encouraging sustainable
development and infrastructure, and the utilization of carbon reducing energy
sources at minimum cost and maximum convenience.

(22) Ensure uniform adequate legal description and proper survey
monumentation of divided land. Ensure the accurate surveying of land, preparing
and recording of plats, and other land divisions.

(23) Provide for the administration and enforcement of this Ordinance, including
the consistent processing of all formal land divisions and condominiums, by providing
uniform procedures and standards for both the approving authority and developer.
(24) Provide penalties and other remedies for violation of this Ordinance.

The document formalizes best practices the City has employed over the years but never
codified. Specific examples are special requirements or restrictions on building in areas with
high groundwater, artesian conditions, or seasonal inundation (See Article Ill — Land Suitability).
Although it seems logical not to build in such areas, our ability to limit development in these
areas is significantly improved with this document.

58



Guidance on the layout of a neighborhood or subdivision is also a significant component of this

document. Right of way widths for various street service levels (arterial, collector, residential),
required dedication of park lands, sidewalks and recreation trails, street geometry and profile
(thickness) are all provided within Articles VII thru XII. These details intend to foster a project

from Concept through Construction.

As with all Codes, the process for public input and approval by the various governing bodies is
provided in State Law. The LDDO schedule for such looks like this; assuming approvals at each

step:

DATE

GOVERNING BODY MEETING

ACTION

Jan 11, 2022

Plan Commission

Information Only — First Presentation

Jan 11, 2022

Ordinance Committee

Review and move to City Council for
consideration

Jan 18, 2022

City Council

First of 3 readings and call for public
input

Feb 1, 2022

Joint City Council & Plan
Commission

Second of 3 readings and call for public
input

Feb 17,2022 | City Council Last of 3 readings and call for public
input. Final approval may occur at this
meeting.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that City Council perform the third reading and approve the attached
Ordinance repealing and recreating Chapter 70 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code
relating to Land Division and Development.

ATTACHMENTS

Chapter 70: Land Division and Development Ordinance
Link to Current Subdivision Code from 1993 (not attached)

59


http://cms1files.revize.com/fortatkinson/Subdivision%20Code%20(with%20fee%20changes).pdf

ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL AND RECREATE CHAPTER 70 OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON
MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO LAND DIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, do ordain as
follows:

Section 1. Chapter 70, known as the Platting Code Subdivision Ordinance, is hereby
repealed and recreated as the Land Division and Development Ordinance, to read as follows:

“CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, WISCONSIN
CHAPTER 70: LAND DIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE

Article I: Introduction

Article Il: Applicability and Divisions Governed

Article lll: Land Suitability

Article IV: Dedication, Reservation, and Protection of Land
Article V: Land Division Procedures

Article VI: Land Division Submittal Specifications

Article VII: Subdivision Design Standards

Article VIII: Road Design and Construction Standards

Article IX: Pedestrian and Bicycle/Recreational Ways

Article X: Water, Wastewater and Utility Design and Construction Standards
Article XI: Required Improvements

Article XIl: Requirements for Construction of Improvements
Article XIll: Administration, Fees, Enforcement, and Appeals

Article XIV: Definitions

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 1 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

60



ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022

Table of Contents

Article 11 INTRODUCTION ....ooiiiiieieeniee ettt ettt et sttt ettt e sbe e sat e st e s bt s bt e bt e s meesme e et e enteenbeesbeesaeesaneeane 5
SECHION 70.01.0L: THHIE eeeeeeeieeie ettt sttt et e s bt sae e san e sar e e b e n e e neennees 5
Section 70.01.02: Statutory AULNOTILY .....uviiiiie e e e eerrrre e e e e e e e brre e e e e e e eeeannes 5
Section 70.01.03: Geographic JUriSAICTION.....c.uuiii it s ssre e s eare e saes 5
Section 70.01.04: PUrpose and INTENT .....uviiiiiiieie ettt e st e e st e e ssabr e e s ssabaeesssabeeessnbeeeesans 5
Section 70.01.05: COMPIANCE ..uiiiiciiiee ettt e e e rtae e e e eta e e e saataeeesaataeeesantaeessanteeessnnsaeeennns 6
Section 70.01.06: RESPONSIDIIILY ...ccuvveeiiiiieei it e e srr e s s ata e e s seatr e e e eentaeeeenns 7
Section 70.01.07: Abrogation and Greater ReStIICHIONS ......cvvvieeiiiiieei et 7
Section 70.01.08: INtErPretatioN. ..ccuii ittt e e e e sttt e e e s e s abe e e e e e e e s nbraeeeeeeesenanns 8
Section 70.01.09: SEVEIADIIILY.....cccccuiiiiiiiee et e e et e e et e e st e e e e eetaee e e ntaeeeenns 8
Y= Yot [T g T O N 01 0 L0 2 (=T o 1= | PRSP 8
Section 70.01.11: Disclaimer of Li@bility ......ccccuveieieiiie ettt ettt e e e eeta e 8
Section 70.01.12: Effective Date and AMendmMENtS .......cooovieriiiiiiiieree et 8
Section 70.01.13: Restrictions for PUblic BENefit........coceiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 8

ARTICLE 1l: APPLICABILITY AND DIVISIONS GOVERNED .....c.utiitiitiritenieeieesiee sttt s 9
NY=Totd[o] g 4 O N0 0 RN ] ] ToF=1 o 11 L1 Y28 SRS 9
Section 70.02.02: Exemptions applicable to land diViSiONS .........ccccuveiriciiiiiciiee e, 10
Section 70.02.03: Exemptions applicable to uses and actiVities .........ccccvvveeeeeeeiicciiieeee e 10

Article [ LAND SUITABILITY coeieie ettt seitee e st e e sttt e e s svte e e ssbeeeesssbaeeesssbaeeesensaeasssnseessssnssensssnseeeesnns 10
Section 70.03.01: GENEIAl PUIPOSE ....ceecuuiiieeciiieeeecitee ettt e e et e e e ectr e e e e sttae e e e ataeeesansaeeeenssaeeesnsseeesnnsanens 10
Section 70.03.02: FIOOAPIAINS ....eeiieeiiieecceee ettt e et e e et e e e et e e e s e ab e e e e eabaeesenntaeeeenreeas 11
Section 70.03.03: WELIANAS ......eeeiiiieiiieiiie ettt ettt ettt bee e st e st e bt e e s be e e it e e sareesbeeesabeeeane 11
Section 70.03.04: EXiSting VEZETATION ...uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiteee ettt ettt e s e st e e e e e s s s s sabeaaeeeesssnas 11
Section 70.03.05: Drainage/Erosion/Groundwater SEParation..........cccveeeveeeeeeeeeeeeereeeeeeecreeeereeeevee e 12
SECHION 70.03.06: ACCESS...eiiiiiiriiiiiiitie ettt ettt e s bt e e s r e e e s mr e e e s s nbe e e s snreeesenreeas 13
Section 70.03.07: Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation..........cccccveeriiiiiee e 13

Article IV: DEDICATION, RESERVATION, AND PROTECTION OF LAND ....ccuvveiiiiiieeeiiiee e ecieee s seeieeesssnvnee e 13
Section 70.04.01: Streets, Highways, and DraiNnageWays .........ceeeeeeeeieiiiiiieeeeeeeeirrreeeeeeeeesinssseeseessessnnns 13
Section 70.04.02: Public Access to Navigable Waters .........coccvvviiiiiii et 13
Section 70.04.03: Dedication or Reservation of Park and Public Lands ..........ccecevviievienieniecnicniicniene 13
Section 70.04.04 Park Development Fees in Lieu of Land Dedication........cccccccveeevciieeincieeeecciiee e, 16

EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

61



Section 70.04.05 Reservation of lands within extraterritorial jurisdiction.........cccccccvievciieriiiiieeiinee. 17

Article V: LAND DIVISION PROCEDURES ......cccueiittitieitenieeste sttt ettt st st n e sbe e s smeesmeeemeeeneennee s 17
Section 70.05.01: Pre-Application CoNSUItAtion .........ccoiiiiiiciiiiiiie et e e e e 17
Section 70.05.02: Preliminary Plat Submittal, Transmittal, and ReVIieW ...........ccccovveeeieeecciiiieeeee e 18
Section 70.05.03: Final Plat Submittal, Transmittal, and ReVIEW .....cccoeveeeveieiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 20
Section 70.05.04: Minor Land Division (CSM) Submittal, Transmittal, and Review ........cccccccvveveriirennns 23
Section 70.05.05: Extraterritorial Land Division Submittal, Transmittal, and Review...........cccccceeeennns 25
Section 70.05.06: Replats and Reconfigurations ........ccoucuiieiiciiiiiiciiie st 26
Section 70.05.07: Condominium Submittal, Transmittal, and ReVIEW ..........cccoccciiiiiieeieeicciiiieeee e, 26
Section 70.05.08 Homeowner and Condominium ASSOCIAtioNS.......cceeveerieriirsiieriereeree e 27

Article VI: LAND DIVISION SUBMITTAL SPECIFICATIONS .....coiiteiteieerieeniee ettt ettt st sree v 29
Section 70.06.01 Preliminary Plat REQUIFEMENTS ......uiiiiiiiieiiiiie ettt ree e s s 29
Section 70.06.02 Final Plat REQUIMEMENTS ...cccviiieiiiiiieieiiee ettt ee s e e sree e s sara e e s saree e e snreeessnraees 34
Section 70.06.03 CSM REQUITEIMENTS. ......uuiiiiieieeieiiiieeeee e e e eeitree e e e e e e ssiirreeeeeessesssraeeeeesssssussseeaeesssssnnns 35

Article VII: SUBDIVISION DESIGN STANDARDS .....c..toiiiiiiitieteeteeieestee st sttt sbe e it sae e st steere e b esnee s 36
SECHION 70.07.01 it a e s a e e s ra e s 36

Article VIII: ROAD DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS........ctttiiiiieiiiieteeriteeessrreeeesieeeessveeeessveeeesans 39
Section 70.08.01 Street Principles and Arrangements .......coovcvieeiriiieeeriiieeeecieeeessrre e e esreee s s sareeeessreees 39
Section 70.08.02 General road design standards .........ccccveeieciieiieiiiee e e 42
Section 70.08.03 Alley StANAIAS........ceieciiieieiiiee ettt ecr e e e e et e e e et r e e e s aba e e e eataeeeentreeeenraeeas 43
Section 70.08.04 Cul-de-sac and dead-end street standards..........ccoeeveerieriinsiieneeneee e 44
Section 70.08.05 Intersection Standards ..........ooueiiieriieeiiee e e 44
Section 70.08.06 Limited Access Highway and Railroad Right-of-Way Treatments........cccccceecvvevevnneenn. 45
Section 70.08.07 Preparation, Construction and Dedication of Public Streets and Roads .................... 46
Section 70.08.08 Private StreetS.....cuiii i 51
Section 70.08.09 Private DIiVEWAYS.....ccccuuiiiieeieiieiiiiitteeeeesssiiiiteeeeeessssbrrteeeessssssassssaeeeessssssssesaeesesssnnns 51

Article IX: Pedestrian and Recreational Ways.........cccuiiieiciieeiiiiiiee ettt ettt e esare e e s saree e ssnaaeeeas 52
Section 70.09.01 GeNeral Standards........c.eeeceeeriee ittt sttt e s re e e sbee e 52
Section 70.09.02 DeSigN STaNAArdS.......ccccuviieiiiiiee et ecciee et e ee e e e e rtee e e e sab e e e eenteeeeenabeeesenreeesennrenas 52

Article X: WATER, WASTEWATER, STORMWATER, UTILITY DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS ....... 53
Section 70.10.01: General REQUITEMENTS ....uiiiiiiii ittt ettt e s sbee e e e bee e e s sabee e s ennbreeeesareeas 53
Section 70.10.02: Water and Wastewater Design ReqUIrements .........cccceeeeeeeeeciiiieeeeeeeeecciiireeee e 53
Section 70.10.03: Stormwater Design ReQUIMEMENTS. ....ccoiiiiriririeiiirirsersssssssssss s as 54

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 3 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

62



SeCtion 70.10.04: Other Utilties. oo 55

Article XI: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS .......etiiiitieitieitesite sttt ettt ettt st s s s be e b e sneesmee st emeeeneennee s 56
Section 70.11.01: General reQUIrEMENTS.....ciiii i crieeee et e e e e s e e e e e e e serrreeeeeeeeesnnrsseeeeaseennnnns 56
Section 70.11.02: SUIVEY MONUMENES .. ..ieieieiececececeeeee e ee e e s s s s s e s e e e s e s e e e e e e e e e e s e e s e e e nnn 56
Section 70.11.03: Grading, Erosion, and Sedimentation Control..........cccceeeeciiiiiiiiiee e, 56
Section 70.11.04: Street SUMACING ... ..ci i ittt e e et e e s e tb e e e e e abe e e e s ntaeeeannraeeas 57
Section 70.11.05: Removal of Temporary TUrNaroUNAS.......cccuueeeerireeeiiiieeessieeessreeesssneeessnseeesssnseees 58
Section 70.11.06: CUrbSs and GULELEIS ....cccueieiieiiiiieiie ettt st e s bt esar e sreeemeeesareeenees 58
Section 70.11.07: Sidewalks and Recreational Paths .........cccooceiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 58
Section 70.11.09: SrEet LIGNTS ..eeiiiiiiee ittt et e e et e e e e e tr e e e s e abe e e e s araeeeenraee s 59
Section 70.11.10: Street and Traffic Control Signs and SigNals .........ceeeveiiieiciiiie e 59
Y= Lot [ g T O 0 B I Y o =T = PSRRI 60
Section 70.11.12: Landscaping/Preservation of EXiStiNg TrEES ........ccvveveerieeieeieenieerieesreesieesreeveere e 61

Article XIl: REQUIREMENTS FOR CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS......cooiiiiiiiieiiieniee et 62
Section 70.12.01 DeVeloper's AGrEEMENT ........uviiieciiieececieee et e e et e e e eete e e e e sbee e e sareeeeessaeeeessseeesnreneas 62
Section 70.12.02 IMProvVemMENt PIANS ........ooi ittt e et e e e re e e e e aaa e e e e ata e e e enraee s 62
Section 70.12.03 Performance Bond/Financial ASSUIANCE .........eeoveuviiiiiiiiieeeiiiie ettt e e seireeesstreeessasaee s 62
Section 70.12.04 Building and Other PEIrmMiItS......ccucuiiiiiciiieiiciiie ettt e s e srre e s sarre e s saraee s 63
NY=Tord (o] o VA O I W 0 S 9 1 o 1=Tot d (o] o POUSR O 63
Section 70.12.06 AS-BUIlIT DIAWINGS ...ceeeecuiiieieiiieececitiee e ecieee e et e e e eciree e e estteeeeeasaeessssaeeeessaeeesssseeesnnsenens 63
Section 70.12.07 Acceptance oOf IMProVEMENTS .........eiieciiieieiiiie et e et e et e e e eear e e e esataeeesnraees 63
Section 70.12.08 INdemMNifiCation ......c..eeiiieriiiieniee ettt ettt e s e b e 64

Article XIll: ADMINISTRATION, FEES, ENFORCEMENT, & APPEALS........cocctireerierierieeieeieesiee e 64
Section 70.13.01 AdMINISEratioNn ....cceeouiiiieiieieeree ettt ettt et e b e sbee e 64
SECHION 70.13.02 FEES .ttt st e s 64
Section 70.13.03 ENfOrCEMENT....ccuiiiiiiiie ettt ettt ettt e s e st e e st e e sbe e e sabeesareesbeeesareesans 65
Y= Totd [ T R RS 0 Yo T =T | PSPPI 66

ATtICIE XIV: DEFINITIONS ..ttt et e st s e e s bt e s sabe e sabe e e sabeesabeesbteesabeeenees 66

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 4 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

63



Article I: INTRODUCTION
Section 70.01.01: Title

This Ordinance shall be known as the “City of Fort Atkinson Land Division and Development Ordinance”
or as “Chapter 70 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code of Ordinances, Jefferson County,
Wisconsin” and is referred to as the “Ordinance” in this Chapter. This Ordinance was adopted on
February 17, 2022 and replaces the “Platting Code Subdivision Ordinance” adopted on September 7,
1993.

Section 70.01.02: Statutory Authority

These regulations are adopted under the authority granted by 236.13(1)(b), 236.45, and 703.115 of the
Wisconsin Statutes and for the purposes listed in Sections 236.01 and 236.45 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

Section 70.01.03: Geographic Jurisdiction

The provisions of this Ordinance apply to all lands within the corporate limits of the City of Fort Atkinson
and within the extraterritorial limits of the City. The extraterritorial limits extend to the unincorporated
areas within three miles of the corporate limits of the City. If a subdivision lies within the extraterritorial
plat approval jurisdiction of more than one municipality, the provisions of Chapter 66.0105 Wisconsin
Statutes apply.

Section 70.01.04: Purpose and Intent

The purpose of this Ordinance is to regulate and control all land divisions and condominiums within the
City of Fort Atkinson’s geographic jurisdictional limits specified in Section 70.0103 in order to promote
and protect public health, safety, prosperity, aesthetics, and general welfare of the community. The
regulations are intended to encourage the most appropriate use of land, to provide the best possible
environment for human habitation, and to conserve the value of buildings placed upon the land. More
particularly, and without limitation, it is also the purpose of the Ordinance to:

(2) Implement the City’s comprehensive plan and components thereof and facilitate enforcement
of community development standards set forth in other Chapters of the City’s Municipal Code of
Ordinances.

(2) Promote the wise use, conservation, and protection or proper development of the soil, water,

wetland, woodland, and wildlife resources, and to achieve a balanced relationship between land
use and development and the supporting and sustaining natural resource base. Restrict
buildings in areas poorly suited for development. Such areas are typically indicated by one or
more of the following metrics: presence of high groundwater, presence of artesian or confined
aquifers, seasonal flood inundation, historic or contemporary wetland soils, presence of critical
infrastructure, natural drainageways, and presence of critical ecological habitats.

(3) Further the orderly layout, efficiency, and appropriate use of land for the promotion of public
comfort, convenience, and prosperity.

(4) Avoid the harmful effects of premature division or development of land.

(5) Lessen congestion in the streets and highways and accommodate street, pedestrian and bike

connectivity.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 5 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

64



(6)

(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)

(11)
(12)

(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)

(20)

(21)

(22)

(23)

(24)

Provide for proper ingress to and egress from development sites, including the proper
arrangement of proposed roads and highways in relation to existing roads and highways for safe
and convenient vehicular and pedestrian movement and future growth beyond City boundaries.
Secure safety and resiliency from fire, flooding, disastrous storms, water pollution, disease, and
other hazards to help minimize expenditures for disaster relief and flood mitigation projects.
Prevent and control erosion, sedimentation, and other pollution of surface and subsurface
waters.

Preserve native vegetation and cover to the extent practicable and protect the natural beauty of
the City.

Preserve the distinct character of neighborhoods, special planning districts, and the community.
Provide adequate light, air, and water.

Prevent the overcrowding of land. Provide adequate and convenient public rights-of-way or
easements for traffic, utilities, recreational paths, access for emergency response vehicles and
equipment, recreation, light and air, and the avoidance of congestion of the population.
Preserve areas for future higher density City growth complete with municipal utilities.
Discourage scattered development and urban sprawl.

Preserve prime agricultural land for agricultural use where designated within the City’s
extraterritorial jurisdictional limits.

Plan the location and timing of new development to make it efficient, and to reduce public
costs.

Facilitate the division of land into smaller parcels in accordance with the adopted
comprehensive plan and zoning code. Accommodate a variety of housing types, density, and
mixed uses.

Provide adequate and diverse affordable housing options.

Facilitate and ensure the adequate provision of transportation, water, sewerage, stormwater
management, schools, parks, playgrounds, and other public facilities and services.

To favor land use intensities and patterns that are supportive of alternative modes of
transportation.

Further the sustainability of the City by encouraging sustainable development and
infrastructure, and the utilization of carbon reducing energy sources at minimum cost and
maximum convenience.

Ensure uniform adequate legal description and proper survey monumentation of divided land.
Ensure the accurate surveying of land, preparing and recording of plats, and other land divisions.
Provide for the administration and enforcement of this Ordinance, including the consistent
processing of all formal land divisions and condominiums, by providing uniform procedures and
standards for both the approving authority and developer.

Provide penalties and other remedies for violation of this Ordinance.

Section 70.01.05: Compliance

No approval pursuant to this code shall be issued where the applicant is in violation of this or any code
administered by the City, nor for any parcel(s) of land which has an outstanding violation until the
violation has been corrected.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 6 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

65



No person, firm, or corporation shall divide or develop any land located within the jurisdictional limits of
the City, as defined in Section 70.01.03, which results in a subdivision, minor land division, replat, or
condominium as defined herein, unless specifically exempted under Section 70.02.02 or 70.02.03. No
such subdivision, minor land division, replat, or condominium shall be entitled to record, and no road
shall be laid out or improvement made, without compliance with:

(1) All requirements of this ordinance, the City’s Comprehensive Plan, any other applicable
municipal ordinance of the City, and the official map.

(2) The provisions of Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin Statutes for proposed land divisions.
(3) The provisions of Chapter 703 of the Wisconsin Statutes for proposed condominiums.

(4) The rules of the Wisconsin Department of Safety and Professional Services regulating lot size
and lot elevation necessary for proper sanitary conditions if any existing lot or unit is not served
by a public sewer and provisions for such service have not been made. All new development in
the City shall be served by public sewer in accordance with Chapter 98 of the City of Fort
Atkinson Code of Ordinances.

(5) The rules of the Wisconsin Department of Transportation and the Jefferson County Highway
Department relating to provisions for the safety of entrance upon and departure from County
and State trunk highways or connecting highways and for the preservation of the public interest
and investment in such highway systems if the land owned or controlled by the developer abuts
on a County or State trunk highway or connecting highway or street.

(6) The rules of the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources setting water quality standards
preventing and abating stormwater, pollution, and regulating development within floodplain,
wetland, and shoreland areas.

(7) The rules of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.

(8) All other applicable ordinances and State and Federal regulations.

Section 70.01.06: Responsibility

The property owner is ultimately responsible for compliance with this Ordinance and shall sign all
contractual agreements. The developer, regardless of ownership, may act as the authorized agent and
apply for any necessary permits on behalf of the property owner.

Section 70.01.07: Abrogation and Greater Restrictions

It is not the intent of this Ordinance to repeal, abrogate, annul, impair, or interfere with any existing
easements, covenants, deed restrictions, agreements, rules, regulations, permits, or approvals
previously adopted or issued pursuant to law. However, where this Ordinance imposes greater
restrictions and such restrictions do not contravene rights vested under law, the provisions of this
Ordinance shall govern. This Ordinance may not modify in a more restrictive manner time limits,

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 7 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

66



deadlines, notice requirements, or other provisions of Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin Statutes that
provide protections for a developer in accordance with Section 236.45(2)(ac).

Section 70.01.08: Interpretation

The provisions of this Ordinance shall be interpreted to be minimum requirements and shall be liberally
construed in favor of the City and shall not be deemed a limitation or repeal of any other power granted
by the Wisconsin Statutes.

Section 70.01.09: Severability

If any section, provision, or portion of this Ordinance is adjudged unconstitutional or invalid by a court of
competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this Ordinance shall not be affected thereby.

Section 70.01.10: Repeal

All other ordinances or parts of ordinances of the City inconsistent or conflicting with this Ordinance, to
the extent of the inconsistency only, are hereby repealed.

Section 70.01.11: Disclaimer of Liability

This Chapter shall not be interpreted as placing any responsibility or liability on any City official, City
employee or the City as a municipal corporation for the granting of approval or the denial of any
approval. All approvals rendered as part of this Chapter shall be considered as being approved
conditionally based on the information and circumstances apparent at that time. Approvals issued by
the City shall not be construed as an assumption or expression of any responsibility, warranty or
guarantee for the design or construction of any improvements within the land division.

The City does not guarantee, warrant, or represent that only those areas delineated as floodplains or
wetlands on plats and certified survey maps will be subject to periodic inundation, nor does the City
guarantee, warrant, or represent that the soils shown to be unsuited for a given land use from tests
required by the Ordinance are the only unsuitable soils within the jurisdiction of this Ordinance; and
thereby asserts that there is no liability on the part of the City Council, its agencies or agents, or
employees for flooding problems, sanitation problems, or structural damages that may occur as a result
of reliance upon, and conformance with, this Ordinance.

Section 70.01.12: Effective Date and Amendments

This Ordinance and amendments thereto shall be effective after a public hearing, adoption by ordinance
by the City Council, and posting or publication as required by law.

Section 70.01.13: Restrictions for Public Benefit

Pursuant to Sec. 236.293, Wis. Stats., any restriction placed on platted lands by covenant, grant of
easement, land division or consolidation approval, which was required by the City and which names a
public body or public utility as grantee, promisee or beneficiary, vests in the public body or utility the
right to enforce the restriction by law or in equity against anyone who has interest in the land subject to
the restriction. The restriction may be released or waived by resolution of the City Council.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 8 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

67



ARTICLE II: APPLICABILITY AND DIVISIONS GOVERNED
Section 70.02.01: Applicability

All proposed land divisions and condominiums, except those exempted in accordance with Sections
70.02.02 and .03, shall be subject to City review and approval in which the City shall approve, approve
with conditions and/or deed restrictions, or reject proposed plats, certified survey maps, or
condominiums.

(1) Subdivisions: Any division of land within the City or the extraterritorial land division approval
jurisdiction of the City, as defined in Section 70.01.03 of this Ordinance that results in a
subdivision as defined in Article XIV and as listed herein shall be surveyed and a plat thereof
approved and recorded pursuant to the provisions of Section 70.05.03 and Chapter 236 of the
Wisconsin Statutes. A subdivision is inclusive of the following, unless exempt under Section
70.02.01(2), 70.02.02, or 70.02.03.

(a) The act of division that creates five or more parcels or building sites of 1 % acres each or
less in area, inclusive of the original remnant parcel.

(b) The act of division that creates five or more parcels or building sites of 1 % acres each or
less in area that are created by successive divisions within a period of five years,
inclusive of the original remnant parcel.

(c) Where the act of division creates six or more parcels or building sites inclusive of the
original remnant parcel of any size by successive divisions or any part of the original
property by any person within a period of five years.

(2) Minor Land Divisions (CSM’s): Any division of land within the City or the extraterritorial land
division approval jurisdiction of the City that results in a minor land division as defined in Article
XIV shall be surveyed and a certified survey map (CSM) of such division approved and recorded
as required by Section 70.05.04 and Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin Statutes. All land divisions
that are not identified as a subdivision, condominium, or otherwise exempt from this ordinance
are classified as Minor Land Divisions.

In accordance with Section 236.34(1)(ar) Wisconsin Statutes, a CSM may also be used for
dividing land into not more than 10 parcels, lots, or outlots if the land being divided is zoned for
industrial or commercial office and business park development. Additional lots may be created
in accordance with this provision with Plan Commission approval.

(3) Condominiums. Any development within the City that creates a condominium as defined in
Article XIV shall be surveyed and a condominium plat thereof approved and recorded pursuant
to Section 70.05.07 of this Ordinance and Chapter 703 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Any
condominium that also includes a new lot, parcel, or outlot shall also comply with the
requirements of Chapter 236 of the Statutes and the requirements of this Ordinance as
applicable to land divisions, which shall include the preparation of a CSM or Subdivision Plat. A
Condominium Plat cannot be used as the instrument that creates lots, parcels, or outlots. It is

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 9 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

68



the express intent of this Ordinance to regulate condominiums having one or more principal
structures on any lot or parcel. In no case shall the maximum number of units in a condominium
exceed the maximum number of lots the same parcel could have accommodated under the City
zoning ordinance, whether it be through conventional zoning or a Planned Unit Development.

Section 70.02.02: Exemptions applicable to land divisions

The provisions of this Ordinance, as it applies to division of tracts of land into four or fewer lots or
parcels, shall not apply to:

(1) Transfers of interest in land by will or pursuant to court order.
(2) Leases for a term not to exceed 10 years, mortgages, or easements.
(3) Sale or exchange of parcels of land between owners of adjoining property, subject to City review

and approval to ensure compliance with the requirements of this Ordinance and the City zoning
ordinance, if additional lots are not thereby created and the lots resulting are not reduced
below the minimum sizes, or otherwise create nonconforming lots or structures, required by
this Ordinance, the zoning ordinance, or other applicable laws or ordinances.

Section 70.02.03: Exemptions applicable to uses and activities

The provisions of this Ordinance, as it applies to certain uses and activities, shall not apply to:

(2) Cemetery plats made under Section 157.07 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

(2) Assessors’ plats made under Section 70.27 of the Wisconsin Statutes; however, assessors’ plats
shall comply with Sections 236.15(1)(a) through (g) and 236.20(1) and (2)(a) through (e) of the
Wisconsin Statutes, unless waived under Section 236.20(2)(L).

(3) Public transportation project plats made under Section 84.095 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

(4) Sale or exchange of parcels of public utilities or railway rights-of-way to adjoining property
owners if the City Council and the county planning agency approve such sale or exchange on the
basis of applicable local ordinances or the provisions of Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

(5) A CSM prepared for the purpose of monumenting existing parcels that are metes and bounds or
other property descriptions if the initial parcels were legally created in accordance with the
City’s zoning ordinance.

Article 111: LAND SUITABILITY

Section 70.03.01: General purpose

The purpose of good subdivision site design is to protect the public health, safety and general welfare of
the City, to create a functional and attractive development, to minimize adverse impacts, and to ensure
that a project will be an asset to the City. To promote this purpose, these subdivision regulations shall
set forth requirements for the manner in which roads, lots and other elements of a proposed

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 10 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

69



subdivision, CSM, or condominium plat shall be arranged on the land. Improvements required by these
subdivision regulations shall facilitate convenient and safe roads and usable lots, and shall reserve
adequate space for public utilities, as well as recreational, institutional, and other public uses.

Lands shall not be divided that are held unsuitable for such use by the Plan Commission, upon
recommendation of the City Engineer or other agency as determined by the Plan Commission, for
reason of flooding, inadequate drainage, adverse soil or rock formation, unfavorable topography, severe
erosion potential, inadequate supply of potable water or sewage treatment capabilities, or
circumstances likely to result in the imposition of unreasonable costs or to be harmful to the health,
safety, or welfare of the future residents or occupants of the proposed land division, or the City, or
poses an imminent harm to the environment.

Section 70.03.02: Floodplains

(1) The floodplain boundary and elevation of all mapped floodplain as designed on the Federal
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM), or as otherwise
studied and reviewed and approved by the City and DNR, shall be identified on the land division
document. If any portion of the land within the subdivision is subject to flooding or other
hazards that may increase danger to health, life, property; due consideration shall be given to
such problems in the design of the subdivision. The City’s floodplain ordinance shall be complied
with if any development or land disturbance is proposed within the floodplain. All new
development is prohibited in the 1% annual probability floodplain unless the City grants a
rezone in compliance with all DNR and FEMA standards for a rezone, including but not limited to
fill and compaction.

(2) Undeveloped lands that are or would be accessed from existing streets located within the 1-
percent annual probability floodplain may not be subdivided for residential, commercial, or
industrial uses unless an alternative access is provided through streets located outside of such
floodplain or meets the provisions of Section 70.08.02(7) or the floodplain provisions in the
City’s floodplain ordinance.

Section 70.03.03: Wetlands

All wetland boundaries shall be identified on the land division document and be delineated by a
qualified professional with Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (DNR) and/or United States
Army Corp of Engineers (USACE) approval. All land disturbance, impervious surfaces, and structures shall
be located a minimum of ten feet from all delineated wetlands. If any wetland will be impacted as a
result of infrastructure and utility improvements, the developer is responsible for meeting all standards
and securing all required permits from USACE and the DNR prior to approval of the development, in
addition to complying with the City’s Zoning Ordinance. If any City wetland ordinances are adopted that
would supersede these regulations or state or federal regulations, then the most stringent of the
wetland protection and buffering regulations will apply.

Section 70.03.04: Existing Vegetation

The developer shall make every effort to protect and retain all existing native trees with a trunk
diameter of six (6) inches or more. Such trees are to be protected and preserved during construction in

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 11 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

70



accordance with sound conservation practices, possibly including the preservation of trees by well
islands or retaining walls whenever abutting grades are altered, pursuant to a landscaping plan filed by

the developer.

Section 70.03.05: Drainage/Erosion/Groundwater Separation

(1) Land which has inadequate drainage or may cause severe erosion or other detriment shall not
be divided into building sites. Such lands are typically indicated by one or more of the following
metrics: presence of high groundwater, presence of artesian or confined aquifers, seasonal
flood inundation, historic or contemporary wetland soils, presence of critical infrastructure and
natural drainageways, or land that drains directly to steep slopes. The development of lands on
steep slopes requires special consideration and City Engineer review and approval.

(2) Groundwater seepage is one of the most common sources of wetness in basements and lower
levels in structures. Foundation drain tiles and sump pumps can work well until the power goes
out, the pump fails, a tile plugs, or a downstream landowner complains about the discharge
water. To avoid placing basements below groundwater, placing buildable lots in hydric soils is
discouraged and may be prohibited depending on the individual site conditions. In order to
ensure that each new lot is buildable and that the lowest level of a structure can be constructed
at least one foot above the highest groundwater table, the following provisions shall be met at
the time the lot is created:

(a)

(b)
(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

An on-site soil boring and profile evaluation shall be conducted on each lot within 50 ft.
of the anticipated home site, unless the City Engineer determines that fewer borings are
required based on the area between lots containing homogeneous soils with few
limitations and elevation changes.

The soil boring shall extend to a depth of at least 8 ft. from the surface elevation.

All soil profile evaluations and forms submitted for review by the City Engineer must be
completed in accordance with the USDA classification system, following standards
described in Chapter SPS 385 Wis. Admin. Code, and using form SBD-8330.

All soil profile evaluations and forms must be completed and signed by a Certified Soil
Tester (CST) or Professional Soil Scientist (PSS) registered in the State of Wisconsin,
including their CST/PSS number. Soil pits are strongly encouraged. Soil borings by split
spoon are acceptable, but power augers are not allowed.

The soil profile evaluation and forms shall be accompanied by a “Basement-
Groundwater Separation Form” that identifies the highest groundwater table elevation
and depth to groundwater elevation for each lot. The form shall be signed by a CST or
PSS, hydrogeologist, or professional engineer, including their Wisconsin license number
and stamp. The information on the form shall only be used at time of building
construction if the building is located within 50 ft. of the soil boring. If the building is
located greater than 50 ft. from the soil boring, an additional test may be required.

The City Engineer has the authority to prohibit basements in hydric soils.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 12 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

71



(g) The City Engineer has the authority to allow an artificial drainage system in lieu of the
one-foot separation requirement if the system acts to prevent basement flooding and
downstream impacts from system discharges. A long-term maintenance plan shall be
reviewed by the City Engineer and recorded with Jefferson County Register of Deeds.

Section 70.03.06: Access

All proposed land divisions and development shall have safe access to an improved public road. Said
access shall be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer in accordance with this Ordinance and any
other City Ordinance.

Section 70.03.07: Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation

All lots served by new development shall be served by City Water and Wastewater within one (1) year of
land division in accordance with Chapter 98 of the City of Fort Atkinson Code of Ordinances to ensure an
adequate supply of safe potable water and sanitation.

Article IV: DEDICATION, RESERVATION, AND PROTECTION OF LAND

Section 70.04.01: Streets, Highways, and Drainageways

Whenever a proposed land division encompasses all or any part of a street, highway, drainageway, other
public way or public access to navigable lakes, rivers, or streams, which has been designated in the
comprehensive plan or component thereof or the official map of the City, said public way shall be made
a part of the plat or certified survey map and dedicated or reserved by the developer, as determined by
the City, in the locations and dimensions indicated on said plan or map and as set forth in Article VIII of
this Ordinance.

Section 70.04.02: Public Access to Navigable Waters

Subdivisions abutting on a navigable lake or stream shall, according to the provisions of Wis. Stats.,
236.16(3), and this section, provide access at least 60 feet wide to the water’s edge so that there will be
public access, which is connected to existing public roads at least 1/2 mile intervals as measured along
the lake or stream shore, except where greater intervals and wider access is agreed upon by the DNR
and the Department of Administration, and excluding shore areas where public parks or open space
roads on either side of a stream are provided. No public access is required for minor subdivisions.

Section 70.04.03: Dedication or Reservation of Park and Public Lands

(1) Dedication Requirement. Each developer shall be required to dedicate land or pay fees in lieu of
land for park or other public uses. This requirement ensures that adequate open spaces and
sites for public uses may be properly located and reserved. The cost of providing public areas,
such as but not limited to, parks, open space and future public uses are equitably apportioned
on the basis of additional need created by the development. The location of such land to be
dedicated shall be determined by the Plan Commission at the time of Preliminary Plat,
Condominium Plat, or initial Certified Survey Map or development review. Where the dedication
is not compatible with the comprehensive plan, official map, or for other reasons is not feasible
as determined by the Plan Commission, and as approved by the City Council, the developer
shall, in lieu thereof, pay to the City a fee as established by Section 70.04.04 herein and the

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 13 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

72



City’s Fee Schedule, or a combination thereof. Artificial drainageways, detention basins, and
areas reserved for streets shall not be considered as satisfying land dedication requirements.
Naturally occurring drainageways, floodplains, and wetlands are desirable open space lands and,
if appropriate, may be included in dedicated or reserved lands, but these lands may not count
for more than 25% of the required total.

(2) General Design. In the design of a subdivision, land division, planned unit development or
development project, provision shall be made for suitable sites of adequate area for parks,
playgrounds, trails, open spaces, and other public purposes. Such sites are to be shown on the
Preliminary Plat, Final Plat, CSM, or Condominium Plat and shall comply with the Comprehensive
Plan, or component of said Plan, or official map. Consideration shall be given to the preservation
of scenic and historic sites, and blending open space, trails, and recreational areas with existing
natural features such as stands of trees, marshes, lakes, ponds, streams, watercourses,
watersheds, ravines and woodlands, prairie and wetlands, floodplain, and plant and animal
communities.

(3) Site Reservations Required.

(a) Where the area proposed to be divided contains a park, playground, trail, open space or
other public area which is shown upon the comprehensive plan or official map of the
City of Fort Atkinson is greater in area than required for dedication based on subsection
4 below, shall be dedicated to the proper public agency, or shall be reserved for
acquisition through agreement or purchase, within a two-year period, unless extended
by mutual agreement. If the land is not acquired during this period, it shall be released
to the subdivider.

(b) Land dedication options include:
1. Reservation or dedication to the City, County, or State.
2. Donation to a nonprofit conservation organization.
3. Conservation easement.
(c) Open Space Preservation by deed restriction or restrictive covenant. Common open

space to be preserved in perpetuity that is not dedicated, reserved, donated, or placed
in an easement shall be protected by providing a deed restriction or restrictive covenant
recorded with the Jefferson County Register of Deeds that prohibits any land division or
development of said open space, except limited recreational amenities as approved by
the agency or organization having jurisdiction.

(d) Whenever a surface drainage course unless exempted by the City Engineer, river or
stream is located in the area being divided, the developer shall provide a conservation
easement along each side of the river, stream or drainage course for the purpose of

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 14 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

73



protecting the river, stream or drainage course. The width shall be equal to the
estimated 25-year flood event boundary.

(4) Minimum Dedication. The developer shall dedicate sufficient land area to provide adequate
park, playground, recreation and open space to meet the needs to be created by and to be

provided for the land division, subdivision, condominium or comprehensive development. The
minimum dedication shall be:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(f)

(g)

One thousand (1,000) square feet per residential unit for all single-family lot and duplex
development;

Seven hundred fifty (750) square feet per residential unit for all other multi-family
dwelling units;

Four percent (4%) of the total acreage intended for commercial or industrial purposes;

Combination of Residential Uses. Where a combination of residential and/or
commercial uses is intended, the minimum dedication shall be the sum obtained by
adding the dedication requirements for each intended use. Where a definite
commitment is made to the City by the developer with respect to those portions of the
total acreage intended for single-family, duplex, multifamily and commercial
development, the dedication shall be based upon the maximum dedications which the
zoning classification of the parcel will permit.

Unknown Number of Dwelling Units. Where the plat, certified survey map, or
condominium plat does not specify the number of residential dwelling units to be
constructed, the land dedication shall be based upon the maximum number of units
permitted by the City Zoning Ordinance.

In no case shall an area of less than one acre be reserved for recreational purposes if it
will be impractical or impossible to secure additional lands to increase its area.

Limitations: A subdivider shall not be required to dedicate more than one-third (1/3) of
the total area of the plat to meet the objectives of this Section.

(5) Access to Dedicated Land. All dedicated land shall have frontage on a public street and shall
have unrestricted public access of twenty (20) feet in minimum width with a five-foot walkway
and one (1) nine-foot paved entrance. This requirement may be waived by the Plan Commission
if there is no need for a paved entrance or access is available from adjacent public lands or a
publicly dedicated trail.

(6) Deeded to the City. Land dedicated for public purposes shall be deeded to the City at the time
the Final Plat, CSM, or Condominium Plat is approved. Land dedication can be accomplished by
the Final Plat or CSM, or by separate document. Land dedication must be accomplished by

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 15 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

74



separate document relative to a Condominium Plat. Any special restrictions or provisions shall
be noted on the plat, CSM, or separate document.

Section 70.04.04 Park Development Fees in Lieu of Land Dedication.

(1) Introduction and Purpose: Pursuant to the authority of Sec. 236.45, Wis. Stats., the local
development fees enabling legislation, the purpose of this Section is to establish the mechanism
for the imposition of park development fees to finance the capital costs of acquiring,
establishing, upgrading, expanding, and constructing public park facilities which are necessary to
accommodate future growth and land development. This Section is intended to assure that new
development bears a proportionate share of the cost of capital expenditures necessary to
provide public park facilities within the City and its service areas, as they are required to serve
the needs arising out of land development.

(2) Use of Park Development Fees. Funds collected from park development fees shall be used solely
for the purpose of paying the proportionate costs to provide public parks that become
necessary due to land development.

(3) Park Development Fee in Lieu of Land Dedication: Where, at the sole discretion of the Plan
Commission, there is no land suitable for parks, open space or trails within the proposed land
division or the dedication of land would not be compatible with the City's comprehensive plan
or official map, the minimum size under Section 70.04.03(4) cannot be met, or the Plan
Commission determines that a cash contribution would better serve the public interest, the Plan
Commission shall require the subdivider to contribute a Park and Recreation Development Fee
in lieu of land. The fee shall be established by resolution by the City Council. Residential fees
shall be determined by residential unit and Commercial/Industrial fees shall be determined by
acreage.

(4) Time of Payment. Park Development Fee shall be payable by the developer or property owner
to the City in full upon the issuance of a building permit for a residence by the municipality,
except where Section 66.0617(6)(g) of the Wisconsin Statutes applies.

(5) Park Fund for Fees Collection: Funds paid to the City under the payment of fees in lieu of land
dedication provisions are to be placed in a separate account designated for park and public land
acquisition and improvement. Said account shall be a continuing account and shall not lapse at
the end of a budget period.

(6) The Park Commission may, in its sole discretion, permit the subdivider to satisfy the
requirements of this Article by combining a land dedication with a fee payment. For example, if
a land dedication of twenty-five percent (25%) of the required dedication is made, the
subdivider shall also contribute an amount equal to seventy-five percent (75%) of the required
per unit fee in lieu of land. If a land dedication of fifty percent (50%) of the required dedication
is made, the subdivider shall also contribute an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the
required per unit fee in lieu of land. If a land dedication of seventy-five percent (75%) of the
required dedication is made, the subdivider shall also contribute an amount equal to twenty-five
percent (25%) of the required per unit fee in lieu of land.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 16 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

75



(7) Exemptions. Where a lot or parcel for which payment has once been made is further divided,
payment shall be required only for the additional lots or parcels created, at the time of the
building permit issuance for the new dwelling unit.

(8) Development of Parks and Public Land. The improvement requirements for developing parks
and public land are specified in Section 70.11.09.

Section 70.04.05 Reservation of lands within extraterritorial jurisdiction

Proposed public lands lying outside the corporate limits of the City but within the extraterritorial land
division approval jurisdictional area of these regulations shall be reserved for dedication to or
acquisition by the Town, City, County, or State, whichever entity is most appropriate based on adopted
Comprehensive Plans, Official Maps, Zoning Ordinances, and other officially adopted documents.

Article V: LAND DIVISION PROCEDURES

Section 70.05.01: Pre-Application Consultation

Prior to filing an application for approval of a preliminary subdivision plat, condominium plat, or certified
survey map, the developer shall consult with the Zoning and Engineering Departments in order to obtain
their advice and assistance. A scaled conceptual plan of the proposed subdivision, condominium, or
certified survey map, including lot layout and size, outlots, proposed road rights-of-ways, soils,
topography, existing and proposed drainage, all regulatory boundaries, natural features, and any other
supporting documentation shall be submitted for their review prior to the meeting. This consultation is
intended to inform the developer of the purpose and objectives of these regulations, the comprehensive
plan or components thereof, and duly adopted plan implementation ordinances of the City and to
otherwise assist the developer in planning the development. Consultation will provide guidance on the
following:

(1) Which entities at the City will be required to review the land division,
(2) Whether the proposal will require county or state approvals,

(3) Which standards of this Ordinance, as well as other applicable City Ordinances, will apply to the
land division,

(4) Whether the proposal meets the general suitability standards in Article Ill, and if not, an
explanation why the land is not suitable for the proposed use and afford the developer the
opportunity to present evidence regarding such suitability,

(5) Procedures and application packet requirements, including the required materials and
additional documentation referred to in the Preliminary and Final Plat Submittal requirements
specified in this Ordinance that are necessary to submit a land division for review and
consideration.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 17 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

76



Section 70.05.02: Preliminary Plat Submittal, Transmittal, and Review

(1) Developer Submittal Requirements

a. Before submitting a final plat for approval within the city limits, the developer shall
prepare a preliminary plat and complete an application and Land Division Review
Checklist. The Checklist is adopted by reference and represents the submittal
requirements of Article VI. The preliminary plat shall be prepared in accordance with
this Ordinance, and the developer shall file an electronic copy, in a digital format as
determined by the City Engineer, of the plat for distribution in accordance with this
Section; the completed application and checklist; and the preliminary plat review fee
with the City Engineer in a timeframe that complies with the City-established deadline
requirements for the meeting of the Plan Commission at which action is desired.

b. Pursuant to Section 236.12(2) Wisconsin Statutes, the developer is also responsible for
submitting an electronic or paper copy of the preliminary plat to the Director of Plat
Review of the Wisconsin Department of Administration, who will prepare and forward
copies of the plat at the developer's expense to the objecting agencies.

(2) City Engineer Transmittal Requirements and Required Responses

a. The City Engineer shall transmit a paper or electronic copy of the preliminary plat to all
applicable City Departments for review. The recommendations of City staff shall be
transmitted to the City Engineer for transmittal to the Plan Commission for
consideration.

(3) Objecting Agency Review (Jefferson County & Wisconsin Department of Transportation)

a. The objecting agencies shall, within 20 days of the date of receiving their copies of the
preliminary plat from Wisconsin Department of Administration, notify the developer
and all other approving and objecting agencies of any objections. If there are no
objections, they shall so certify on the face of the copy of the plat and shall return that
copy to the Wisconsin Department of Administration. The Wisconsin Department of
Administration shall promptly notify the City Clerk if such a certification is submitted by
an objecting agency. If an objecting agency fails to act within 20 days, and the Wisconsin
Department of Administration fails to act within 30 days from the date on which they
received the plat, they shall be deemed to have no objection to the plat and, upon
demand, the Wisconsin Department of Administration shall so certify on the face of the
plat.

b. Plan Commission approval shall be subject to compliance with objecting agency review
comments. Additionally, if the subject property abuts a County Highway, comments
from the Jefferson County Highway Department must be received prior to advancing the
matter to the Plan Commission. If the subject property is currently served by a private

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 18 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

77



sewage system, comments from the Jefferson County Environmental Health
Department must be received prior to advancing the matter to the Plan Commission. No
new private sewage systems will be permitted.

(4) City Plan Commission Review

a. The City Plan Commission shall promptly review the preliminary plat, after objections
and comments have been received by the objecting and reviewing agencies and
officials, for conformance with this Ordinance and all applicable laws, rules, regulations,
ordinances, and comprehensive plans and components of such plans. The Plan
Commission shall comment and recommend action on the preliminary plat to the City
Council.

b. The Plan Commission shall consider and make a recommendation to City Council on the
Preliminary Plat in a timeframe that allows the City Council to act within 90 days of the
date of filing of the preliminary plat, which is a statutory deadline established in Section
236.11(1)(a) Wisconsin State Statutes.

(5) City Council Review

a. In accordance with Section 236.11(1)(a) Wisconsin State Statutes, the City Council shall,
within 90 days of the date of filing of the preliminary plat with the City Engineer,
approve, approve conditionally, or reject such plat, unless the time is extended by
mutual written agreement with the developer. One copy of the plat shall thereupon be
returned to the developer with the date and action endorsed thereon; and if approved
conditionally or rejected, a letter setting forth the conditions of approval or the reasons
for rejection shall accompany the plat. One copy each of the plat and letter shall be
placed in the City’s permanent file.

b. Failure of the City Council to act within 90 days shall constitute an approval of the plat
as filed unless the review period is extended by written mutual agreement with the
developer.

C. Approval or conditional approval of a preliminary plat shall not constitute automatic

approval of the final plat, except that if the final plat is submitted within 36 months
after the last required approval of the preliminary plat and conforms substantially to the
preliminary plat, including any conditions of that approval, and to local plans and
ordinances, the final plat shall be entitled to approval as provided in Section
236.11(1)(b) Wisconsin Statutes. An approved preliminary plat shall be deemed an
expression of approval or conditional approval of the layout submitted and used as a
guide to the preparation of the final plat, which will be subject to further consideration
by the Plan Commission and City Council at the time of its submission. The City Council
may extend the time for submission of the final plat. See Section 70.05.03(1)d
pertaining to partial platting or phasing.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 19 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

78



Section 70.05.03: Final Plat Submittal, Transmittal, and Review

(1)

(2)

(3)

Developer Submittal Requirements

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

If any changes are made to the Final Plat after Preliminary Plat approval by the City
Council, the developer shall complete an updated Land Division Review Checklist. The
Checklist is adopted by reference and represents the submittal requirements of Article
VI. A written transmittal letter shall identify all substantial changes that have been made
to the plat since the preliminary plat.

A final plat shall be prepared in accordance with this Ordinance and the developer shall
file an adequate number of copies and/or an electronic copy, as determined by the City
Engineer, of the plat for distribution in accordance with this Section; the completed
application; and the final plat review fee with the City Engineer in a timeframe that
complies with the City-established deadline requirements for the meeting of the Plan
Commission at which action is desired. If no changes have been made after Preliminary
Plat approval, the Final Plat can be considered by the City Council without a
recommendation from the Plan Commission.

Pursuant to Section 236.12(2) Wisconsin Statutes, the developer is also responsible for
submitting an electronic or paper copy of the final plat to the Director of Plat Review of
the Wisconsin Department of Administration, who will prepare and forward copies of
the plat at the developer's expense to the objecting agencies.

The developer may submit a final plat that constitutes only a portion of the approved
preliminary plat that the developer proposes to record at that time; however, it is
required that each phase be final platted and designated as a phase of the approved
preliminary plat and the phasing requires approval by the Plan Commission and City
Council.

City Engineer Transmittal Requirements and Required Responses

The City Engineer shall transmit a paper or electronic copy of the final plat to all
applicable City Departments for review. The recommendations of City Staff shall be
transmitted to the City Engineer for transmittal to the Plan Commission for
consideration. The City Engineer has the authority to bypass the review of City Staff and
the Plan Commission if no or minimal changes have been made since approval of the
Preliminary Plat. In such case, the City Council will act based on the review of the
Preliminary Plat and any additional information provided by the developer.

Objecting Agency Review (Jefferson County & Wisconsin Department of Transportation)

a. The objecting agencies shall, within 20 days of the date of receiving their copies of the
final plat, notify the developer and all other approving and objecting agencies of any
ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 20 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

79



objections. If there are no objections, they shall so certify on the face of the copy of the
plat and shall return that copy to the Wisconsin Department of Administration. The
Wisconsin Department of Administration shall promptly notify the City Clerk if such a
certification is submitted by an objecting agency. If an objecting agency fails to act
within 20 days, and the Wisconsin Department of Administration fails to act within 30
days from the date on which they received the plat, they shall be deemed to have no
objection to the plat and, upon demand, the Wisconsin Department of Administration
shall so certify on the face of the plat.

b. City Council approval shall be subject to compliance with objecting agency review
comments. If the subject property abuts a County Highway, comments from the
Jefferson County Highway Department must be received prior to advancing the matter
to the Plan Commission. If the subject property is currently served by a private sewage
system, comments from the Jefferson County Environmental Health Department must
be received prior to advancing the matter to the Plan Commission. No new private
sewage systems will be permitted.

(4) City Plan Commission Review

a. The City Plan Commission shall examine the final plat as to its conformance with the
approved preliminary plat; conditions of approval of the preliminary plat; this Ordinance
and all other ordinances, laws, rules, regulations, comprehensive plans or components
thereof which may affect it; and shall recommend approval or rejection of the plat to
the City Council. The City Engineer, in coordination with the City Manager, has the
authority to bypass Plan Commission review if no or minimal changes have been made
since approval of the Preliminary Plat.

b. The Plan Commission shall consider and make a recommendation to City Council on the
Final Plat in a timeframe that allows the City Council to act within 60 days of the date of
filing of the final plat, which is a statutory deadline established in Section 236.11(2)(a)
Wisconsin State Statutes.

C. The Plan Commission shall, when it determines to recommend approval or rejection of a
plat to the City Council, give written notice at least 10 days prior to the City Council
meeting of its recommendation to the clerk of any municipality within 1,000 feet of the
plat, but failure to give such notice shall not invalidate the plat.

(5) City Council Review

a. In accordance with Section 236.11(2)(a), the City Council shall, within 60 days of the
date of filing of the final plat with the City Engineer, approve, approve conditionally, or
reject such plat, unless the time is extended by mutual written agreement with the
developer. One copy of the plat shall thereupon be returned to the developer with the
date and action endorsed thereon; and if approved conditionally or rejected, a letter

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 21 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

80



setting forth the conditions of approval or the reasons for rejection shall accompany the
plat. One copy each of the plat and letter shall be placed in the City’s permanent file.

b. Failure of the City Council to act within 60 days shall constitute an approval of the plat
as filed unless the review period is extended by written mutual agreement with the
developer.

C. If the final plat is not submitted within 36 months of the last required approval of the

preliminary plat, the City Council may refuse to approve the final plat or may extend the
time for submission of the final plat, as provided in Section 236.11(1)(b) Wisconsin
Statutes. When a plat is partially submitted for final plat approval, the remainder of the
preliminary plat shall remain valid for an additional 12 months from the date of
approval of the partial final plat. Subsequent final plat approvals which involve only a
portion of the preliminary plat shall extend the approval period for the remainder of the
preliminary plat for one year from the last date of approval.

d. The City Council shall not inscribe its approval on the final plat unless the City Clerk
certifies on the face of the plat that no objections have been filed within 20 days or, if
filed, that they have been satisfied, and the City Treasurer certifies that there are no
unpaid taxes or special assessments on any of the lands included in the plat.

e. Effect of approval: An approved final plat by the City Council shall serve as acceptance of
dedications if specified as such by the City Council, and if a performance bond/financial
assurance is provided and approved, preliminary acceptance of improvements. The final
plat approval shall not be an official acceptance of improvements by the public (city or
county) until such improvements are inspected and approved by the City Engineer or
designated county official and a resolution is passed by the City Council, in accordance
with Section 70.12.08 of this Ordinance. Once official acceptance of installed
improvements has been approved by the City Engineer on an affidavit or other
recordable document, the city may require a maintenance bond for said improvements,
if applicable.

(6) Recordation

a. Prior to the developer recording the final plat, the developer shall obtain all necessary
signed certificates as required by Wis. Stats., 236.21 and 236.25. After the final plat has
been approved by the City Council and required improvements either installed or a
contract and sureties ensuring their installation is filed, the City Clerk shall cause the
certificates inscribed upon the plat attesting to such approval to be duly executed and
the plat returned to the developer for recording with the County Register of Deeds at
the developer’s expense. The Register of Deeds shall not record the plat unless it is
offered for recording within 12 months after the date of the last approval, which is the
date of the last signed approval certificate, and within 36 months after the date of first

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 22 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

81



approval, which is the date of the first signed approval certificate, as required by Section
236.25(2)(b) of the Wisconsin Statutes.

b. The developer shall file a digital copy of the recorded plat in a form acceptable to the
City with the City Clerk. The City Clerk shall distribute copies of the recorded final plat to
City staff.

Section 70.05.04: Minor Land Division (CSM) Submittal, Transmittal, and Review

(1) Developer Submittal Requirements
a. A pre-application consultation as described in Section 70.05.01 of this Ordinance is
required for all CSM’s within the city limits with the Engineering and Zoning
Departments.
b. Before submitting a CSM, the developer shall complete an application and Land Division

Review Checklist. The Checklist is adopted by reference and represents the submittal
requirements of Article VI The developer shall prepare the CSM in accordance with this
Ordinance and shall file sufficient copies of the map, together with the appropriate fee,
and the completed application with the City Engineer at least three weeks prior to the
meeting of the Plan Commission at which action is desired. Electronic transmittals are
required for review. A hard copy with original signatures is required for obtaining a City
signature.

C. The developer shall submit an electronic copy of the CSM to the Wisconsin Department
of Administration for review if the provisions of Section 236.34(1m)(em) Wisconsin
Statutes apply, which relates to a land division of more than four lots on lands zoned for
industrial and commercial office and business park development as defined in Section
70.02.01(2) of this Ordinance

d. The developer shall submit an electronic copy of the CSM to the Wisconsin Department
of Transportation if the provisions of Section 236.34(1m)(er) Wisconsin Statutes apply,
which relates to the division of more than four lots specified above and all of the
following: the external boundary of a recorded plat is changing, and the CSM shows lots
that abut or adjoin a state trunk highway or connecting highway. Copies of the
transmittal letters or emails to the Departments shall be provided to the City at the time
the CSM is filed with the City Engineer.

(2) City Engineer Transmittal Requirements and Required Responses

a. The City Engineer shall transmit a paper or electronic copy of the CSM to all applicable
City Departments for review.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 23 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

82



(3)

The City Engineer, or designee, shall ensure that the City has completed its review
within the statutory deadlines established by Section 236 of the Wisconsin State
Statutes.

The City Engineer, or designee, shall forward the CSM to any other applicable entities,
such as the County Planning Agency, County Highway Department, County
Environmental Health Division, Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, or USACE.
These entities must respond to the City within 20 days of receiving the CSM.

City Plan Commission Review

The CSM shall be reviewed by the Plan Commission for conformance to this Ordinance,
and all other ordinances, laws, rules, regulations, and comprehensive plans and
components thereof as may be applicable.

The City Plan Commission shall review the CSM in a timeframe that allows the City
Council to act within 90 days of the date of filing of the CSM, recommend approval,
approval with conditions, or rejection of the map, and shall transmit the map along with
its recommendations to the City Council.

City Council Review

In accordance with Chapter 236 Wisconsin State Statutes, the City Council shall approve,
approve conditionally and thereby require resubmission of a corrected map, or reject
such map within 90 days from the date of filing of the CSM unless the time is extended
by mutual agreement with the developer. If the map is rejected, the reason shall be
stated in the minutes of the meeting and a written statement forwarded to the
developer. If the map is approved, the City Council shall cause the City Council President
and City Clerk to so certify on the face of the original map.

Failure of the City Council to act within 90 days, or any extension mutually agreed to
with the developer, constitutes an approval of the map and, upon demand, a certificate
to that effect shall be made on the face of the map by the City Clerk.

After the CSM has been approved by the City Council; the City Clerk shall cause the
certifications inscribed upon the map attesting to such approval to be duly executed and
the map returned to the developer for recording with the County Register of Deeds. The
Register of Deeds shall not record the CSM unless it is offered for recording within 12
months after the date of the last approval, which is the date of the last signed approval
certificate, and within 36 months after the first approval, which is the date of the first
signed approval certificate.

A CSM may be used for dedication of roads and other public areas, and for granting
easements to the public or any person, society, or corporation marked or noted on the

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 24 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

83



map, when owners’ certificates and mortgages’ certificates which are in substantially
the same form as required by Wis. Stats., 236.21 (2)(a), have been executed and the city
council, village, or town board involved have approved such dedication or grant.
Approval and recording of such CSMs shall have the force and effect provided by Wis.
Stats., 236.29.

e. The developer shall file a digital file in a form acceptable to the City and adequate copies
of the recorded CSM with the City Clerk. The City Clerk shall distribute copies of the
recorded final plat to City staff.

Section 70.05.05: Extraterritorial Land Division Submittal, Transmittal, and Review

No person, firm or corporation shall divide any land located within the 3-mile extraterritorial plat
approval jurisdiction of the City of Fort Atkinson without first filing an application and complying with
the standards of this Ordinance.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

Submittal requirements for land divisions within the extraterritorial land division jurisdiction of
the City shall be identical to the submittal requirements for land divisions within the city limits if
the land division is located within 1.5 miles of the City limits. For all land divisions that are
located greater than 1.5 miles, but within 3 miles, of the City limits, review is limited to the City
Engineer and City Manager. All fees shall be paid in accordance with this Ordinance.

The developer must comply with the land division ordinances of all approval authorities,
including the City, Town, and County.

The City Council shall not place their signature on a land division document unless the Town and
County have acted and provided their comments to the City. As a courtesy, all land divisions
shall be submitted to the Town prior to submittals to the City. The time-period within action is
required shall not begin until the Town, City, and County have received all maps, drawings, and
data required for plat approval.

The Plan Commission or Council may require placement of covenants or deed restrictions that
are deemed necessary and appropriate by the City Plan Commission or Council to protect the

purpose and intent of the City's plans and ordinances. Any such restrictions shall be placed on
the face of the certified survey map, remnant parcels, or subdivision plat.

Wherever connection to any utility of the City or other future public utility district (i.e. water,
sewer, lighting, etc.) is desired, permission for such connection shall be subject to review and
approval by the Plan Commission and City Council when conducted as part of this Ordinance.

Improvement requirements specified by the Town Board, City Council, or any special utility
district in matters over which they have jurisdiction shall be met before the final plat,
condominium or, if applicable, CSM is filed for signatures. The location and right-of-way width of
all roads within the City’s extraterritorial jurisdiction shall comply with the City of Fort Atkinson

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 25 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

84



Official Map. If a proposed road will connect to a road within the City limits, the proposed road
right-of-way shall have the same width as the road right-of-way within the City limits, if not
otherwise designated on the Official Map. The road improvement and public road requirements
do not apply to roads within the extraterritorial jurisdictional area. However, the City has the
authority to review the configuration of the land division and require road interconnectivity
where appropriate.

Section 70.05.06: Replats and Reconfigurations

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Vacate or Alter. When it is proposed to replat a recorded subdivision, or part thereof, so as to
vacate or alter areas within a plat dedicated to the public, or to change the boundaries of a
recorded subdivision, or part thereof, the developer or person wishing to replat shall vacate or
alter the recorded plat as provided in Sections 236.36 through 236.445 of the Wisconsin
Statutes. If the replat is proposing to change the boundaries of a recorded subdivision, or part
thereof, the developer or person wishing to replat shall then proceed as specified in Sections
70.05.01 through 70.05.04 of this Ordinance.

The City Engineer shall schedule a public hearing before the Plan Commission when a
preliminary plat of a replat of lands within the City is filed. The City Clerk shall file a Class 2
notice of the proposed replat and public hearing to be published and mailed to the owners of
record of all properties within the limits of the exterior boundaries of the proposed replat and to
the owners of all properties within 200 feet of the exterior boundaries of the proposed replat.

Reconfigure. An applicant wishing to reconfigure a recorded CSM shall create a new CSM and
proceed as specified in Section 70.05.04 of this Ordinance, provided the reconfiguration does
not result in a subdivision, no additional parcels are created, and no changes are made to areas
previously dedicated to the public or to a restriction or easement placed on the land concerned.

Change Boundaries. A CSM may be used to change the boundaries of lots and outlots within a
recorded plat or a recorded assessor’s plat under Section 70.27 of the Wisconsin Statutes if the
reconfiguration does not result in a subdivision. A CSM used to reconfigure lots within a
recorded plat may not alter areas previously dedicated to the public or a restriction placed on
the platted land by covenant, by grant of an easement, or by any other manner; or change the
exterior boundaries of a plat.

Changes to Condominium Instruments, including condominium plats, shall comply with the
requirements of Chapter 703 of the Wisconsin Statutes and be reviewed by the Planning
Commission.

Section 70.05.07: Condominium Submittal, Transmittal, and Review

Condominium instruments, including condominium plats, sealed by a professional land surveyor are
required to create a condominium or any amendments or expansions thereof, and are subject to City
review and approval in accordance with Section 703.115 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Condominiums and
associated plats shall comply with the requirements of Chapter 703 of the Statutes and the design

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 26 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

85



standards, improvements, and all other requirements, as applicable, of this Ordinance that would
otherwise apply to conventional subdivision plats and CSM’s with the exception of Sections 70.05.02
through 70.05.04, requirements for Subdivision Plats and CSM’s, if no new lots, parcels, or outlots will
be created as part of the condominium. Condominium instruments may not be used to create or alter
lots, parcels, outlots, public streets, or other areas to be dedicated to the public. Changes to recorded
condominium instruments to create, alter, or remove any condominium units, restrictions, or other
encumbrances on the land included in a condominium shall require City review and approval of a
correction instrument prepared in accordance with Section 703.095 of the Statutes. In accordance with
Section 703.27 of the Statutes, condominium projects shall be subject to no more restrictive rules than
non-condominium projects that are physically equivalent.

(1) Developer Submittal Requirements: The developer shall submit a condominium plat and all
associated documents and complete an application along with payment of the review fees. The
plat shall comply with Section 703.27 Wisconsin Statutes. The developer shall file an electronic
copy with the City Engineer, in a digital format as determined by the City Engineer, of the plat
for distribution to City Staff and the Plan Commission at least 30 days prior to the meeting of the
Plan Commission at which action is desired.

(2) City Engineer Transmittal Requirements and Required Responses: The City Engineer shall
transmit a paper or electronic copy of the Condominium Plat to all applicable City Departments
for review. The recommendation of City staff shall be transmitted to the City Engineer within 20
days from the date the plat is received for transmittal to the Plan Commission for consideration.

(3) City Plan Commission Review: The Plan Commission shall promptly review the plat, after all
comments have been received by City Staff, for conformance with this Ordinance and all
applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, and comprehensive plans and components of
such plans. The Plan Commission shall comment and recommend action to the City Council.

(4) City Council Review: The City Council shall promptly review the plat, after receiving a
recommendation from the Plan Commission, for conformance with this Ordinance and all
applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, and comprehensive plans and components of
such plans.

Section 70.05.08 Homeowner and Condominium Associations

Common areas or facilities within a land division or condominium shall be held in common ownership as
undivided proportionate interests, including future divisions or consolidations of subject lands, by the
members of a homeowners or condominium association, subject to the provisions set forth herein.
Upon additional land division or consolidation, existing proportions of interest will be adjusted
accordingly. If an association dissolves or ceases to exist, each property or condominium unit owner
within the development that is included in the undivided proportionate interest is responsible for
compliance with the provisions of this Section. The homeowners or condominium association shall be
governed according to the following:

(1) The developer shall provide the City with a description of the homeowners or condominium
association, including its bylaws, and all documents governing maintenance requirements and

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 27 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

86



use restrictions for common areas and facilities. These documents shall be subject to review by
the City Council and reviewed as to form by the City Attorney.

(2) The Association shall be established by the property owner or developer and shall be operating
prior to the sale of any lots or units in the subdivision or condominium.

(3) Membership in the association shall be mandatory for all purchasers of lots or units therein and
their successors and assigns.

(4) The Association shall meet at minimum annually. At least two officers shall be described.

(5) The Association shall be responsible for maintenance and insurance of common areas and
facilities.

(6) A Facilities Plan outlining maintenance and performance for stormwater infrastructure, drainage

areas, park areas, etc. shall be included, or separate documents referenced, in the submittal of
association documents.

(7) A Land Stewardship Plan for any common open space to be retained in a natural state shall be
included, or separate document referenced, in the submittal of association documents.

(8) The Members of the Association shall share equally the costs of maintaining, insuring, and
operating common areas and facilities.

(9) The Association shall have or hire adequate staff to administer, maintain, and operate common
areas and facilities.

(10)  The Subdivider shall arrange with the City Assessor a method of assessment of any common
areas and facilities, which will allocate to each lot, parcel, or unit within the land division or
condominium a share of the total assessment for such common areas and facilities.

(11)  The City must receive written notice of any proposed transfer of common areas or facilities by
the Association or the assumption of maintenance of common areas or facilities. Such notice
shall be given to all members of the Association and to the City at least 30 days prior to such
transfer. Such provision shall be included in the by-laws.

(12) In the event that the Association established to own and maintain common areas and facilities,
or any successor organization thereto, fails to properly maintain all or any portion of the
aforesaid common areas or facilities, the City may serve written notice upon such Association
and on each property owner within the Association, setting forth the manner in which the
Association has failed to maintain the aforesaid common areas and facilities. Such notice shall
set forth the nature of corrections required and the time within which the corrections shall be
made. Upon failure to comply within the time specified, the Association, or any successor
Association, shall be considered in violation of this Ordinance, in which case the City shall have

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 28 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

87



the right to enter the premises and take the needed corrective actions. The costs of corrective
actions by the City shall be assessed on the tax roll against the properties that have the right of
use of the common areas and facilities.

Article VI: LAND DIVISION SUBMITTAL SPECIFICATIONS

Section 70.06.01 Preliminary Plat Requirements

(2) Preliminary Plat Document Requirements

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

Title or Name. A name under which the proposed subdivision is to be recorded. Such
title shall not be the same as a previously approved and recorded plat, unless it is an
addition to a previously recorded plat and is so stated on the plat. All phased plats shall
include the word “Addition” in the title.

Contact information. Name, mailing address, email address, and phone number of the
owner, developer, and professional land surveyor or engineer preparing the plat.

“Preliminary Plat” label. The Preliminary Plat shall be clearly noted and labeled on its
face “Preliminary Plat.”

Inset Map. An inset map of the area concerned showing the general location of the
proposed subdivision in relation to U.S. Public Land Survey section and quarter-section
lines and abutting and nearby public streets and highways. The inset map shall be
oriented on the sheet in the same direction as the main drawing.

Location and Description of property. Location of property by one-quarter section,
section, township, range, name of city, county, and state.

Date, Graphic Scale, and North Arrow. All revision dates shall be noted. The scale is to be
no less than 1”:200’. The north arrow and bearing shall be referenced to magnetic, true,
or other identifiable direction related to a boundary line of the quarter section that the
survey is located.

Sheet numbers. At least one sheet shall show the entire development.
Dimensions in feet and acres. Dimensions for plat elements shall be provided in feet and

square feet. Lot and outlot sizes shall be provided in square feet and should include
acres.

(2) Preliminary Plat General Requirements (the illustration of the below requirements shall be
legible, multiple pages may be required):

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 29 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

88



(b)

(c)

(d)

(f)

(8)

(h)

(i)

Boundaries of the proposed subdivision. Length and Bearing of the exterior boundaries
of the proposed subdivision referenced to at least two corners established in the U. S.
Public Land Survey and the total acreage encompassed thereby. The lengths of lines
shall be given to the nearest 0.01 foot and bearings to the nearest one second of arc.

Boundaries of all civil divisions. Locations of all civil division boundary lines and U.S.
Public Land Survey system section and one-quarter section lines within the plat and
within 100 feet of the exterior boundaries of the plat shall be included.

Existing and proposed easements. True relationship between the boundary of property
and pedestrian and recreational ways, existing roads, and highways upon which they
may border. Identify all recording information.

Meander lines. Meander line bearing and distance along the bearing and distance from
meander line to water’s edge.

Adjacent land. The entire area contiguous to the proposed plat owned or controlled by
the developer shall be included on the preliminary plat even if only a portion of said
area is proposed for immediate development. Locations and names of any adjoining
subdivisions, unplatted lands, parks, cemeteries, public lands, and watercourses,
including impoundments, shall be included.

Existing and proposed lot lines. Dimensions and size of all lots and proposed lot and
block numbers. Lots, outlots, and blocks shall be numbered consecutively.

Setback Lines, including those proposed to be more restrictive than the regulations of
the zoning district in which the plat is located. If more restrictive setbacks are
illustrated, a reference of the source and purpose shall be noted on the plat.

Topography. Existing contours within the exterior boundaries of the plat and extending
to the centerline of adjacent public streets or highways, with preferably one-foot
intervals but not more than two-foot intervals. Elevations shall be marked on such
contours, referenced to a vertical datum approved by the City Engineer. Any rock
outcrops, ridge lines, and hilltops shall be noted. Show existing topography with
contours at 2-foot intervals, slopes, streams, springs, wetlands, ponds, buildings or
other features likely to affect the subdivision on or adjoining the property. All areas that
contain slopes of 20 percent or greater shall be clearly illustrated.

Soil borings and location of soil borings for high groundwater. In order to determine the
suitability of specific areas for the construction of buildings and supporting roadways,
soil borings and associated tests will be required for all new lots, unless the City
Engineer determines that fewer borings are required based on the area between lots
containing homogeneous soils with few limitations and elevation changes. The
information will be used to ascertain subsurface soil conditions and depths to bedrock

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 30 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

89



and to the groundwater table. The provisions of Section 70.03.05(2) shall be complied
with. The City Engineer may require additional soil borings and tests within the
proposed road right-of-way areas for the purposes stated above. The location of the soil
boring and cross-reference to the associated testing data shall be illustrated on the plat.

(i) Soil types. Soil boundaries as shown on the soil survey maps prepared by the U. S.
Natural Resources Conservation Service.

(k) Surface drainage patterns. The developer shall indicate the directions of drainage flows
for each property line not fronting on a street on all parcels and along each street as a
result from the grading of the site.

(1 Zoning districts. Show existing zoning districts, from county or city zoning maps, on and
adjacent to the proposed subdivision.

(m) Available and proposed utilities. Locations and size of proposed and existing water
mains, gate valves, gas mains, fuel tanks, septic tanks, well water sources, hydrants,
stubs, manholes, catch basins, sewer, communication towers, and electrical utility lines,
whether above or below ground. Connections should be symbolized and/or labeled in
such a way that they are clearly identifiable to the City Engineer. If no sewers or water
mains are located within or immediately adjacent to the plat, the nearest such sewers or
water mains that will be extended to serve the proposed subdivision shall be indicated
by their direction and distance from the nearest exterior boundary of the plat, and by
their size and invert elevations. All elevations shall be referenced to a vertical datum
approved by the City Engineer. No new private sewage systems will be allowed within
the City boundaries.

(n) Streets and right of way. Street names shall be labeled on the plat. Layouts and
dimensions for proposed and existing streets, highways, alleys, or other public ways,
bicycle and pedestrian/recreational ways, active and abandoned railway rights-of-way,
access-control and vision corner easements, and deed restricted areas within or
adjacent to the exterior boundaries of the plat. More information, including estimated
traffic counts, may be required at the discretion of the City Engineer. The City Engineer
has discretional authority to request a Traffic Impact Analysis.

(3) Additional Preliminary Plat Requirements, if Present:
(a) Outlots, conservation areas, and parks and open spaces, including proposed ownership.
(b) Public parks, open spaces, or common areas within or adjacent to the proposed

subdivision, potential open space connections between the proposed subdivision and
adjacent lands, and any land to be dedicated as public space.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 31 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

90



(d)

(e)

(f)

(8)

(h)

(i)

(k)

Existing structures. Existing buildings and structures shall be shown. Structure type, such
as residence, garage, barn, or shed, shall be identified. The proposed use of existing
structures to be retained shall be noted. All wells shall be shown within the exterior
boundaries of the plat, and beyond the boundaries of the plat if located within 100 ft. of
a proposed stormwater facility.

Historic, cultural, and archaeological features. The location and brief description of any
historic character of buildings, structures, ruins, and burial sites shall be noted.

Water/Wetland features. Location and water elevations at the date of the survey of all
springs, creeks, wetlands, lakes, ponds, rivers, streams, creeks, and drainage ditches
within the plat and within 100 feet of the exterior boundaries of the plat. The
boundaries of wetlands shall be as field delineated. The source and date of delineation
shall be noted on the face of the plat.

Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM). The OHWM boundary and elevation shall be
shown on the plat that has been determined by the DNR or otherwise determined
pursuant to law.

Floodplain limits. The boundaries of the 1-percent-annual-probability (100-year
recurrence interval) floodplain, reflecting flood stage elevations as determined under
the effective FEMA (Federal Emergency Management Agency) Flood Insurance Study or
other technical document, shall be shown.

Waterway access as required by § 236.16 Wisconsin Statutes.

Trees and other vegetation. All existing non-invasive trees that are 6” diameter at breast
height (dbh) or greater shall be identified by species, size, location, and health. Trees
located within an area proposed to be maintained in open space do not need to be
individually inventoried. The location and characteristics of any significant woodland
areas, hedgerows, and prairies shall also be shown.

Other natural features of significant public interest to be affected by the development
or improvements.

Private Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems (POWTS) and/or public wastewater
treatment and water supply. |dentify all private onsite or public wastewater treatment
and water supply existing or being proposed and to be reviewed by the City. Note: New
private wastewater treatment and water supply systems are prohibited. All existing
private sewage systems and private wells shall be abandoned within 12 months from
the recording of the land division. Therefore, a plan for septic and well abandonment
shall be submitted as part of the land division review process.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 32 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

91



(4)

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 33

(1)

Additional information and notations of any restrictions required by the Planning
Commission or other approving or objecting agency.

Additional Preliminary Plat Documents and Studies

The Planning Commission may require that the following additional information and studies be
provided when necessary for the proper review and consideration of the proposed land division
(If only a portion of a preliminary plat is to be approved, construction and improvement plans
only need to be prepared for such portion, but the design shall be based on the needs of the
entire area):

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Street Plans and Profiles: The City Engineer or Planning Commission may require that
the developer provide street plans and profiles within or adjacent to the exterior
boundaries of the plat. Plans and profiles shall show the existing ground surface and
proposed and established street grades and widths, including extensions for a
reasonable distance beyond the limits of the proposed subdivision when requested. The
plans and profiles shall comply with the standards of Section 70.08.07. All elevations
shall be referenced to a datum and the datum, plans, and profiles shall meet the
approval of the City Engineer.

Public Improvements Plan: Simultaneously with the filing of the Preliminary Plat of map,
the owner shall file with the City Engineer a concept report addressing:

1. Existing and proposed sewer and water service including mains, laterals, gate
valves, stubs, hydrants, manholes;

Drainage facilities, catch basins, curb and gutter improvements;

Pedestrian and Recreational facilities;

Electric, internet, and telephone systems including street lighting laterals;
Landscaping improvements;

Centerline profiles showing streets;

Park areas;

Existing POWTS and well water sources and plan for replacement;

Grading plan.

WO NOU R WN

Stormwater Management and Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan: Following
approval of the preliminary plat and prior to approval of the final plat, stormwater and
sedimentation control plans and specifications shall be submitted for review and
approval in accordance with Chapter 18, Article V of the City of Fort Atkinson’s Code of
Ordinances.

Covenants and Homeowners or Condominium Association Documents

1. A draft copy of any proposed Homeowners or Condominium Association
declarations, covenants, or other documents shall accompany the preliminary
plat. The proposed documents shall be subject to review by the City and be
reviewed as to form by the City Attorney.

EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

92



2. A draft copy of any proposed Land Stewardship Plan and/or documents for
proper management of the common open space in condominiums or
subdivisions shall accompany the preliminary plat. The proposed stewardship
plan and/or documents shall be subject to review and approval by the City and
be reviewed as to form by the City Attorney.

(5) Certification: The professional land surveyor preparing the preliminary plat shall certify on
the face of the plat that it is a correct representation of the exterior boundaries of the
proposed plat and all existing land divisions and features within and adjacent thereto; and
that the surveyor has fully complied with the provisions of this Ordinance and Chapter 236 of
the Wisconsin Statutes.

Section 70.06.02 Final Plat Requirements

(2) Final Plat Document Requirements:
(a) All requirements of Section 70.06.01(1) for Preliminary Plats, unless modified herein.
(b) The Preliminary Plat label shall be removed from the Final Plat and replaced with the

official name of the Subdivision Plat.

(c) Surveyor’s Certificate signed, dated and sealed and same revision dates on all pages.
(2) Final Plat General Requirements:
(a) All requirements of Section 70.06.01(2) for Preliminary Plats, except for subsections (h)

topography, (i) soil boring locations, (j) soil types, (k) surface drainage patterns, (l)
zoning districts, and (m) available and proposed utilities, unless designated through an
existing or proposed easement. Applicable rezone, conditional use, planned unit
development conditions shall be noted on the Final Plat.

(b) Survey monumentation as required by § 236 Wisconsin Statutes.

(c) Length and bearing of the centerline of all streets. The lengths shall be given to the
nearest 0.01 foot and bearings to the nearest one second of arc. The arc, chord, and
radius lengths and the chord bearings, tangent bearings, together with the bearings of
the radii at the ends of the arcs and chords, shall be given for all curved streets. Street
width shall be shown along the line of any obliquely intersecting street to the nearest
0.01 foot.

(d) Curve information. Include: radius, chord length, chord bearing, central angle, arc
length, and tangent bearing or direction if a nontangential curve, and show main chords
as dashed or dotted lines as set forth in Wis. Stats., 236.20(2)(k).

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 34 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

93



(3) Additional Final Plat requirements, if present:

(a) All requirements of Section 70.06.01(3) for Preliminary Plats, unless the City Engineer
determines that the feature is not required on the Final Plat. The tree and vegetation
inventory is not required to be shown on the Final Plat. However, if any of these areas
are required to be protected, the protection boundary and related restrictions shall be
specified on the Final Plat or a reference made to another restriction document.

(4) Additional Final Plat Documents

(a) Final Street and Profile Plans and Improvement Plans
(b) Final Stormwater Management and Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan
(c) Final Covenants and Homeowners or Condominium Association Documents
(5) Certification: The professional land surveyor preparing the final plat shall certify on the face

of the plat that it is a correct representation of the exterior boundaries of the proposed plat
and all existing land divisions and features within and adjacent thereto; and that the surveyor
has fully complied with the provisions of this Ordinance and Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin
Statutes.

Section 70.06.03 CSM Requirements

The map shall show correctly on its face, in addition to the information required by Section 236.34 of
the Wisconsin Statutes, the following:

(2) CSM Document Requirements: All requirements of Section 70.06.02(1) for Final Plats, except
that all references to Final Plat shall be replaced with Certified Survey Map, including the
“Certified Survey Map” label. The Certified Survey Map shall be clearly noted and labeled on its
face “Certified Survey Map”.

(2) CSM General Requirements: All requirements of 70.06.02(2) for Final Plat.

(3) Additional CSM Requirements, if present: All requirements of Section 70.06.01(3) for Preliminary
Plats, unless the City Engineer determines that the feature is not required on the CSM. A tree
and vegetation inventory may be shown on a separate document and is not required to be
shown on the CSM. However, if any of these areas are required to be protected, the protection
boundary and related restrictions shall be specified on the CSM or a reference made to another
restriction document.

(4) CSM Documents and Studies: The City Engineer or Planning Commission may require that
additional information and studies be provided when necessary for the proper review and
consideration of the proposed land division.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 35 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

94



(5) Certification: The professional land surveyor preparing the CSM shall certify on the face of
the CSM that it is a correct representation of the exterior boundaries of the proposed plat
and all existing land divisions and features within and adjacent thereto; and that the surveyor
has fully complied with the provisions of this Ordinance and Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin
Statutes.

Article VII: SUBDIVISION DESIGN STANDARDS
Section 70.07.01

All plans and specifications for land divisions and condominium developments shall comply with the
design standards established herein and in other adopted City ordinances and the City comprehensive
plan. Plans and specifications shall also comply with design related requirements in Article XI, “Required
Improvements,” and Article Xll, “Requirements for Construction of Improvements,” of this Ordinance.

(2) Blocks

(a) General Requirements: The widths, lengths, shapes, and orientation of blocks shall be
suited to the planned use of the land; zoning requirements; the need for convenient
bicycle, pedestrian, and motor vehicle access; traffic control and safety; and the
limitations and opportunities of topography and other natural resource features.

(b) Length of Blocks: Unless approved by the Plan Commission due to topography and
emergency services are available, block lengths in residential areas shall not exceed
1,500 feet. As a general rule, blocks shall not be less than 600 ft. in length.

(c) Width of Blocks: Blocks shall not have less than sufficient width to provide for two
tiers of lots with appropriate depth between street lines. A single tier of lots may be
necessary to separate development from railroad rights-of-way or through traffic,
such as double or reverse frontage lots, or to protect natural resources.

(d) Pedestrian and Bicycle/Recreation Ways:

1. A sidewalk that is at least five (5) feet in width, or recreational pathway
between eight (8) —ten (10) feet if bicycles are also being accommodated,
shall be provided by the developer when deemed essential by the Plan
Commission, near the center and entirely across any block, which may also
include a midblock pathway, for the following reasons:

a. Provide safe and convenient pedestrian, bicycle, and other
recreational circulation

b. Access between lots, streams, lakeshores, park lands, or other
public areas.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 36 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

95



(2) Lots

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(8)

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 37

C. Access to schools, shopping centers, churches, parks, open spaces,
or transportation facilities.

2. These pathways shall be identified on the subdivision plat, CSM, or
condominium plat with a special restriction and in the development
agreement addressing long-term maintenance responsibilities.

General Requirements: The size, shape, and orientation of lots shall be appropriate
for the location of the land division and for the type of development and use
contemplated. The lots should be designed to provide an aesthetically pleasing
building site, and a proper architectural setting for the buildings contemplated. Lot
lines shall follow municipal boundary lines rather than cross them.

Side Lot Lines shall be at right angles to straight street lines or radial to curved street
lines on which the lots face, unless a non-conventional lot layout is approved by the
Plan Commission.

Double or Reverse Frontage Lots shall be prohibited except where necessary to
provide separation of residential development from arterial or collector streets or to
overcome specific disadvantages of topography and orientation.

Public Street Frontage. Every lot shall front or abut for a distance of at least 30 feet
on a public street for access or as required in the City of Fort Atkinson Zoning
Ordinance (Also see Section 70.08.01).

The Area and Dimensions of Lots shall conform to the requirements of the City of Fort
Atkinson Zoning Ordinance. Lots shall contain sufficient area to permit compliance
with all required setbacks, including those set forth in the City of Fort Atkinson Zoning
Ordinance and those that may be required to meet the requirements of Chapter
Trans 233 of the Wisconsin Administrative Code.

Re-divisions. Wherever a lot, parcel, or tract is subdivided into lots or parcels that are
more than twice the minimum lot area required in the zoning district in which the lot
or parcel is located, the Plan Commission may require that such lots or parcels be
arranged and dimensioned to allow re-division into smaller lots or parcels that will
meet the provisions of this Ordinance and the zoning ordinance.

Depth. Lots shall have a minimum average depth as defined in the City of Fort
Atkinson Zoning Ordinance. The typical lot depth in a land division should be
increased relative to the width of any buffer strips required along abutting arterial
streets, highways, and railways. Where applicable, the minimum lot depth shall also
be increased relative to the width of any required drainage easement,

EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

96



(h)

(i)

(i)

(k)

(1)

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 38

pedestrian/recreation way, or landscaped buffer strip along a front or rear lot line
(also see Section 70.08.06). Excessive depth in relation to width shall be avoided and
a proportion of two to one (2:1) shall be considered a desirable ratio, unless a deeper
lot is needed to protect natural resources or accommodate easements and buffers.

The Width of Lots shall conform to the requirements of the City of Fort Atkinson
Zoning Ordinance. Where applicable, the minimum width shall be increased
relative to the width of any required drainage easement, pedestrian/recreation way,
or landscaped buffer strip along a side lot line (also see Section 70.08.06).

Corner Lots. The width of corner lots shall be increased, as determined by the City
Engineer, beyond the minimum lot width required in the City of Fort Atkinson Zoning
Ordinance for lot widths less than 100 feet to allow adequate yards or building
setbacks from two street yards and to accommodate sufficient side and rear yards for
the intended use and any required buffers and easements.

Depth and Width of Commercial/Industrial Lots. Lot widths shall be adequate to provide
for off-street parking and service (loading/unloading) areas required by the use
contemplated and the City of Fort Atkinson Zoning Ordinance.

The Shape of lots shall be approximately square or rectangular, with the exception of
lots located on a curved street or on a cul-de-sac turnaround. Flag lots or easements
or other lot stacking techniques shall be prohibited, except where necessary to
accommodate exceptional topography or to preserve natural resources.

Lands Lying Between the Meander Line and the Water's Edge. The lands lying
between the meander line, established in accordance with Wis. Stats., 236.20(2)(g)
and the water’s edge and any otherwise unplattable lands, such as floodways, which
lie between a proposed land division and the water's edge shall be included as part
of lots, outlots or public dedications in any map or plat abutting a lake or stream. This
requirement applies not only to lands proposed to be divided, but also to all lands
under option to the developer or in which he/she holds an interest and which abut a
lake or stream as provided in Wis. Stats., 236.16(4). A subdivision plat or a CSM that
includes lots or outlots that extend to the water’s edge shall show on its face the
following statement: “Any land below the OHWM of a lake or a navigable stream is
subject to the public trust in navigable waters that is established under article IX,
section 1, of the state constitution”. Lands located below the OHWM of any navigable
water shall not be included in the total area of any parcel created under the terms of
this ordinance. Newly created lots with rivers, streams, or wetlands located within
the lot shall have a compliant and accessible building location in compliance with all
state and federal regulations.

For the purposes of this section, a CSM that shows an approximate OHWM as
determined by the surveyor shall state on the face of the map that the mark is
shown for reference only per Wis. Stats., 236.025.

EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

97



(m) Restrictions Prohibiting Development. Whenever a lot appearing on a subdivision
plat or CSM, or on a condominium unit on a condominium plat, is not intended to
be buildable, oris intended to be buildable only upon certain conditions, an
express restriction to that effect, running with the land and enforceable by the
City, shall appear on the face of the plat or map.

(n) Remnants of Lots. Remnant lots shall be included in the land division, unless the Plan
Commission decides that it is unnecessary because the remnant is an excessively
large area to include in the land division and the costs would be burdensome. The
minimum remnant acreage shall be at least 20 acres in size. A remnant parcel waiver
request shall be submitted to the City Engineer and shall include the reason for not
including the acreage in the land division and the proposed use of said land. If the
remnant acreage is part of a phased development, a concept neighborhood master
plan of the entire acreage is required.

Article VIII: ROAD DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS

Section 70.08.01 Street Principles and Arrangements

(1)

General: In any new land division or condominium, the street layout shall conform to the
arrangement, width, type, and location indicated on the adopted City Official Map, or as
indicated in the adopted City comprehensive plan. In areas for which such plans have not been
completed, or are of insufficient detail, the street layout shall recognize the functional
classification of the various types of streets and shall be developed and located in proper
relation to existing and proposed streets, to the topography, to such natural features as
streams and existing trees, to public convenience and safety, to the proposed use of the land to
be served by such streets, and to the most advantageous development of adjoining areas. Road
systems shall comply with the requirements of Chapter 236 Wisconsin Statutes and be designed
to permit efficient drainage and utility systems and shall consist of only the minimum number of
roads necessary to provide convenient and safe access to property.

Connection to Adjacent Lands. Proposed streets shall be extended to the boundary lines of the tract to
be subdivided so that the entire area can be served with a coordinated public road system, unless a
specific exemption is granted by the Plan Commission.

(2)

(3)

Connection to State Highway. All roads connecting into state highways must be designed and
constructed in compliance with the WISDOT Access Management Plan, Chapter 7, Section 5 of
the WDOT FDM. The width of right-of-way is to be provided so that all underground utilities can
be located within the right-of-way or designated utility easement.

Frontage. In accordance with Section 15.04.10(2) of the Zoning Ordinance, each lot shall have
satisfactory frontage on a public street, unless the land is outside of the City limits. In such case,
the Town may permit private streets with a reserved right-of-way that meets City standards.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 39 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

98



(4) Street Classifications. Streets shall be required and classified by the City Engineer in accordance
with the City's Comprehensive Plan and Official Map, and where not identified, in accordance
with sound engineering standards, into the classifications indicated below:

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(8)

Arterial Streets. Arterial streets shall provide ready access to centers of employment,
centers of governmental activity, community shopping areas, community recreation,
and points beyond the boundaries of the community. They shall also be properly
integrated with and related to the existing and planned system of arterial streets and
highways and shall be, insofar as practicable, continuous and in alignment with existing
or planned streets with which they are to connect.

Collector Streets. Collector streets shall be arranged so as to provide ready collection of
traffic from residential areas and conveyance of this traffic to the arterial street and
highway system and shall be properly related to the arterial streets to which they
connect.

Local/Minor Streets. These streets shall be arranged to conform to the topography, to
discourage use by through traffic, to permit the design of efficient storm and sanitary
sewerage systems, and to require the minimum street area necessary to provide safe
and convenient access to abutting property.

Half-way Streets or Alleys. Wherever there exists adjacent to the tract to be subdivided
a dedicated or platted and recorded half-width street or alley, the other half-width of
such street or alley shall be platted. Half-way streets in new subdivisions shall not be
permitted. Alley specifications are listed in Section 70.08.03.

Dead-end Streets and Cul-de-sacs. Dead-end streets or cul-de-sacs will be approved
where necessitated by the existence of floodplain, wetland, unusual shape, size,
location, or topography or where, in the opinion of the Commission, they are
appropriate to the type of development contemplated. Specifications are listed in
Section 70.08.04.

Streets located in the extraterritorial plat jurisdiction of the City shall provide for the
dedication of the minimum widths of right-of-way in accordance with the standards
adopted by the pertinent Town government in which the project is located. Other
streets within the extraterritorial plat jurisdiction of the City shall meet or exceed the
town road standards of Sec. 86.26, Wis. Stats.

(2) Arterial Street and Highway Protection. Whenever an existing or planned arterial street or
highway is located adjacent to or within a proposed land division or condominium, adequate
protection of residential lots, limitation of access to the arterial street or highway, and
separation of through and local traffic shall be provided through the use of alleys, frontage
streets, or cul-de-sac or loop streets. A restricted non-access easement along any property line

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 40 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

99



abutting an arterial street or highway may be required in accordance with the provisions of
Section 70.08.06. Permanent screening or landscape plantings may be required in any restricted
non-access area.

(3) Development Control or Reserve Strips. These strips of land shall not be allowed on any plat or
CSM to control access to streets or alleys, except where control of such strips is placed with the
City under conditions approved by the Plan Commission, Jefferson County, or State Highway
Department having jurisdiction.

(4) Commercial and Industrial Development.

(a) Roads and other access ways shall be planned to coordinate with the groups of buildings
and the location of rail facilities. Access ways, truck loading and maneuvering areas,
including walks and parking areas, shall be provided to minimize conflict of movement
between the various types of traffic, including pedestrian and recreational. Sidewalks
shall be constructed in accordance with the ADA and all other applicable regulations.

(b) Roads serving business developments and accessory parking areas shall be planned to
connect with arterial roads so as not to generate traffic on residential roads. The
intersection of parking lot driveways with arterial or collector roads shall be located so
as to cause the least possible interference with traffic movement on those roads.

(c) In industrial subdivisions, roads shall be planned to serve industrial areas exclusively and
shall connect with arterial or principal collector roads so that no industrial traffic will be
directed onto any residential roads.

(13) Loading Zones: Access shall be provided in commercial, industrial, and mixed-use areas for off-
street loading/unloading and service areas.

(14)  Street Names: Existing streets shall be named in accordance with Chapter 90.41. All new street
names shall be approved by the City and shall not duplicate or be similar to existing street
names elsewhere in the City, unless the proposed streets are extensions or continuations of
others already in existence and, therefore, shall bear the names of the existing streets. The
following descriptions shall be used only in the situations indicated:

(a) Boulevard. A street with a divided pavement, either existing or planned. If the divided
pavement ends but the street continues, the same street name and suffix shall
continue.

(b) Lane. To be limited to a street, one (1) block long, not ending in a cul-de-sac.

(c) Circle. To be limited to a cul-de-sac of nine (9) lots or more.

(d) Court. To be limited to a cul-de-sac of eight (8) lots or less.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 41 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

100



(15)

(16)

(17)

(e) Parkway. To be limited to a street abutting a park or greenway or creek.

Drainage: Roads shall be designed so that building sites are at grades that facilitate optimum
drainage patterns.

Boulevards and Roadways Islands. Boulevards and roadway islands shall meet City approval
with regard to ADA compliance. No portion of the roadway island or median shall be located
within county highway right-of-way unless approved by the County Highway Department.

Dedication: The developer shall dedicate land and improve streets as provided in this Ordinance
and in accordance with Section 70.12.08.

Section 70.08.02 General road design standards

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

Horizontal Curves. When connecting street lines deflect from each other at any one (1) point by
more than five (5) degrees, they shall be connected by a curve with a radius of not less than one
hundred (100) feet on local streets, three hundred (300) feet on collector streets, and five
hundred (500) feet on arterial streets.

Visibility. Streets shall afford maximum visibility and safety for motorist, bicycle, and pedestrian
use and shall intersect at right angles, where practicable. A minimum sight distance with clear
visibility, measured along the centerline, shall be provided of at least five hundred (500) feet on
major thoroughfares, two hundred (200) feet on collector-distributor streets, and one hundred
twenty (120) feet on all other streets.

Tangents. A tangent at least one hundred (100) feet long shall be required between reverse
curves on arterial and collector streets.

Street Grades. Street grades shall be established wherever practicable so as to avoid excessive
grading, the indiscriminate removal of ground cover and tree growth, and general leveling of the
topography. The grade of all City roads shall not exceed twelve percent (12%) unless approved
by the City Engineer and Fire Chief. The minimum grade of all streets shall be five-tenths
percent (.5%) unless drainage is accommodated with approval by the City Engineer.

Vertical Curves. All changes in street grades for arterials and changes in street grades for
collector and local streets where the algebraic difference in the rate of grade exceeds one
percent (1%) shall be connected by vertical curves. All local roads shall have a minimum “K”
value of 15 and all arterial and collector streets shall have a minimum “K” value of 30.

Crowns. Unless otherwise approved, roadway pavements shall be designed with a centerline
crown. Offset crowns or continuous cross-slopes may be utilized upon approval of the City
Engineer. Alley pavements shall be “V”-shaped, with a centerline gutter for drainage. The
minimum design grade of street crowns shall be three percent.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 42 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

101



(7) Floodplains. New or reconstructed streets passing through floodplains shall be designed at or
above the base flood elevation so they are not flooded by overflow of streams, rivers, or lakes
during a 1-percent-annual-probability (100- year recurrence interval) flood event unless an
alternative access is provided by streets located outside of such floodplains. All requirements
of the floodplain ordinance shall be met. Arterial streets and highways under County, State,
or Federal jurisdiction shall meet the floodplain requirements of the government agency
having jurisdiction.

(8) Bridges and Culverts. All new and replacement bridges and culverts over navigable
waterways, including pedestrian and other minor bridges, shall be designed so as to
accommodate the peak rate of discharge of a 1-percent-annual-probability (100-year
recurrence interval) flood event without raising the peak stage, either upstream or
downstream, established by FEMA. Flood stage increases may be acceptable for reaches
having topographic or land use conditions that could accommodate the increased stages
without creating additional flood damage potential upstream or downstream of the proposed
structure, provided flood easements or other appropriate legal arrangements have been
made with all affected units of government and property owners and local zoning ordinances
affected by the increase in the flood stage are amended. Bridges and culverts shall be so
designed and constructed as to facilitate the passage of ice flows and other debris.

New and replacement bridges shall be constructed in accordance with applicable State
regulations and hydraulic analyses evaluating the effect, if any, of the bridge on 1-percent-
annual-probability flood stages shall be submitted to the DNR, excluding ordinary maintenance
repair or resurfacing of such bridges, to assure compliance with floodplain zoning requirements.

Section 70.08.03 Alley standards

(2) Alleys are allowed in the rear of lots zoned SR-7, or as otherwise deemed appropriate as part of
a Planned Unit Development in accordance with the Zoning Ordinance, or as may be amended
or required by the Plan Commission.

(2) Alleys shall be provided in all commercial and industrial districts, except that the Plan
Commission may waive this requirement where other definite and assured provisions are made
for service access, such as off-street loading and parking, consistent with and adequate for the
uses proposed.

(3) The width of alleys shall be not less than 14 feet with a 20 ft. right-of-way, including 3 ft.
concrete gutters and a pan section.

(4) Newly constructed alleys shall consist of an 8-in. Portland cement concrete pavement, or an 8-
in. waterbound macadam base with a 3-in. plant mix bituminous concrete wearing surface.

(5) Abutting property owners shall be assessed for and be responsible for making payments for any
required future maintenance as deemed necessary by the City.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 43 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

102



(6)

(7)

Dead end alleys are prohibited except under very unusual circumstances, and crooked and "T"
alleys shall be discouraged. Where dead end alleys are unavoidable, they shall be provided with
adequate turnaround facilities at the dead end and shall be designed and constructed per
requirements established by the City Engineer.

Alleys shall be designed to discourage through traffic for the purpose of shortening a traffic
route. Alleys are intended to be designed for use by the occupants of the properties adjacent to
said alleys.

Section 70.08.04 Cul-de-sac and dead-end street standards

(1)

(2)

(4)

Dead-end streets must terminate with a cul-de-sac, unless excepted herein. Cul-de-sacs are
discouraged, and if approved, the length shall not be longer than 500 feet unless a specific
exemption is provided by the Planning Commission. In commercial/industrial parks, cul-de-sacs
shall not be longer than 1,300 feet. The length shall be measured on its centerline from the
connecting centerline intersection to the center of the cul-de-sac. If the Plan Commission
approves a cul-de-sac that exceeds the length requirements of this section, provisions shall be
made for adequate emergency access and water main configuration. Dead-end streets and cul-
de-sacs shall not be used as part of a traditional neighborhood design (TND), but may be
considered in a conservation subdivision to protect natural features.

The diameter of a permanent cul-de-sac shall be not less than 120 feet. It is recommended that
the roadway within the turn-around should have a 100-foot diameter paved driving surface with
a 10-foot shoulder.

Temporary cul-de-sacs or "T" turnarounds are required at the property line where a roadway
will not be immediately completed as a through road. Temporary turnarounds must be
connected and extended when the adjoining property is developed, and the cul-de-sac shall be
removed and restored with vegetation at the expense of the developer of the adjoining property.
All necessary improvements required as part of the road extension shall also be made at the
expense of the developer of the adjoining property, including curb and gutter, driveway
modifications to adjoining lots, and the accommodation of drainage. A temporary cul-de-sac with a
100 ft. diameter bulb is required if six or more lots abut the cul-de-sac. A “T” turnaround is
acceptable if there are five or less lots. If the right-of-way for the temporary turnaround is wider
than 60 feet, then the wider “bump-out” portion shall be a temporary easement that shall be
automatically removed when the subject road is extended. All restoration and new road
construction shall be completed in accordance with this section and the provisions of Section
70.11.05 of this Ordinance. Required front yards or building setbacks would be measured from the
street right-of-way that is to be permanently dedicated.

If a dead-end road extends only the depth of the corner lot past a road intersection, no
turnaround will be required.

Section 70.08.05 Intersection standards

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 44 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

103



(1) There shall be a minimum separation of 300 ft. on local roads and 500 ft. on collector roads
between centerlines of collector streets between intersections on city roads. Jefferson County
will dictate intersection separation requirements on County Highways and Wisconsin
Department of Transportation will dictate intersection separation requirements on State
Highways.

(2) Roads shall be laid out to intersect at 90 degrees. A proposed intersection to two new roads at
an angle of less than 70 degrees shall not be acceptable. Not more than 2 roads shall intersect
at any one point unless specifically approved by the Plan Commission.

(3) Proposed new intersections along one side of an existing road shall coincide with any existing
intersections on the opposite side of such road. Road jogs with centerline offsets of less than
125 feet shall not be permitted. Where roads intersect major roads, their alignment shall be
continuous.

(4) Intersections shall be approached on all sides by grades not to exceed three percent for a
distance of no less than 100 feet from the property or right-of-way lines of said intersection,
unless exceptional topography would prohibit these grades. The location of street intersections
immediately below the crest of hills shall be avoided.

(5) Where any road intersection will involve earth banks or existing vegetation inside any lot corner
that would create a traffic hazard by limiting visibility, the developer at the direction of the city,
shall cut such ground and/or vegetation (including trees) in connection with the grading of the
public right-of-way to the extent deemed necessary to provide adequate sight distance as
required in Section 15.06.05 of the Zoning Ordinance.

(6) Property lines at street intersections shall be rounded with a minimum radius of fifteen (15)
feet, except that with all intersections with arterial and collector streets the radius shall be
increased to twenty-five (25) feet or of a greater radius when required by the City Engineer. This
provision may be waived by the City Engineer if deemed unnecessary.

(7) Vision Corner Easement. At any intersection determined by the City Engineer, restricted
development easements or additional street right-of-way shall be platted to provide for
adequate sight distances in every direction of travel. The provisions of Section 15.06.05 of the
Zoning Ordinance shall be met. The restrictions shall be noted on the face of the land division
map.

Section 70.08.06 Limited Access Highway and Railroad Right-of-Way Treatments

(1) Non-Access Easement and Planting Area. When lots within a proposed land division or
condominium back upon the right-of-way of an existing or planned limited access highway
or railroad, a non-access easement and planting area (sometimes called a landscaped buffer
yard or strip) at least 30 feet in depth and/or width shall be provided adjacent to the
highway or railroad right-of-way. The minimum lot depth and/or width required by the

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 45 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

104



(2)

(3)

zoning ordinance shall be increased where applicable by 30 feet to accommodate the non-
access easement and planting area. The design of the planting area, including fences and
walls, shall be similar or compatible with the character of adjacent properties. This non-
access easement and planting area shall be a part of all lots adjacent to applicable rights-of-
way and shall have the following restriction lettered on the face of the plat or certified
survey map: "This area is reserved for the planting of trees and shrubs. Pedestrian, bicycle,
and other recreation trail facilities and access may be allowed. No motor vehicle access shall
be permitted across this area, except those for personal assistance mobility devices for
individuals with mobility disabilities. The building of structures, except fences or walls for
screening or buffering purposes and public or private utility structures, is prohibited
hereon." The landscape requirements of Section 15.08.30(3) of the Zoning Ordinance shall
be met.

Streets Parallel to a Limited Access Highway or railroad right-of-way, when intersecting an
arterial or collector street which crosses said highway, shall be located at a minimum
distance of 250 feet from said street or railroad right-of-way or at a distance as determined
by the City Engineer. Such distance, where desirable and practicable, shall be determined
with due consideration of the minimum distance required for the future separation of
grades by means of desirable approach gradients.

Land Access Streets immediately adjacent and parallel to arterial streets and railroad rights-
of-way shall be avoided in residential areas.

Section 70.08.07 Preparation, Construction and Dedication of Public Streets and Roads

(1)

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 46

General Requirements

(b) Construction and Materials. All roadway construction and materials used shall be
performed in accordance with the construction methods as listed in the appropriate
sections of the "State of Wisconsin Department of Transportation Standard

Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction"” and its supplements, and this Chapter,
whichever is more restrictive. The design requirements of this Ordinance and the City of
Fort Atkinson Standard Specifications for Construction of City-owned Infrastructure shall
be applicable to all streets and roads that are to be dedicated to the City, regardless of

whether such streets or roads are part of a new subdivision or land division. Design
requirements for the pavement shall be adequate for the zoning classification of the
area served by the subject street. A street which divides areas with different zoning
classifications shall be constructed in accordance with the requirements of the area

requiring the higher quality pavement. Any variation of this must have prior approval of

the City Engineer.

(b) Project Costs. All roadway surveys, dedications, plans and specifications and
construction will be at the expense of the applicant or applicants. This includes any

EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

105



(d)

(e)

(f)

expense incurred by the City in the preparation of plans and review and inspection of
plans and construction.

Preliminary Consultation. Prior to the design, preparation and construction of any
roadway to be dedicated to the City of Ft. Atkinson, the applicant shall notify the City
Engineer. An on-site meeting will then be arranged to be attended by the City Engineer
and the applicant. Plans must be provided in order for the City Engineer to check the
design and drainage.

Material Slips. Copies of material slips for all materials furnished for the road
construction projects shall be delivered to the City before the City approves the final
construction.

Required Inspections. Prior to the commencement of any street construction, the
developer shall notify the City Engineer, at least three (3) workdays in advance, as to the
nature of the work being done. The City Engineer shall be contacted for required
inspections during the following phases of construction. Any deficiencies found by the
City Engineer shall be corrected before proceeding to the next phase of construction.

1. Sub-base grading;

2. Crushed aggregate base course;

3. Concrete gutter, curb,sidewalks, recreational paths;
4, Bituminous surface course; and

5. Shouldering.

Tests of Materials. The City shall be provided with copies of test reports performed by
an independent testing lab indicating test results for material gradation, compaction
and soundness.

Pavement Samples. Samples of bituminous concrete may be taken by the City during
pavement construction operations for purposes of determining that the material meets
specifications.

(2) Construction Standards: All streets and highways constructed in the City or to be dedicated to
the City shall fully comply with the following construction standards, and shall be adequate for
the zoning classification or projected use of the area served by the street:

(a)

(b)

General. After completion of the underground utilities and approval thereof, the streets
shall be constructed. Unless excepted, building permits shall not be issued prior to the
installation of the street improvements and the approval of an individual lot grading
plan that conforms to the guidelines of the Master Grading Plan, as determined by the
City Engineer, or his designee.

Temporary Streets. Construction of temporary streets shall require authorization of the
Plan Commission.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 47 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

106



(c) Standard Street Improvements.

1.

Standard street improvements shall include street lights, crushed stone base
course, concrete curb and gutter, bituminous binder, surface course and
walkways.

The construction of standard street improvements can begin only when the
construction of underground utilities has been completed and mechanical
compaction test reports have been approved by the City Engineer.

Upon obtaining the written approval of the City Engineer the developer can
proceed with the construction of the standard street improvements. Standard
street improvements shall be installed to the boundary line of the subdivision
unless the street culminates in a cul-de-sac, the topography or other physical
conditions make it impossible to do so, or unless this requirement is waived, in
writing, by the Plan Commission.

(d) Roadway Base Standards.

1.

The developer must bring all streets and alleys to a grade established by the City
Engineer. All site work by City employees in determining grade shall be billed at
the City rate and paid by the developer.

Residential streets shall have a minimum ten (10) inch thick, compacted in-
place, crushed stone roadway base conforming to requirements of Gradation
No. 2 of Section 305 — Dense-Graded Base of "State of Wisconsin, Standard
Specifications For Road and Bridge Construction," latest edition.

On commercial, arterial or other heavy-use streets, as determined by the City
Engineer, a twelve (12) inch minimum depth base course shall be constructed
upon an inspected and approved subgrade, per City Standard Specifications and
WDOT Section 305.

In the case of commercial, arterial or other heavy-use roads, the City Council
may, in the alternative to the above standards, have the City Engineer provide
specifications for such roads after researching the site(s) and conducting a soil
analysis for separate pavement design analysis.

In any case, the City Council shall have the sole discretion in determining the use
and construction classification to be adhered to.

In all cases, the base course shall be compacted to the extent necessary to
produce a condition so that there will be no appreciable displacement of
material laterally and longitudinally under traffic and shall conform to line,
grades and shape shown on the approved plans, profiles and cross sections.
Compaction shall be to ninety-five percent (95%) modified Proctor ASTM D1557.
Testing shall be conducted by nuclear density meter or as otherwise approved
by the City Engineer.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 48 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

107



(f)

(8)

7. The developer shall furnish drawings which indicate the proposed grades of
streets shown on the plat and, after approval of those grades by the City
Engineer and adoption by the City Council, the streets shall be graded to full
width of the right-of-way of the proposed street to the subgrade elevations
shown on the typical cross-section. The grading is to be completed prior to
installation of utilities. All stumps and trees which cannot be saved, boulders
and other similar items shall be removed by the developer.

Roadway Subgrade Quality.

1. Contractor shall contact the City upon completion of the grading of the
subgrade of the roads and again upon completion of the gravel base course for
review and approval.

2. Contractor shall provide the equipment and perform a roll test of the subgrade
and again for the gravel base course as directed by the City. The City Engineer
shall inspect and witness proof roll test by a fully loaded dump truck.
Reconstruction shall occur where deflection is greater than 1/2 inch. All
reconstruction areas shall be tested again tests in the presence of the City
Engineer.

Roadway Sub-Base. Stable and nonorganic sub-base material is required. Unstable and
organic material must be sub-cut, removed and replaced with a suitable granular or
breaker-run material approved by the City Engineer.

Street Right-of-Way Dedication & Pavement Width. The minimum right-of-way and
roadway width of all proposed streets and alleys shall be as specified by the
comprehensive plan or component thereof, Official Map, neighborhood development
plan, and in accordance with plans and specifications approved by the City and, if
applicable, County. If no dimensions are specified therein, the minimum right-of-way
and roadway dimensions for arterial, collector, and local streets shall be as shown on
Table 1. A greater or lesser roadway width may be required by the City Engineer where
necessary to assure uniformity along the entire length of any street or to accommodate
a well-designed Planned Unit Development if approved in accordance with the Zoning
Ordinance. Narrow streets shall be reviewed carefully for safety, pedestrian
accessibility, and stormwater management. The thickness of the pavement shall be as
prescribed by the City Engineer, or minimum 4 inches bituminous asphalt or 8 inches
concrete.

Table 1: Required Cross-sections for City Streets and other Public Ways

Type of Street or Right-of-Way Width Roadway Width Requirement
Public Way to be Dedicated
ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 49 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

108



Arterial Streets

100 feet

As determined by the City

Engineer

Collector Streets

80 feet

2-lanes: 36-foot pavement (face
of curb to face of curb)

4-lanes: 48-foot pavement (face
of curb to face of curb)

6 to 9-foot terraces

5 to 10-foot
sidewalks/recreational paths

1-foot sidewalk buffers

Local Streets

60 feet

30-foot pavement (face of curb
to face of curb)*

*see subsection (g) above for
reduced width

8 to 10-foot terraces

5 to 10-foot
sidewalks/recreational paths

1-foot sidewalk buffers

Alley

20 feet

14-foot pavement

3-foot buffers

Cul-de-Sac without
Island*

*(Cul-de-Sac islands
are prohibited)

60 to 65-foot outside radius

45-foot outside curb radius
10 to 14-foot terraces

5 to 10-foot
sidewalks/recreational paths

1-foot sidewalk buffers

(h) Topsoil, Grass, Seed, Fertilizer and Mat. All disturbed areas (ditches, backslopes) within
the road right-of-way not provided with pavement and shouldering material shall be
restored utilizing six (6) inches of topsoil and good quality grass seed, and non-woven,

non-plastic straw mat.

(i) Drainage Improvements. All new roads and streets shall be provided with storm water
retention areas and storm sewers to provide for proper drainage.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022

50

EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

109




(k) Continuity and Transitions.

1. All street pavement widths on streets continued from previously developed or
platted streets shall, wherever practical, provide for the greater of either the
existing or required pavement type, width, grade and cross slope.

2. Where it is necessary to provide for a transition of pavement width and/or type
between new and existing streets, the transition shall occur in a safe manner at
an intersection. In width transitions, the ratio of the transition length to width
shall not be less than forty to one (40:1) unless the City Engineer determines
that special circumstances prevent use of such ratio, in which case the minimum
transition ratio shall be twenty to one (20:1).

()] Curb and Gutter. Combination concrete curb and gutter is required on all streets. Refer
to Section 70.11.06 describing requirements for curbs and gutters.

(m) Post-Construction Traffic Limited. No vehicular traffic shall be permitted on the
pavement for a minimum period of between twenty-four (24) and seventy-two (72)
hours following paving, as determined necessary by the City Engineer to protect the
new pavement.

Section 70.08.08 Private Streets

New private streets are prohibited in the City of Fort Atkinson, unless through a well-designed Planned
Unit Development if approved in accordance with the Zoning Ordinance. All new streets that will serve a
proposed land division, condominium, or other development shall meet the public street standards of
this Ordinance and be dedicated to the City. If a private street is proposed within the extraterritorial
limits of the City, the standards of Section 70.08.01(4) apply though the Planning Commission and City
Engineer may exercise discretion under 70.08.07(2)(g) in extreme circumstances.

Section 70.08.09 Private Driveways

(1) Along state and county highways, an access permit is required from the regulating agency.

(2) Curbs shall not be interrupted by openings for driveways or other access ways to private
property unless the number and location of such interruptions have been approved by the City
Engineer with consideration given to traffic safety, drainage, and site distance. Curbs and
openings shall be in compliance with Chapter 90 of the City of Fort Atkinson Code of Ordinances.

(3) The width of any driveway opening intended to afford access to commercial property shall not
be more than twenty-four (24) feet, unless otherwise prescribed by the City Engineer.

(4) Driveways shall be no less than the required width per the Zoning Ordinance and no more than
24 feet at any point within the public right of way and shall comply with the requirements of any
other ordinance regulating driveways adopted by the City of Fort Atkinson.

(5) Flag Lots as defined in this ordinance are prohibited. No more than two (2) lots can share a
single driveway. Any newly created lot that requires a shared driveway shall establish said

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 51 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

110



driveway in an easement that is recorded with Jefferson County Register of Deeds specifying use
requirements, costs, and long-term maintenance responsibility.

(6) Driveways shall not exceed a 12% slope unless approved by the Fire Chief and a permit is issued
by the City Engineer. If a land division or development includes steep slopes, the City may
require that a note with this restriction be added to the face of the recordable document that
creates the land division or development.

Article IX: Pedestrian and Recreational Ways

Section 70.09.01 General Standards

(2) Pedestrian and Recreation Ways may be required where deemed necessary by the Plan
Commission to provide adequate pedestrian, bicycle, and other recreational circulation or
access to schools, parks, shopping centers, churches, or transportation facilities, which may
include mid-block circulation where long blocks exist. Mid-block circulation may include
sidewalks / recreational paths between lots that connect interior roads or destinations or
additional road crossings where deemed safe and appropriate. Pedestrian and recreational
paths in wooded and wetland areas shall be so designed and constructed as to minimize the
removal of noninvasive trees, shrubs, and other vegetation, and to preserve the natural
beauty of the area. Paths that cross a wetland or waterway shall obtain approvals from the
DNR and USACE. Also see City’s Standard Specifications for requirements that may affect such
facility design.

(2) Pedestrian and Recreational Ways shall comply with Section 15.06.04 of the Zoning Code, this
Ordinance, and shall be located within a right-of-way, outlot, or public access easement.
Collector and arterial streets shall be designed for off-street bicycle/recreational paths rather
than promoting in-street bicycle lanes. Sidewalks/Recreational path widths shall be increased
to accommodate bicycles where appropriate. Typically eight (8) — ten (10) feet in width is
required to accommodate pedestrian and bicycle traffic.

(3) The grade shall not exceed five (5) percent. Where a sidewalk/pedestrian way runs along an
existing roadway with a grade that exceeds five (5) percent, the sidewalk/pedestrian way may
also exceed five (5) percent but shall be less than or equal to the existing roadway grade in
accordance with the Americans with Disability Act Accessibility Guidelines (ADAAG).

(4) A ramp shall be built at each pedestrian crosswalk in accordance with the ADA and all other
applicable regulations.

Section 70.09.02 Design Standards

Design specifications should be determined during engineering studies for specific street and highway
projects, and should be based on recommendations in the most recent edition of the “Guide for the
Development of Bicycle Facilities,” published by the American Association of State Highway and
Transportation Officials (AASHTO); the “Wisconsin Bicycle Facility Design Handbook,” and “Facilities
Development Manual,” published by the Wisconsin Department of Transportation; and the adopted City
comprehensive and or any existing or future component thereof, including bicycle plan components.
Signing, traffic control devices, and striping configurations for bicycle facilities should be provided in

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 52 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

111



accordance with the most recent edition of the “Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices,” also
published by AASHTO.

Article X: WATER, WASTEWATER, STORMWATER, UTILITY DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION
STANDARDS

Section 70.10.01: General Requirements

A professional engineer, licensed in Wisconsin, shall design any plans for public water supply,
stormwater and wastewater facilities.

Section 70.10.02: Water and Wastewater Design Requirements

(1) Water Supply. The developer shall provide evidence that potable water is available in
guantities and pressure sufficient to supply the development:

(a) All existing private water systems shall meet all applicable laws and regulations and
comply with Chapter 98 of the City of Fort Atkinson Code of Ordinances. Accordingly,
the private water system shall be properly abandoned within one year from the date
the land division or condominium plat is recorded. The restrictions and financial
obligations to ensure compliance will be specified in the Developer’s Agreement.

(b) All new development shall be served by city water. The developer shall provide a
complete water distribution system including a service connection to each lot or
dwelling unit with individual shut-off valves, including all units within condominiums.
Public water distribution systems shall meet the requirements of the DNR or other
appropriate water purveyor and shall meet the rules and regulations of the City’s
Standard Specifications and Chapter 98 of the City of Fort Atkinson’s Code of
Ordinances.

(2) Wastewater Treatment Systems. The developer shall provide evidence that a safe and
sanitary wastewater treatment system will serve the development.

(a) Only existing development can continue to be served by private on-site wastewater
treatment systems (POWTS). If an existing structure will remain within a
development proposal and that structure is served by a POWTS, the system shall be
inspected by Jefferson County for compliance with the standards set forth by the
Department of Safety and Professional Services (DSPS) and Jefferson County. Any
issues identified during the inspection shall be addressed to the satisfaction of
Jefferson County, prior to the development being approved by the City. An existing
POWTS must be properly abandoned and the property connected to the City’s public
sanitary sewer system within one year of the development being approved by the
City in accordance with Chapter 98 of the City of Fort Atkinson Code of Ordinances.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 53 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

112



The restrictions and financial obligations to ensure compliance will be specified in
the Developer’s Agreement.

(b) The developer shall provide public sanitary sewers to all newly developed lots or
dwelling units including lateral connections from the street right-of-way line of the

development to the public system at the time of development. Public sewer system

extensions shall meet the requirements and specifications of the City Engineer and
Chapter 98 of the City of Fort Atkinson’s Code of Ordinances.

(c) The developer shall prepare a plan and profile drawing and specifications for the
installation of water main facilities in compliance with City requirements and
specifications. The construction of water mains shall be sufficient to provide
adequate water service to each lot within the development and the required fire
flow protection to each hydrant.

(d) The developer shall assume the cost of installing all water mains eight inches in
diameter or less in size. If water mains greater than eight inches in diameter are
required to serve areas outside the proposed development, the excess cost shall be
borne by the City.

Section 70.10.03: Stormwater Design Requirements

(1)

(2)

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 54

General requirements: The developer shall construct stormwater management facilities,
which may include curbs and gutters, catch basins and inlets, storm sewers, road ditches,
open channels, infiltration facilities, storage facilities, and settling basins, including
bioretention basins with underdrains, infiltration trenches, and other green stormwater
infrastructure as may be required. All such facilities are to be of adequate size and grade to
hydraulically accommodate potential volumes of flow. Water quality and quantity
requirements of Chapter 18 Article V of the City of Fort Atkinson Code of Ordinances shall
be complied with. The type of facilities required and the design criteria shall be determined
by the City Engineer while considering the nature of the topography and discharge location
within and adjacent to the land division. Stormwater management facilities shall be so
designed as to prevent and control soil erosion and sedimentation and present no hazard to
life or property. The size, type, and installation of all stormwater management facilities
proposed to be constructed shall be in accordance with the plans and specifications approved
by the City Engineer. In addition to review by the City Engineer, the design and construction
of stormwater management facilities shall require review and approval of the DNR and be in
accordance with all other applicable laws and regulations.

All stormwater facilities that accommodate more than one lot shall be located in an outlot
that is held in undivided fractional ownership between all lot owners of the land division.
Drainage swales that accommodate flowing water from one area to another may be placed
in drainage easements. The long-term maintenance requirements shall be specifically
identified in the Stormwater Maintenance Agreement document that is required in Chapter

EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

113



18 Article V of the City of Fort Atkinson Code of Ordinances and all lot owners shall share an
undivided proportional interest in maintenance responsibilities.

(3) The developer shall assume the costs entailed in constructing stormwater conveyances,
infiltration facilities, and storage facilities necessary to serve the proposed development, to
achieve the intended level of control of nonpoint source pollution, and to carry the existing
stormwater flows through the proposed development. If larger conveyance, infiltration, and
storage facilities are required to accommodate flows originating from outside the proposed
development, or to avoid flooding attendant to increased flows downstream of the proposed
development caused not by the development but by preexisting development upstream, the
cost of such facilities shall be prorated in proportion to the contributing rates of flows, and
the excess cost shall be borne by the City or assessed against the tributary areas concerned.

Section 70.10.04: Other Utilities

(1) The developer shall cause gas, electrical power, and telephone and other communication
facilities to be installed, where available, in such a manner as to make adequate service
available to each lot or unit in the land division or condominium.

(2) All new private utilities shall be established as part of a utility easement recorded as a separate
document. Public utility easements may be established on the subdivision plat or CSM, but the
installation and maintenance provisions shall be identified as part of a separate document. The
purpose of the easements shall be clearly identified on the face of the land division or
condominium document. Existing easements shall be shown, but new easements cannot be
created, as part of a condominium plat.

(3) Facilities for distribution of gas, electric, telephone and other utility service located within a
new subdivision development shall be installed underground except where the City Council,
upon recommendation of the Plan Commission, finds that adverse soil conditions or
problems of utility distribution make such installation prohibitively expensive or impractical.
Transformers, junction boxes, meter points or similar equipment may be installed upon the
ground surface. Such aboveground equipment shall be placed in a visually unobtrusive
location from public view or a landscape screening plan shall be submitted for review. Any
landscape plan required for such aboveground equipment shall be submitted to the utility
for approval.

(4) Plans indicating the proposed location of all gas, electrical power, telephone, and other
communications distribution and transmission lines required to serve the land division or
condominium shall be approved by the City Engineer in order to ensure that there are no
conflicts with other required private or public improvements. These utilities are preferably
located along rear and side lot lines or in mid-block easements and should be designed to
avoid the location of facilities such a electric power transformers in the flow lines of drainage
swales and ditches.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 55 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

114



Article XI: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS

Section 70.11.01: General requirements

(1)

(2)

(3)

In accordance with the authority granted by Sec. 236.13 Wisconsin Statutes, the City of Fort
Atkinson hereby requires that, as a condition of Final Plat, CSM, or Condominium Plat
approval, the developer agrees to make and install all public improvements required by this
Chapter and that the developer shall provide the City with security to ensure that the
developer will make the required improvements. As a further condition of approval, the City
Council hereby requires that the developer be responsible for the cost of any necessary
alterations of any existing utilities which, by virtue of the platting or CSM, fall within the public
right-of-way.

As a condition for the acceptance of dedication of public rights-of-way, the City requires that
the public ways have been previously provided with all necessary facilities constructed to City
specifications, including, but not limited to, sewerage, storm drainage, water mains and
services, grading and improvement of the streets and other public ways, sidewalks,
recreational paths, street signing, street lighting and such other facilities required by the City
Council or that a specific portion of the costs be paid in advance as provided in Sec. 66.54(3)
Wisconsin Statutes.

Project Manager. The developer shall designate a project manager who shall be readily
available on the project site during the construction of the required public improvements. The
project manager shall be granted authority on behalf of the developer to make decisions
related to the construction of the required public improvements as they may arise during the
course of the construction. The project manager shall also be responsible for the scheduling
and coordination of the required work to construct the required improvements.
Correspondence with or verbal orders to the designated project manager shall have the same
authority as with the developer directly.

Section 70.11.02: Survey Monuments

The developer shall install survey monuments placed in accordance with the requirements of Section
236.15 of the Wisconsin Statutes and as may be required by the City Engineer.

Section 70.11.03: Grading, Erosion, and Sedimentation Control

(1)

(2)

Cut and filled lands shall be graded in accordance with grading plans and specifications
approved by the City Engineer. Slopes shall not be steeper than one vertical to three horizontal,
or the soil’s angle of repose, whichever is the lesser, and such slopes shall be covered with
permanent vegetation. To the extent practicable, grading shall be minimized. The City Engineer
shall review any proposed modifications to these provisions and the developer shall demonstrate
that the slope is capable of being stabilized with permanent vegetation and that the slope will not
result in adverse drainage on adjacent and nearby properties or the road.

After the installation of temporary block corner monuments or other survey control points
by the developer and establishment of street grades by the City Engineer, the developer shall
grade the full width of the right-of-way of all streets proposed to be dedicated in accordance
with plans and specifications approved by the City Engineer. The developer shall grade the

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 56 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

115



roadbeds in the street rights-of-way to subgrade. Any cut and filled lands immediately
adjacent to street or highway rights-of-way shall be graded and restored in accordance with
the approved plans and specifications.

(3) Streets, stormwater facilities, and lots shall be brought to finished grades as specified in a
Master Grading Plan approved by the City Engineer at the time of land division. The Master
Grading Plan shall illustrate all areas with existing slopes greater than 20%. The City Engineer
may accept the completion of an interim grading plan at the City Engineer’s discretion, if it is
the intent to use future excavated basement material as backfill. In such cases, the City
Engineer shall review the Interim Grading Plan and Master Grading Plan at time of land
division. The Master Grading Plan shall be referenced on the face of the Final Plat, CSM, or
Condominium Plat.

(4) All utility easements shall be graded to finished grade elevation, and no earth fill, mounds of
dirt, or construction materials shall be stored on such easement areas.

(5) Upon completion of all street and subdivision grading, the grades shall be checked and
inspected by the City Engineer to determine that the completed grading work substantially
complies with the approved plans. The City Engineer must transmit a written letter of
acceptance indicating such work is complete and in place.

(6) Grading shall not result in adverse drainage on adjacent properties or be a detriment to any
existing developed lands, either within or outside of the corporate limits.

(7) The topsoil stripped for grading shall be repurposed and all disturbed areas shall be restored
with a minimum of six inches of topsoil.

(8) All disturbed areas shall be matted and seeded or sodded so that erosion, siltation,
sedimentation and washing are prevented. The developer shall submit an Erosion Control Plan
along with the Master Grading Plan that specifies measures that will be taken to ensure the
minimization of erosion problems. Such plans shall meet the requirements of the Chapter 18,
Article V of the City of Fort Atkinson’s Code of Ordinances.

(9) The cost of all required grading work, supervision, certification, inspection and engineering
fees shall be paid for by the developer. The developer shall submit the estimated costs to the
City for review and approval. Said costs shall be referenced and become part of the
Developer’s Agreement required in Section 70.12.01 of this Ordinance.

Section 70.11.04: Street Surfacing

Following the installation, inspection, and written approval by the City Engineer of utility and
stormwater drainage improvements, the developer shall surface all roadways in streets proposed to
be dedicated to the public to widths prescribed by this Ordinance, the City official map,
comprehensive plan or component thereof, or neighborhood development plan. Said surfacing shall
be done in accordance with plans and specifications approved by the City Engineer and as specified
in this Ordinance.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 57 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

116



Section 70.11.05: Removal of Temporary Turnarounds

Where a land division abuts an existing temporary circular cul-de-sac or “T” turnaround and the City
Official Map or proposed development includes extending the street ended by said temporary
turnaround, the developer shall be responsible for the removal of the turnaround, reconstruction of the
curb and gutter, reinstallation of culverts, reconstruction of driveways, and restoration of all disturbed
areas, and removing or vacating any portion of the street containing a temporary easement if applicable
(see Section 70.08.04(3)). The City Engineer will determine if existing culverts, if any, may be salvaged
andreused.

Section 70.11.06: Curbs and Gutters

(1) After the Installation and the City’s inspection and approval of all utility and stormwater
drainage improvements, the developer shall construct concrete curbs and gutters in
accordance with plans and specifications approved by the City Engineer.

(2) Curbs and Gutters are required on all streets. Openings in curbs for drainage are encouraged,
upon approval of the City Engineer, to accommodate stormwater drainage and treatment
within the terrace. Wherever possible, provisions shall be made at the time of construction
for driveway access curb cuts in accordance with Chapter 90 of the City of Fort Atkinson Code

of Ordinances. If “butterfly”, “roll-face”, or “mountable” type curbs are installed, such curb
cuts may not be necessary.

(3) Curb Ramps or openings shall be installed, where applicable, in accordance with the
Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines, Section 66.0909 Wisconsin Statutes,
and as approved by the City Engineer.

Section 70.11.07: Sidewalks and Recreational Paths

(1) The developer shall construct a concrete sidewalk or asphalt path on one side of all frontage
streets and on both sides of all other streets within the land division or condominium in
accordance with Section 15.06.04 of the Zoning Code and Article IX of this ordinance. Off-
street paths or trails may also be required by the City. All such facilities shall be located within
a dedicated public right-of-way or a public access easement. The construction of all sidewalks
and recreational paths, including bicycle facilities, shall be in accordance with plans and
specifications approved by the City Engineer and adopted pedestrian, bicycle, park, or
recreational plans.

(2) Wider than standard sidewalks or recreational paths may be required by the City Engineer in
the vicinity of schools, commercial areas, and other places of public assembly.

Section 70.11.08: Development of Parks and Public Lands

(1) When park lands are dedicated to the City, the subdivider is required to:

(a) Properly grade and contour for proper drainage;

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 58 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

117



(b)

(c)

(d)

(f)

Provide surface contour suitable for anticipated use of area as approved by the City
Engineer; and

Cover areas to be seeded with a minimum of six (6) inches of quality topsoil, seed as
specified by the City Engineer, fertilized with 16-6-6 at a rate of seven (7) pounds per
one thousand (1,000) square feet, and appropriately mulched. The vegetation and
seeding plan shall be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer. The topsoil furnished
for the park site shall consist of the natural loam, sandy loam, silt loam, silty clay loam or
clay loam humus-bearing soils adapted to the sustenance of plant life, and such topsoil
shall be neither excessively acid nor excessively alkaline.

Utility Extensions. The subdivider shall install or provide for installation of water and
sanitary sewer lines to the property line of all dedicated land, where such services are to
be provided to the adjacent properties and as specified by the City Engineer. All park
areas shall be provided by the subdivider with a one and one-half (1%) inch water
service and a four (4) inch sanitary sewer lateral, all located at the street property line.
In addition, any park over five (5) acres shall be provided with at least one (1) fire
hydrant.

The subdivider shall be responsible for the costs and installation of public sidewalks
adjacent to public roadways and connecting existing sidewalk or recreational path
networks, as specified by the City Engineer.

Timing of improvements listed in this section to be established in an agreement with the
developer and as approved by City Council at the time the Final Plat, CSM, or
Condominium Plat is approved.

(2) It shall be the responsibility of the developer to maintain the dedicated areas until deeded to
the City at the time of the final plat or CSM approval. The owner of said land shall be responsible
for its maintenance and liability thereon except that said owner shall not develop the
surrounding area in a manner which would unduly depreciate the purpose, use or value of the
dedicated property.

Section 70.11.09: Street Lights

(1) The developer shall install public street lights along all streets proposed to be dedicated. The
Plan Commission shall approve the design and location of all street lights, which shall be
compatible with the neighborhood and type of development proposed, as well as
specifications of the City. Shielded luminaries with downward reflection, luminaries with
cutoff optics, LED or similar energy-saving luminaries, and careful fixture placement are
required.

(2) In lieu of or in addition to the installation of public street lights, the Plan Commission may
permit the installation of private light posts on each lot of a land division and at appropriate
locations within a condominium. The type and location of such light posts shall be approved
by the City Engineer and shall be maintained by the homeowners or condominium
association.

Section 70.11.10: Street and Traffic Control Signs and Signals

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 59 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

118



(1) The developer shall pay for the fabrication and installation of street name signage, which will
be designed and installed by the City at the intersection of all streets proposed to be
dedicated.

(2) The developer shall install or pay for the fabrication and installation of any traffic control signs
or signals identified during the review and approval process needed to control traffic
generated by the proposed land development. Traffic control signs and signals are subject to
review and approval by the City Engineer or the government agency having jurisdiction over
a street or intersection.

(3) The City Engineer has the authority to impose signage requirements on street improvements
that have not yet been accepted by the City in order to protect improvements from damage
and to protect the safety of the public. Such signage may refer to weight restrictions, street
closings, access restrictions, or the posting of temporary traffic control measures.

Section 70.11.11: Street Trees

(1) The developer shall plant street trees of a species approved by the Plan Commission of at
least three caliper inches. The total number of trees to be planted shall be based on one tree
for every 50 feet of frontage on all streets proposed to be dedicated and be spaced on
average about 50 feet apart. The required trees shall be planted in the area between the
sidewalk and curb in accordance with plans and specifications approved by the City Engineer
and all provisions of Chapter 102.83 of the City of Fort Atkinson Code of Ordinances and the
Acceptable Street Trees and Site Consideration for Terrace Tree Planting document on file
with the City of Fort Atkinson City Engineer and Arborist shall be complied with, including
location, site, and species requirements. Street trees shall not be planted on steep slopes,
unless in walled plant beds, and at bottom of swales.

(2) Trees shall not be installed within a vision corner easement, five feet from any sanitary sewer
service or water service, or 10 ft. of a driveway apron.

(3) The requirement for street trees may be waived by the Plan Commission if street tree growth
will be compromised by adjacent, existing trees. A landscape buffer or preservation
easement, with maintenance provisions, may be required to protect the landscaped areas in
perpetuity.

(4) Plans. The developer shall prepare a street tree planting plan that complies with the
standards of this Ordinance and Chapter 102.83 of the City of Fort Atkinson Code of
Ordinances for review and approval by the City Engineer. The plan shall set forth the location,
size, and species of each tree, and any other information required by the City Engineer. The
plan shall consider utility and civil plans in locating trees. Consideration shall be given to
signs, light poles, fire hydrants, driveways, and any other required structure that would
dictate where tree planting would be appropriate.

(5) Planting Requirements. Street trees shall be planted prior to the issuance of any Building

Permits and subject to the Developer’s Agreement and Financial Sureties specified in the
Ordinance. If the developer seeks approval for an alternative landscape plan by the Plan

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 60 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

119



Commission, the Plan Commission shall establish who is responsible for installation, timing
requirements, and financial responsibilities.

Plan Modifications. The developer shall include in the declaration of restrictions for the
subdivision a provision that requires the lot owners to remove, replace or relocate any tree
that requires relocation due to the lot owner's driveway location. The restriction shall
require replacement or relocation; and further, that if the lot owner fails to do so, the City
may do so and place the cost thereof on the tax roll if not paid, pursuant to the provisions
of Section 66.0627 Wisconsin Statutes.

Maintenance. The developer is responsible for maintaining the health of all planted street
trees for a minimum of two years. Trees must be accepted in writing by the engineer
following the two-year period.

Section 70.11.12: Landscaping/Preservation of Existing Trees

(1)

The developer shall install landscaping in accordance with landscaping plans and
specifications approved by the Plan Commission. If plantings are not installed prior to
approval of a final plat or condominium plat, a landscaping schedule shall be specified in the
Development Agreement and appropriate sureties shall be provided.

Maintenance of all landscaping included in an approved landscaping plan shall be the
responsibility of the property owner, or, for landscaping installed in common areas, the
homeowners or condominium owner’s association. Provisions maintaining such landscaping
shall be included in the homeowners or condominium association documents required under
Section 70.05.08.

The developer shall inventory all noninvasive trees with a trunk diameter of six inches or
greater and make every effort to protect and retain all existing noninvasive trees, shrubs,
grasses, and groundcover not actually lying in paved portions of public street rights-of-way,
drainageways, building foundation sites, private driveways, and pedestrian/recreational
paths. Trees shall be protected and preserved during construction in accordance with the
approved landscaping plan and with sound conservation practices, including the preservation
of trees by well islands or retaining walls, whenever abutting grades are altered.

Section 70.11.13: Improvements to Extend to Limit of Parcel or Lot

Any and all improvements or utility services required by this Ordinance for land divisions and
condominiums shall be extended to the farthest limit of the parcel or lot upon which a building permit is
requested unless the developer is exempted from meeting such requirement by the City Council after
considering a recommendation from the City Engineer and Plan Commission. In the event the
improvements are not required to extend to the end of the parcel or lot, the developer shall be required
to post a bond or other financial sureties with the City so they can be installed in the future, unless the
City Council agrees to waive or modify this provision and accepts partial or full responsibility for funding
future improvements that may be required to accommodate adjoining parcels or lots. The City Council
may also require that the financial burden be placed on the adjacent lot owner that would benefit from

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 61

EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

120



the road extension. The exact requirements and financial responsibilities determined by City Council
shall be specified in the Developer’s Agreement and land division document, where applicable.

Article XII: REQUIREMENTS FOR CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS

Section 70.12.01 Developer’s Agreement

A developer’s agreement shall be submitted for review prior to approval of any final plat, CSM, or
condominium plat for which public improvements are required by this ordinance. A developer’s
agreement supplements the requirements of the subdivision regulations, other applicable regulatory
requirements and the jurisdictional authority of other county, city, town, state or federal departments
or agencies. The developer’s agreement shall include any improvement requirements, phasing,
sequencing, and timing of improvements, as well as any sureties. A developer’s agreement needs to be
approved by the City Engineer and City Council detailing conditions and requirements to be agreed upon
between the developer and the City and recorded as a binding agreement. The initial agreement must
be approved prior to the start of construction after a Preliminary Plat has been approved. The final
binding agreement with any agreed upon revisions must be approved as part of the final plat approval
process with the City Council, when applicable. The approved final binding agreement shall be signed by
the City and the developer and be recorded with the final plat, CSM, or Condominium Plat.

Section 70.12.02 Improvement Plans

All necessary improvement plans for proposed roads, sidewalks/recreational paths, streetlights,
landscaping, traffic control improvements, storm sewers, sanitary sewer and water supply systems, and
drainage facilities shall be completed in accordance with the design and construction standards of this
Ordinance and be approved by the City Engineer prior to approval of commencing construction of said
improvements and prior to approval of the final plat. Final plat approval may be withheld if the
developer fails to comply with the approved improvement plan in any of the preceding plat phases.

Section 70.12.03 Performance Bond/Financial Assurance

The developer shall file an irrevocable letter of credit in an amount equal to one hundred twenty
percent (120%) of the contracted bid cost for required infrastructure improvements as surety to
guarantee that such improvements will be completed by the developer or his/her contractors no later
than eighteen (18) months from the date of recording the plat, certified survey map, or condominium
plat, unless a phasing plan is approved and made part of the developer’s agreement. The City has the
ability to extend the dates of the letter of credit, at their discretion. Required infrastructure
improvements may include:

Construction surveying and engineering;
Construction of roads;
Sidewalks/recreational paths;

Traffic control improvements;

Streetlights;

Landscaping and street tree plantings;
Storm and sanitary sewers and facilities;
Pumping stations and water supply systems;

ITOomMmMmoO®m>

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 62 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

121



Drainage structures;

Erosion and sediment control;
Restoration of land and site cleanup;
Any other related items.

— X = —

If a phasing plan is submitted with the development, the amount of surety shall be based on the
phase being proposed. No additional phases may begin until an adequate surety is submitted for that
phase. The City must be the beneficiary of such letter of credits.

As work progresses on the installation of below-ground improvements, the City Engineer, upon
written request from the developer from time to time, is authorized to recommend a reduction in the
amount of surety upon installation and successful testing. Reductions in the amount of surety will not
be made for above-ground improvements. In any case, the amount of surety remaining shall be equal
to one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the costs of work remaining to be completed and accepted
and to insure performance of at least one (1) year guarantee against defects in workmanship and
materials on work accepted. As a further guarantee that all obligations under contract for work on the
development are satisfied, the contractor and subcontractors who are to be engaged in the
construction of utilities or street improvements on the street right-of-way to be dedicated shall be
approved for such work by the City Engineer prior to commencing construction. The City Council, at its
option, may extend the bond period for additional periods not to exceed one (1) year each.

Section 70.12.04 Building and Other Permits

No zoning, building, sanitary, erosion control, stormwater management, or other permits shall be
issued for a structure on any lot not of record on the date of adoption of this Ordinance until all the
requirements of this Ordinance have been met as specified in the Developer’s Agreement.

Section 70.12.05 Inspection

The developer, prior to commencing any work within the land division or condominium, shall make
arrangements with the City Engineer to provide for inspection of right-of-way improvements and
grading within the development. The City Engineer shall inspect and approve all completed work prior
to release of the sureties. The City Engineer shall have access to the premises and structures during
reasonable hours to make those inspections as deemed necessary to ensure compliance with this
Ordinance. If, however, the City Engineer or an authorized representative is refused entry after
presentation of proper identification, he or she may procure a special inspection warrant in
accordance with Section 66.0119 of the Wisconsin Statues, except in cases of emergency where
immediate access is necessary.

Section 70.12.06 As-Built Drawings

If applicable, at the completion of the construction and before acceptance of improvements by the
City, the developer and/or the agent of the developer shall provide the City Engineer with “As-Built”
drawings for permanent record, showing the locations, sizes, and elevations of all improvements as
constructed.

Section 70.12.07 Acceptance of Improvements

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 63 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

122



The dedication of any improvements, utilities, streets, parks, easements, rights-of-way or other lands
or rights to the City or the public shall not be considered accepted by the City for public ownership
until such time as the required public improvements within the intended dedication have been
completed and the City Engineer has verified compliance with the approved specifications. The
developer shall be responsible for and liable for the maintenance, safety and operation of all required
public improvements until such time as the improvements are accepted by the City. In the event the
City must take measures to maintain, operate or make safe a public improvement which has not yet
been accepted by the City, the costs of such measures shall hereby be determined to be City-incurred
costs to be reimbursed to the City by the developer in accordance with the provisions of this
Ordinance. All fees shall be paid and a resolution passed by the City Council accepting all dedications.
Official acceptance may only occur with a signed and stamped letter from the City Engineer to both
the City Council and developer. This letter will signify an official end to the project and obligations,
financial and otherwise, of the developer to the public improvements.

Section 70.12.08 Indemnification

The developer agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City from and against any and all
liabilities, claims, causes of action (including negligence), fines, penalties and expenses of any nature
that arise, allegedly arise or are caused by the developer and the developer’s independent
contractors, employees or agents. The indemnifications shall survive the final completion of the
subdivision and release or expiration of any sureties.

Article XIl1I: ADMINISTRATION, FEES, ENFORCEMENT, & APPEALS

Section 70.13.01 Administration

The City Engineer shall be responsible for the administration and enforcement of this Ordinance and
may delegate duties to other City staff, except where specific authority is given to another municipality,
state, or federal office as set forth in this Ordinance.

Section 70.13.02 Fees

The developer shall pay the City all required fees before being entitled to record the subdivision plat,
certified survey map, or condominium plat.

(2) Administrative fees for the following are set by Resolution by the City Council and shall be
made at time of application:

(a) Preliminary Plat
(b) Final Plat
(c) Certified Survey Map

(d) Condominium Plat

(e) Reapplication Fee
(2) Park and public site fees in lieu of land are set by Resolution by the City Council.
(3) Professional review fees:

(a) The developer shall pay the City a fee equal to the actual cost to the City for any
engineering, planning, or legal work incurred by the City in conjunction with the

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 64 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

123



(4)

development review. Legal work shall include the drafting or review of contracts
between the City and developer and a review of developer’s agreements, covenants,
easements, and documents involved in dedications. The developer is held
responsible for all fees which will be payable upon invoice.

(b) The developer shall pay the City a fee equal to the actual cost to the City for any time
and materials associated with any plan and inspection review. The fees also include
any work related to the assurance that the construction of the requirement
improvements complies with the approved plans. The developer is held responsible
for all fees which will be payable upon invoice.

Appeal. The Developer shall have the right to challenge the amount of any fees of this
Ordinance, with the exception of administrative fees, by an appeal to the City Council. Upon
receipt of such an appeal, the City Council, upon due notice, shall hold a public hearing at
which the Developer and the City officials concerned can present their case. Based upon
review of relevant records and the testimony presented at the public hearing, the City Council
shall make a determination with respect to the fairness of the amount of the fees challenged
and shall make a determination to decrease, affirm, or increase the fees concerned.

Section 70.13.03 Enforcement

(1)

(2)

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 65

Violations

No person, firm, or corporation shall build upon, divide, convey, record, or place monuments
on any land in violation of this Ordinance or the Wisconsin Statutes. No person, firm, or
corporation shall be issued a zoning, building, street opening, or any other required permit
by the City authorizing the building or improvement of any subdivision, minor land division,
replat, or condominium within the jurisdiction of this Ordinance not of record as of the
effective date of this Ordinance, until the provisions and requirements of this Ordinance have
been fully met. The City may institute appropriate action or proceedings to resolve violations
of this Ordinance.

Penalties and remedies

Any person, firm, or corporation who fails to comply with the provisions of this Ordinance
or Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin Statutes shall, upon conviction thereof, face penalties as
set forth below plus any additional costs incurred by the City for each violation. Each day a
violation exists or continues shall constitute a separate offense. A forfeiture of no less than
$25.00 nor more than $500.00 for each offense, together with the cost of prosecution, may
be required by the City. A default of such forfeiture and cost of prosecution may result in
imprisonment in the County Jail of Jefferson County, Wisconsin, until said forfeiture and
costs are paid, but not to exceed thirty (30) days for each violation. Violations and penalties
shall include the following:

(a) Recordation improperly made carries penalties as provided in Section 236.30 of the
Wisconsin Statutes.

EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

124



(b) Conveyance of lots in unrecorded plats carries penalties as provided in Section 236.31
of the Wisconsin Statutes.

(c) Monuments required in accordance with Section 70.11.02 of this ordinance
disturbed or not placed carries penalties as provided in Section 236.32 of the
Wisconsin Statutes.

(d) Dividing a Lot or Parcel, or use if so divided, in a recorded plat or certified survey map
for purposes of sale or building development not in compliance with the provisions
of Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin Statutes, to any applicable ordinance of an approving
authority, or to the rules of the Wisconsin Department of Safety and Professional
Services carries penalties as provided in Section 236.335 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

(e) An Assessor's Plat made under Section 70.27 of the Wisconsin Statutes may be
ordered as a remedy by the City, at the expense of the developer, when a subdivision,
as defined in this Ordinance, is created by successive divisions.

Section 70.13.04 Appeals

Any person aggrieved by an objection to a plat or a failure to approve a plat may appeal such objection
or failure to approve, as provided in Sections 236.13(5) and 62.23(7)(e) of the Wisconsin Statutes,
within 30 days of notification of the rejection of the plat. Where failure to approve is based on an
unsatisfied objection, the agency making the objection shall be made a party to the action. The court
shall direct that the plat be approved if it finds that the action of the approving or objecting agency is
arbitrary, unreasonable, or discriminatory.

Article XIV: Definitions

Access: A means of providing vehicular or non-vehicular egress from or ingress to a property, public
right-of-way, or private street.

ADA. American Disabilities Act.

Agency or Authority, Approving. Each governmental body having authority to approve or reject a
preliminary or final plat or certified survey map. Approving authorities are set forth in Section
236.10 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

Agency, County Planning. The agency created by the County Board and authorized by Statute to
plan land use and to review subdivision plats and certified survey maps.

Agency, Objecting. An agency empowered to object to a subdivision plat pursuant to Chapter 236
of the Wisconsin Statutes. The City may not approve any plat upon which an objection has been
certified until the objection has been satisfied. The objecting agencies include the Wisconsin
Department of Administration, the Wisconsin Department of Safety and Professional Services if the
land to be subdivided will be served by POWTS, the Wisconsin Department of Transportation or the
Jefferson County highway department if land to be subdivided abuts, respectively, a State or County
trunk highway or connecting highway or street.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 66 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

125



Alley. A minor public right-of-way/street or thoroughfare providing secondary access to a property.
Alley access does not constitute frontage for the purposes of minimum lot frontage.

Arterial Street. See “Street, Arterial.”

Assessor’s Plat. Are used to reconcile parcel boundaries between 2 or more separate owners when one
of the following apply:

(1) Boundaries cannot be accurately described or retraced due to:
(a) Monuments lost, obliterated, or never set.
(b) Gross errors in lot measurements or locations.
(c) Ambiguous descriptions.
(2) Assessor's Plats may be used to simplify descriptions, for purposes of assessment, taxation, or

conveyance, of parcels that otherwise could be described only by metes and bounds.

(3) An Assessor's Plat may be used when uncertainty in locating existing parcels interferes with the
siting of public roads, buildings, or other improvements.

Block. The property abutting the street between the two nearest intersecting or intercepting
streets. A railroad right-of-way, the boundary line of un-subdivided acreage, or a body of water shall
be regarded the same as an intersecting or intercepting street for the purpose of defining a “block.”

Buffer. An area separating land uses and may consist of open areas, existing natural vegetation, or
new landscaping, such as trees, shrubs, and berms.

Building. A structure with a permanent location on the land, having a roof that may provide shelter,
support, protection, or enclosure of persons, animals, or property of any kind.

Building Setback Line. The distance from the boundaries of a parcel, right-of-way, a natural or artificial
feature, or other feature, as prescribed by the appropriate zoning or other regulations, within which
buildings or structures shall not be erected.

Certified Survey Map (CSM). A map prepared in accordance with Section 236.34 of the Wisconsin
Statutes and this Ordinance for the purpose of creating and recording a minor land division as
defined by this Ordinance; or used to document, for recording purposes, survey and dedication data
relating to single parcels. Certified survey maps are also referred to as minor land divisions.

City. The City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, and, where appropriate, its City Council, commissions,
committees and authorized officials.

City Engineer. A professional engineer who is a full-time employee of the City, or a consulting
engineer who provides resident staff services to the City, and who is duly appointed by the City
Council to the position.

Collector Street. See “Street, Collector.”
Common Open Space. See “Open Space, Common.”

Common Areas. Areas of property used by all owners or tenants in common in accordance with such
owners’ bylaws or owners’ agreement which may include but is not limited to sidewalks, recreational
paths, parking areas, driveways, open space, stormwater and recreation facilities.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 67 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

126



Comprehensive Plan. The long-range master plan for the desirable use and development of land in
the City as officially adopted and as amended from time to time by the Plan Commission and
certified to the Council.

Conceptual Plan. A plan of a proposed land division that is submitted for informal review and shows
the proposed general layout of streets, lots, and other features in relation to existing conditions.

Condominium. An estate in real property consisting of an undivided interest in common with other
purchasers in a portion of a parcel of real property, together with separate interest in space. A
condominium may include, in addition, separate interest in other portions of such property.

Condominium Association. An association, whose members consist of all of the condominium’s unit
owners acting as a group, either through a nonstock, nonprofit corporation, or an unincorporated
association, in accordance with its bylaws and declaration.

Condominium Declaration. The instrument by which property becomes subject to Chapter 703 of
the Wisconsin Statutes.

Condominium Instrument. Recorded documents relating the creation and subsequent modification
of the condominium, including the declaration, plats, and plans of a condominium together with
attached exhibits or schedules and addendums or amendments.

Condominium Plat. See “Plat, Condominium.”

Condominium Unit. A part of a condominium intended for any type of independent use, including
one or more cubicles of air at one or more levels of space or one or more rooms or enclosed spaces
located on one or more floors (or parts thereof) in a building. A unit may include two or more
noncontiguous areas.

Connecting Street or Highway. See “Street or Highway, Connecting.”

Conservation Easement. The grant of a property right or interest from the property owner to
another person, agency, unit of government, or other organization stipulating that the described
land shall remain in its natural, scenic, open, or wooded state, precluding future or additional
development.

Correction instrument (affidavit). An instrument drafted by a professional land surveyor that
complies with the requirements of Wis. Stats., 236.295 and that, upon recording, corrects a
subdivision plat or a CSM.

County Planning Agency. See “Agency, County Planning.”
Covenant. A restriction on the use of land, usually set forth in the deed.
CSM. Certified Survey Map.

Cul-de-sac. A local road with only one vehicular outlet and having the other end terminated by a
vehicular turn-around. See “Street, Cul-de-sac.”

Cul-de-sac Temporary. A local road terminating in a temporary turnaround which will be extended as a
through road. It is strongly recommended that a temporary timeline be established in the Developer’s
Agreement.

Datum. A system that serves as the basis for land survey measurements and calculations.

Days. As used in this Chapter, "days" shall mean calendar, not working days.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 68 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

127



Dead End Street. A street permanently or temporarily closed at one (1) end, with or without
turnarounds.

Deed Restriction. A restriction on the use of a property set forth in the deed.
Density. A unit of measurement; the number of dwelling units per acre of land.
Department of Natural Resources (DNR). State of Wisconsin DNR.

Developer, Agent of the Developer. Any individual, subdivider, firm, association, syndicate, limited
partnership, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, trust, or any other legal entity
proceeding under these subdivision regulations to effect a subdivision of land hereunder for
himself/herself or for another.

Development. The division of a parcel of land into two or more parcels; the construction,
reconstruction, conversion, structural alteration, relocation, or enlargement of any buildings; the

primary or principal use or change in primary or principal use of any buildings or land; any extension of
any use of land; deposition of materials; or any clearing, grading, or other movement of land, for which

permission may be required pursuant to this Chapter.

Development Agreement. An agreement entered into by and between the City and a subdivider
whereby the City and subdivider agree as to the design, construction, and installation of required
public improvements; the payment for such public improvements; dedication of land; and other
matters related to the requirements of this Ordinance. The Development Agreement shall not come
into effect unless and until a Letter of Credit or other appropriate surety has been provided to the
City by the subdivider.

Division of Land. Where the title or any part thereof is transferred by the execution of a land
contract, an option to purchase, an offer to purchase and acceptance, a deed, or a certified
survey.

Drainageway. An open area of land, either in an easement or dedicated right-of-way, the primary
purpose of which is to carry storm water on the ground surface in lieu of an enclosed storm
sewer. Drainageways may serve multiple purposes in addition to their principal use including, but
not limited to, maintenance, bicycle and pedestrian traffic, sanitary sewers, water mains, storm
sewers, storm water detention, park development, and other related uses. Drainageways may
also be referred to as "greenways."

Dwelling unit: A single unit providing complete, independent living facilities for one or more
persons, including permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation.

Easement. Written authorization, recorded in the Register of Deeds office, from a landowner
authorizing another party to use any designated part of the land owner’s property for a specified
purpose.

Easement, Utility. An easement provided for entities and companies providing sanitary sewer,
water, stormwater, gas, electric, telecommunication, cable television, and other public utility
services.

Engineer. Any person registered to practice professional engineering by the state board of
registration as specified in Wis. Stats., 443.04.

Extraterritorial area: The area outside of the City limits in which the City of Fort Atkinson may

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 69 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

128



exercise extraterritorial powers of planning, land division, and/or zoning review.

Extraterritorial Plat and Certified Survey Map (Land Division) Approval Jurisdiction. The
unincorporated area within 1.5 miles of a fourth-class City or City and within three miles of all other
cities. Where such jurisdictions overlap, the jurisdiction over the overlapping area is divided on a
line, all points of which are equidistant from the boundaries of each municipality, so that not more
than one municipality exercises extraterritorial authority over any area. The City of Fort Atkinson
has extraterritorial land division approval jurisdiction within three miles of an unincorporated area.

FEMA. The Federal Emergency Management Agency.

Final Plat. See “Plat, Final.”

Floodplains. Land which has been or may be covered by floodwater during the regional flood. It
includes the floodway and the flood fringe and may include other designated floodplain areas for
regulatory purposes. See Chapter 30 Environment, Article Ill City of Fort Atkinson’s Floodplain
Zoning Ordinance.

Floodway. The channel of a river or stream and those portions of the floodplain adjoining the
channel required to carry the regional flood discharge.

Frontage. See “Lot, Frontage”.

Frontage Street. See “Street, Frontage.”

Grade. The slope of a road or other public way specified in percent.

Half-Way Street. See Street, Half-Way.

Hedgerow. A row of shrubs or trees planted for enclosure or separation of fields.

High Groundwater Elevation. The highest elevation to which subsurface water rises. This may be
evidenced by the actual presence of water during wet periods of the year, or by soil mottling during
drier periods. Mottling is a mixture or variation of soil colors. In soils with restricted internal drainage,
gray, yellow, red, and brown colors are intermingled giving a multicolored effect.

Highest Groundwater Table. The upper limit of the zone of soil saturation caused by underlying
groundwater at its highest level based on soil and site evaluations in accordance with the standards
contained in Section 70.03.05(2) of this Ordinance.

Homeowners Association. An association combining individual home ownership with shared use,
ownership, maintenance, and responsibility for common property or facilities, including private
open space, within a land division.

Impervious Surface. Surfaces that prohibit infiltration of stormwater. Homes, buildings, and other
structures with roofs, as well as concrete, brick, stone, asphalt, gravel, and similar paved surfaces are
considered impervious.

Improvement, Private. Those additions to undeveloped land such as landscaping and subdivision
signage that the developer or lot owners will ultimately assume the responsibility for maintenance
and operation, and which are owned by an individual or group of lot owners.

Improvement, Public. Any improvement, facility, or service, together with customary
improvements and appurtenances thereto, necessary to provide for public needs, such as: streets,
roads, alleys, or pedestrian walks or paths; storm sewers; flood control improvements; water supply
and distribution facilities; sanitary sewage disposal and treatment; and public utility and energy

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 70 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

129



services.

Land Division. A generic term that includes both subdivisions and minor land divisions (CSM), as
those terms are defined in this Chapter. A land division can be legally created only by means of a
subdivision plat or CSM, and not a condominium plat.

Landscaping or Landscaped Area. The area of a site which is planted and continually maintained in
vegetation, including grasses, flowers, herbs, garden plants, native or introduced groundcovers,
shrubs, bushes, and trees. The landscaped area also includes the area located within planted and
continually maintained landscaped planters as well as subordinate accessory use of other landscape
elements such as mulch, river rock, etc.

Letter of Credit. An irrevocable written agreement guaranteeing payment for improvements,
entered into by a bank, savings and loan, or other financial institution authorized to do business in
the State of Wisconsin and which has a financial standing acceptable to the City, which secures a
subdivider’s obligation to pay the cost of designing, constructing, and installing required public
improvements and certain other obligations in connection with an approved land division or
condominium.

Limited Access Highway or Expressway. A traffic way for through traffic, in respect to which
owners or occupants of abutting property or lands and other persons have no legal right of access
to or from the same, except only at such points and in such manner as may be determined by the
public authority having jurisdiction over such traffic way.

Local Street. A street of little or no continuity designed to provide access to abutting property and
leading into collector streets.

Lot. A parcel of land in one ownership and not divided by a street nor including any land within the
limits of a public right-of-way. The term “lot of record " shall mean land designated as a distinct and
separate parcel on a legally recorded plat, subdivision, or other instrument permitted by law, in the
Register of Deeds office.

Lot, Corner. A lot abutting two or more streets at their intersection, provided that the corner of
such intersection shall have an angle of 135 degrees or less. (See lllustration 1.) All sides of such lot
adjacent to roads shall be considered frontage, and front yard setbacks shall be provided as
required.

Lot depth. The mean horizontal distance between the front and rear lot lines.

Lot, Double or Reverse Frontage. A lot, other than a corner lot, with frontage on more than one
street. Such lots shall normally be deemed to have two front yards and two side yards and no rear
yard. (See lllustration 1.)

Lot, Flag. A lot not fronting on or abutting a public street and where access to the public street
system is by a narrow strip of land (sometimes called a “neck,” “narrow leg,” or “flag staff),
easement, or private right-of-way. Flag lots generally are not considered to conform to sound
planning principles. (See lllustration 1.)

Lot frontage. The horizontal distance between the side lot lines measured at the point where the
side lot lines intersect the right-of-way. All sides of a lot that abuts a street shall be considered lot
frontage. On curvilinear streets, the distance of the arc between the side lot lines shall be
considered the lot frontage.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 71 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

130



BLOCK

)"‘_ FROLIE;IAGE _"'|

g 4 ‘ |

| 1 8y,
CORNER : INTERIOR | \ /?é:’t‘r
INTERIOR !
PR I

INTERIOR | FLAG
LOT o g - DOUBLE |
DEPTH FRONTAGE! CORNER

STREET

, INTERIOR |

| b LOT__ o

I WIDTH
CORNER ] INTERIOR | ‘

vy . ‘ \
STREET

Source: SEWRPC.

lllustration 1

TYPICAL CORNER, DOUBLE FRONTAGE, FLAG, AND INTERIOR LOTS

Lot, Interior. A lot other than a corner lot.

Lot line. A lot line is the legal property line (including the vertical plane established by the line and
the ground) bounding a lot except that where any portion of a lot extends into the public right-of-
way or a proposed public right-of-way, the line of such public right-of-way shall be the lot line for
applying this Chapter.

Lot line, front. A lot line which abuts a public or private street right-of-way. In the case of a lot
which has two of more street frontages, the lot line along the street with the shortest frontage
distance shall be the front lot line, unless approved otherwise by city staff (See also lot line, street
side). See Figure 15.01.23b in the City of Fort Atkinson Zoning Code.

Lot line, rear. In the case of rectangular or most trapezoidal shaped lots, that lot line which is
parallel to and most distant from the front lot line of the lot. In the case of an irregular, triangular,
or gore-shaped lot, a line 20 feet in length, entirely within the lot, parallel to and at the maximum
possible distance from the front line shall be considered to be the rear lot line. In the case of lots
that have frontage on more than one road or street, the rear lot line shall be opposite the front lot
line (shorter of the frontages). See Figure 15.01.23b in the City of Fort Atkinson Zoning Code.

Lot line, side. Any lot line other than a front or rear lot lines. A side lot line separating a lot from a
street is called a side street lot line. A side lot line separating a lot from another lot is called an
interior side lot line. See Figure 15.01.23b in the City of Fort Atkinson Zoning Code.

Lot line, street side. Any lot line which abuts a public or private street right-of-way which is not the
front lot line (see also lot line, front). See Figure 15.01.23b in the City of Fort Atkinson Zoning

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 72 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

131



Code.

Lot of record. A platted lot or lot described in a plat, certified survey map, in a metes and bounds
description, or other instrument permitted by law and has been approved by the City of Fort
Atkinson and/or by Jefferson County, and has been recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds.

Lot, through. A lot having frontage on two parallel or approximately parallel streets (also known as
a “double-frontage lot”). See Figure 15.01.23b in the City of Fort Atkinson Zoning Code.

Lot, waterfront. A lot that abuts the Bark or Rock River. Waterfront lots have a waterfront yard, a
street yard, and a side yard. All waterfront lots are subject to the provisions of Chapter 78 of the
City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code.

Lot width. The maximum horizontal distance between the side lot lines of a lot, measured parallel
to the front lot line(s) at the required front yard setback (see minimum lot width).

Minor Land Division (Certified Survey Map). A minor land division is any division of land that is not
identified as a subdivision, condominium, or otherwise, exempt from this ordinance. In accordance
with Section 236.34(1)(ar) Wisconsin Statutes, a certified survey map may also be used for dividing
land into not more than 10 parcels, lots, or outlots if the land being divided is zoned for industrial
or commercial office and business park development.

Monument. A survey marker of durable material found or set to mark lot corners, right-of-way
points, the start or end of a curve, horizontal or vertical control points, meander points, section
corners, or witness points.

Municipality. A political unit of government such as a county, town, village or city.

Navigable Water. All natural inland lakes, rivers, streams, ponds, sloughs, flowages, and other
waters within the territorial limits of Wisconsin, including the Wisconsin portion of boundary
waters. All bodies of water with a bed differentiated from adjacent uplands and with levels of flow
sufficient to support navigation by a recreational craft of the shallowest draft on an annually
recurring basis. For the purposes of this Chapter, rivers and streams will be presumed to be
navigable if they are designated as either continuous or intermittent waterways on the United
States Geological Survey quadrangle maps until such time that the Wisconsin Department of
Natural Resources has made a determination that the waterway is not, in fact, navigable.

Objecting Agency. See “Agency, Objecting.”

Official Map. The map adopted pursuant to Section 62.23 of the Wisconsin Statutes which shows
existing and proposed streets, highways, parkways, parks and playgrounds, school sites, etc.

Open Space. Any site, parcel, lot, area, or outlot of land or water that has been designated,
dedicated, reserved, or restricted from further development. Open space may be privately or
publicly owned but shall not be part of individual residential lots. Open space shall be substantially
free of structures but may be used for landscaping and contain recreational facilities approved by
the City. Open space may include, but is not limited to, floodplains, wetlands, woodlands, steep
slopes, prairie remnants, natural areas, critical species habitat sites, and other natural resource
features.

Open Space, Common. Privately-owned land within a land division or condominium that has been
restricted in perpetuity from further development and is set aside for the use and enjoyment by
residents of the land division or condominium. Common open space shall be substantially free of

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 73 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

132



structures but may be used for landscaping and contain recreational facilities approved by the City.

Open Space, Public. Land within a land division or condominium that has been dedicated to the
public for recreational or conservation purposes. Open space lands shall be substantially free of
structures but may contain recreational facilities approved by the City.

Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM) or Elevations. A mark delineating the highest water level
which has been maintained for a sufficient period to leave evidence upon the landscape. The
ordinary high water mark is commonly that point where natural vegetation changes from
predominately aquatic to predominately terrestrial. In areas where the ordinary high water mark is
not evident, setbacks shall be measured from the stream bank of the following water bodies that
have permanent flow or open water: the main channel, adjoining side channels, back waters, and
sloughs.

Outlot. A parcel of land, other than a buildable lot or block, so designated on the plat, which is used
to convey or reserve parcels of land. Outlots may be created to restrict a lot that is unbuildable due
to high groundwater, steep slopes, or other physical constraints, or to create common open space
that may accommodate certain recreational amenities and stormwater management facilities.
Outlots may also be parcels of land intended to be re-divided into lots or combined with lots or
outlots in adjacent land divisions in the future for the purpose of creating buildable lots.

Section 236.13(6) of the Wisconsin Statutes prohibits using an outlot as a building site unless it
complies with all the requirements imposed for buildable lots. The City will generally require that
any restrictions related to an outlot be included on the face of the plat.

Owner. The person, persons, or entity having the right of legal title to a lot or parcel of land.

Parcel. Any area of land (lot or contiguous group of lots) in the City under single ownership as shown
on the last assessor’s roll of the county or the records of the City, whichever is the most recent.

Pedestrian Pathway or Way. A public way, usually running at right angles to streets, which is intended
for the convenience of pedestrians only; it may also provide public right-of-way for utilities.

Performance Bond. An agreement between a developer and a performance bond or company for
the benefit of a municipality in the amount of the estimated construction cost of improvements for
the entire subdivision whereby the surety guarantees the completion of the physical improvements
for the entire subdivision according to plans and specifications within the time prescribed by the
agreement.

Plat. A map or drawing which graphically delineates the boundary of land lots/parcels for the purpose
of identification and record title.

Plat, Condominium. A map prepared in accordance with Chapter 703 of the Wisconsin Statutes and
this Ordinance for the purpose of creating and recording condominium units as defined herein. A
“condominium plat” may be used to create condominium units along with specifying a
condominium owner’s proportional share or ownership of common facilities and/or grounds and
shall not be used to create lots or parcels. The creation of lots or parcels requires a “certified survey
map” or “subdivision plat.”

Plat, Final. A map prepared in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin
Statutes and this Ordinance for the purpose of creating a subdivision.

Plat, Preliminary. A map showing the salient features of a proposed subdivision submitted to an
approving authority for purposes of preliminary consideration. A preliminary plat precisely

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 74 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

133



describes the location and exterior boundaries of the parcel proposed to be divided, and shows the
approximate location of lots, streets, and other improvements.

Plat, Subdivision. A map prepared in accordance with Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin Statutes and
this Ordinance for the purpose of creating and recording a subdivision as defined by this Ordinance.

POWTS. Private Onsite Wastewater Treatment System. See “Septic System”.

Prairies. Open, generally treeless areas that are dominated by native grasses, as delineated and
mapped by the SEWRPC.

Private Improvement. See “Improvement, Private.”

Private Street. A street that is privately owned by more than one property owner and may be legally
described as a separate parcel such as an outlot to a subdivision. Private streets are not maintained by
the City. Notwithstanding the preceding sentences, the definition of "private street" is not intended to
regulate, and does not include, a driveway located on an individual single-family residential lot or a
shared driveway that is separately defined herein. New private streets are prohibited in the City.

Professional Land Surveyor. A professional land surveyor licensed under Wis. Stats., 443.
Public Improvement. See “Improvement, Public.”

Public Utility. Any person, firm or corporation, governmental agency, or board having a public
utility commission or regulatory body permitted to furnish to the public under such regulations
utilities including but not limited to electricity, gas, sewer, water, telephone, cable, transportation,
steam, or other similar public services.

Public Way. Any public street, highway, bicycle or pedestrian/recreation way, drainageway, or part
thereof.

Recreation Path. For the purpose of this Ordinance, a recreation path provides opportunities for
walking, bicycling, rollerblading, skateboarding, and other recreational uses. Typically located within
the public right of way, although may traverse private land with easements, they are a minimum of 8 FT
in width and paved with asphalt.

Replat. The process of changing, or the plat or map which changes, the boundaries of a recorded
subdivision plat, certified survey map, or a part thereof. The division of a large block, lot, or outlot
within a recorded subdivision plat or certified survey map without changing the exterior boundaries
of said block, lot, or outlot is not a replat. Changes to condominium plats, such as merging or removal
of condominium units, must meet the requirements of Chapter 703 of the Wisconsin Statutes, and
condominium plats may not be used nor are considered a replat of a subdivision, certified survey map,
or part thereof.

Reservation of Land. The identification and setting aside of an area of land on a preliminary plan
and final plat for future common use.

Reserve Strip. Any land that would prohibit or interfere with the orderly extension of streets,
recreational paths or sidewalks, sanitary sewer, water mains, storm water facilities, or other utilities
or improvements between two abutting properties, sometimes referred to as a spite strip.

Residential Unit. See “Unit”.

Right-of-way. Right-of-way is a strip of land occupied or intended to be occupied by a road,
walkway, railroad, electric transmission line, oil or gas pipeline, water main, sanitary or storm sewer

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 75 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

134



main, or for another special use. The usage of the term "right-of-way" for land established and
shown on a final plat is to be separate and distinct from the parcels adjoining such right-of-way, and
not included within the dimensions or areas of such parcels. Rights-of-way intended for roads,
walkway, water mains, sanitary sewers, storm drains, or any other use involving maintenance by a
public agency shall be dedicated to public use by the subdivider of the plat on which such right-of-
way is established.

Roadway. The surfaced portion of the road available for vehicular traffic.

Septic System. Underground wastewater treatment structures, commonly used in rural areas
without centralized sewer systems. They use a combination of nature and proven technology to
treat wastewater from household plumbing produced by bathrooms, kitchen drains, and laundry. A
typical septic system consists of a septic tank and a drainfield, or soil absorption field. New septic
system installation is not permitted in the City.

Setbacks. The shortest distance between the exterior of a building or structure and the nearest
point on the referenced lot line, excluding permitted projections per Section 15.04.40 as defined
in the City Zoning Code.

Shared driveway. A driveway shared with non-owners of the land by a dedicated easement. A shared
driveway is not the same as a private street. See definition of private street.

Shorelands. Those lands lying within the following distances: 1,000 feet from the ordinary high
water elevation or mark of a navigable lake, pond, or flowages; or 300 feet from the ordinary high
water elevation or mark of a navigable stream, or to the landward edge of the floodplain, whichever
distance is greater.

Sidewalk. That portion of a public right of way, intended for pedestrian use only. Typically paved in
concrete and less than 6 FT in width.

Sight Distance. The length of roadway that is necessary to insure the operator of a vehicle has an
unobstructed view of the entire intersection and sufficient length of the intersecting road to
provide safe driving conditions.

Slope. An incline from the horizontal expressed in an arithmetic ratio of horizontal magnitude to
vertical magnitude. (Example: 3:1 slope is 3 feet horizontal and 1 foot vertical).

Steep slope. Steep slopes are areas which contain a ratio of horizontal magnitude to vertical
magnitude of 8:1 (gradient of 12 percent or greater).

Stormwater Detention Basin. A facility for the temporary storage of stormwater runoff,
constructed to receive and temporarily hold stormwater for release at a controlled rate.

Stormwater Retention Basin. A facility, such as a pond, pool or basin, used for the permanent
storage of stormwater runoff, where additional storage capacity is provided above the normal
water level.

Street. A right-of-way for vehicular and pedestrian traffic, whether designated as a street,
highway, thoroughfare, parkway, throughway, road, avenue, boulevard, lane, place, or however
otherwise designated and includes all of the area between the roadway or right-of-way lines.

Street, Arterial. A street used, or intended to be used, primarily for movement of through traffic,
whose function is to convey traffic between municipalities and activity centers. Arterial streets
include freeways and expressways as well as standard arterial streets and highways. Certain arterial

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 76 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

135



streets also provide appropriate access to abutting properties.

Street, Collector. A street used, or intended to be used, to carry traffic from land access streets to
the system of arterial streets, including the principal entrance streets to residential developments
and/or activity or employment centers. This street also provides access to adjacent properties.

Street, Cul-de-sac. A local road with only one vehicular outlet and having the other end terminated
by a vehicular turn-around.

Street, Frontage. A land access street auxiliary to and located parallel or adjacent to an arterial
street for control of access and for service to the abutting development.

Street, Land Access. A street used, or intended to be used, primarily for access to abutting
properties. Such streets may be called minor streets or minor land-access streets.

Street, Half-Way. A street in which the subdivider has allocated only part of the ultimate right-of-
way width. See Half-Way, Street.

Street or Highway, Connecting. A marked route, not a State trunk highway per se, of the State
trunk highway system over certain streets and highways in municipalities that the Wisconsin
Department of Transportation has designated as a “connecting highway” (see Section 86.32 of the
Wisconsin Statutes).

Street, Local. Any street that is not identified as “collector” or “arterial” on the functional
classification map or otherwise determined by the City Engineer. Streets which are intended
primarily for access to abutting property.

Street, Marginal Access a/k/a Frontage Street. A minor street which parallels and is adjacent to a
major arterial or highway, and which provides access to abutting properties and protection from
through traffic.

Street, Through. A street which begins and ends on another public street.
Street Signs and Signals. Signs used for wayfinding and management of traffic.

Structure: Anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires a more or less permanent
location on the ground, or attached to something having a permanent location on the ground,
excluding landscape features, fences, public utilities, and other minor site improvements.

Subdivider. Any person, firm or corporation, or any agent thereof, dividing or proposing to divide
land which divides or proposes to divide or replat land in any manner subject to this ordinance and,
Chapter 703 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

Subdivision. A division of a lot, parcel, or tract of land by the owner thereof or the owner's agent for the
purpose of sale, transfer of ownership, or building development. A subdivision is inclusive of the
following, unless exempt under Section 70.02.01(2), 70.02.02, or 70.02.03.

a. The act of division that creates five or more parcels or building sites of 1 % acres each or
less in area, inclusive of the original remnant parcel.
b. The act of division that creates five or more parcels or building sites of 1 % acres each or

less in area that are created by successive divisions within a period of five years,
inclusive of the original remnant parcel.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 77 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

136



C. Where the act of division creates six or more parcels or building sites inclusive of the
original remnant parcel of any size by successive divisions or any part of the original
property by any person within a period of five years.

Subdivision Plat. See “Plat, Subdivision.”

Surety Bond. A bond guaranteeing performance of a contract or obligation through forfeiture of the
bond if said contract or obligation is unfulfilled by the subdivider.

Sustainability. The capacity to meet the needs of the present generation without compromising the
ability of future generations to meet their own needs.

Thoroughfare. A road with a high degree of continuity, including collectors, major arterials, and
limited access highways.

Traditional Neighborhood Design (TND). Compact, mixed use neighborhoods where residential,
commercial and civic spaces are within close proximity of each other and accessible via multiple
modes of transportation.

Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA). A TIA meeting Wisconsin Department of Transportation requirements
for content and format may be required by the City if deemed necessary by the City Engineer to
analyze possible transportation and neighborhood impacts of a proposed subdivision and/or
development.

Unit. A single structure or space within a structure providing complete, independent living facilities for
one or more persons.

USACE. The United States Army Corps of Engineers, a U.S. federal agency under the Department of
Defense and whose mission includes environmental regulation and ecosystem management.

Vicinity Map. A drawing located on a submittal which sets forth by dimensions or other means, the
relationship of the proposed subdivision or use to other nearby developments or landmarks and
community facilities and services within the City in order to better locate and orient the area in
question.

Walkway. A walkway or crosswalk is a right-of-way within a block, dedicated to public use and
intended primarily for pedestrians, but which may include utilities where necessary.

Wetland. An area that is saturated by surface water or groundwater, with vegetation adapted for
life under those soil conditions. See also Section 23.32(1), Wis. Stats.

Wisconsin Administrative Code. Regulations, commonly referred to as rules, written and
promulgated by State agencies to supplement, implement, or interpret laws enacted by the
Wisconsin Legislature. The rules are referred to based on the agency that is responsible for
administering the rules. For example, “SPS” refers to rules administered by the Department of
Safety and Professional Services, “NR” refers to rules administered by the Department of Natural
Resources, and “Trans” refers to rules administered by the Department of Transportation. Portions
of the Administrative Code that particularly affect planning include SPS 383 (requirements for
private onsite wastewater treatment systems); NR 115 (requirements for shoreland areas and
shoreland-wetlands in towns and counties); NR 116 (floodplain requirements); NR 117
(requirements for shoreland-wetlands in cities); and Trans 233 (requirements for subdivisions
abutting State highways). The Wisconsin Administrative Code is available on the Legislature’s web
page at https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/code.

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 78 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

137


https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/code

Wisconsin Statutes. The body of law enacted by the Wisconsin State Legislature. Portions of the
Wisconsin Statutes that particularly affect planning include Chapter 236 (land division
requirements); Chapter 703 (condominium plat requirements); Section 62.23 (zoning and master
planning requirements for cities and towns that have adopted City powers); Section 66.1001
(comprehensive planning requirements); and Chapter 59 (zoning requirements for counties). The
Wisconsin Statutes are available on the Legislature’s web page at
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes.

Zoning. The legal right for local governments to regulate the use of real property to prevent
conflicting land uses and promote orderly development. Such rights include, but are not limited to
regulating: the use, height, bulk, and location, including percentage of lot occupancy, building
setback lines, and other structures.

Zoning map. The map adopted and designated by the City as being the “Official Zoning Map.”

Zoning Regulations. The zoning regulations adopted or approved by the County Board.”

Section 2. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage, posting, or publication as
provided by law.

Enacted by the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Jefferson County, Wisconsin,
this day of ,2022.

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

Christopher Scherer, President

ATTEST:

Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director

ADOPTED: FEBRUARY 17, 2022 79 EFFECTIVE DATE: MARCH 1, 2022

138



Agenda

City of Fort Atkinson
City Manager’s Office
101 N. Main Street

Fort Atkinson, Wl 53538

MEMORANDUM

DATE: February 17, 2022

TO: City of Fort Atkinson City Council

FROM: Rebecca Houseman LeMire, City Manager

RE: Third/Final reading of an Ordinance to amend Sections 42-36 and 42-37 of the
City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code relating to the Historic Preservation
Commission

BACKGROUND

City staff has been working with the Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) for the past
several months to clarify roles and responsibilities in terms of reviewing projects and approving
Certificates of Appropriateness. In addition to that, and more recently, HPC has noted that they
have had difficulty recruiting new members. The Commission currently has three of the five
positions filled and two vacancies.

Recall that the City must have a Historic Preservation Commission or other similar body
because the City has locally-designated historic landmarks.

DISCUSSION

HPC is made up of five members appointed by the President of the City Council. Per Section 42-
36 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code, the membership shall consist of “five at-large
members from the city of which two members shall be from the historical society.” It goes on
to say that “each member shall have, to the highest extent practicable, a known interest in
historic preservation.”

HPC has discussed the possibility of opening the membership up to individuals who live outside
the City of Fort Atkinson and has requested an ordinance change to that end.

Section 1 of the attached draft ordinance amendment makes the following changes:

e HPC makes recommendations to the Plan Commission (as that is the body that reviews
Special Area Design Review requests for parcels in the Downtown Historic Mixed Use
Zoning District. Note that the state and federally designated downtown historic district
is within the DHMU zoning district.)

e Requires 3 members to reside in the City.

e The remaining 2 members may reside up to twenty miles outside the City, provided that
each member works within the City, owns property within a historic district, or owns a
locally-designated landmark property.

139



e Changes the membership term from 5 years to 3 years.
e Allows each member to serve up to three 3-year terms.

Section 2 of the attached draft ordinance amendment makes the following changes:

e (larifies that the HPC must review the project and issue a Certificate of Appropriateness
for any exterior change to a building or property that is in a locally-designated district or
a locally-designated landmark.

e For properties within the DHMU zoning district, clarifies that HPC will review Special
Area Design Review applications and make recommendations for approval or denial to
the Plan Commission.

o Exempts structures built within the last 50 years within this Zoning District due
to the large size of the DHMU zoning district and the number of buildings within
this district that do not have historic value. This is intended to be interpreted as
50 years from the date of the application (i.e. in 2030, buildings constructed in
1980 and after would be exempt).

o 2020 City of Fort Atkinson Zoning Map (Click the link to see the Zoning District).

o Allows for a 45-day review period for HPC. If HPC does not make a
recommendation within 45 days, the Special Area Design Review application is
forwarded to the Plan Commission without a recommendation.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Staff anticipates that this Ordinance Amendment may increase the amount of staff time
dedicated to the Historic Preservation Commission. However, that amount of staff time cannot
yet be quantified. Note that in late 2021, City staff sent letters to all property owners within the
DHMU District informing them of the Special Area Design Review requirements of the Zoning
Ordinance. Staff has not received questions or comments from property owners to date.

Currently, there is no fee for Special Area Design Review applications. However, staff does
intend to review the requirements in 2022 and recommend that the City Council adopt a fee for
review of this application with the 2023 Fee Schedule.

RECOMMENDATION

The Ordinance Committee reviewed this item at the meeting on January 11" and
recommended that the City Council perform the first reading at the meeting on January 18t.
The City Council performed the first reading on January 18™ and the second reading on
February 15t

Staff recommends the City Council perform the third reading and enact this ordinance to
amend Sections 42-36 and 42-37 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code relating to the

Historic Preservation Commission.

ATTACHMENTS
Ordinance Amendment Sections 42-36 and 42-37 HPC; Ordinance Amendment — Clean

140


http://cms1files.revize.com/fortatkinson/Fort%20Atkinson%20Zoning%20Map%20-%202020_ADOPTED%20-%20Corrected%207-30-21.pdf

ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE
TO AMEND SECTIONS 42-36 AND 42-37 OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON MUNICIPAL CODE
RELATING TO THE HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, do ordain as
follows:

Section 1. Section 42-36 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code is hereby amended
to read as follows:

“Sec. 42-36. — Created; composition.

(a) An historic preservation commission is created, consisting of five members
appointed by the president of the council. The membership shall consist of five at-
large members frem-the—city-of which at least two members shall be associated with
frem the historical society. Each member shall have, to the highest extent
practicable, a known interest in historic preservation. This five-member commission
will hold hearings, review requests and make recommendations to the Plan
Commissioneeuneit. The Plan Commission esunei shall make final determinations
per the Zoning Ordinance.

(b) At least three (3) members of the historic preservation commission shall be
residents of the City of Fort Atkinson. Up to two (2) members of the commission
may reside up to twenty (20) miles outside of the City, provided that each member
works within the City limits; owns property within the City in a historic district; or
owns property that has been designated a local landmark.

{b}(c) Members will be appointed for threefive-year staggered terms, replacing no
more than two members every year enre-memberperyear with the potential for
reappointment for two ere-additional threefive-year terms. Fhe-initialmakeup-of

the-commissionterms-shall-be-oneto-five stagaered-years:

(Code 1969, §24.03)"

Section 2. Section 42-37 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code is hereby amended
to read as follows:

“Sec. 42-37. Powers and duties.

(a) Designation. The commission shall have the power, subject to section 42-3, to designate
historic structures and historic sites and to recommend designation of historic districts
within the city limits. Such designations shall be made based on section 42-3.

141



(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

No owner or person in charge of a locally-designated a# historic structure, historic site
or structure within a locally-designated a# historic district shall reconstruct, alter or
demolish all or any part of the exterior of such property or construct any
improvement upon such designated property or cause or permit any such work to be
performed upon such property or demolish such property unless a certificate of
appropriateness has been granted by the commission. Also, unless such certificate
has been granted by the commission, the building inspector shall not issue a permit
for any such work.

Upon the filing of any application for a certificate of appropriateness with the
commission, the commission shall approve the application unless:

a. Inthe case of a designated historic structure or historic site, the proposed work
would detrimentally change, destroy or adversely affect any exterior feature of
the improvement or site upon which the work is to be done.

b. Inthe case of the construction of a new improvement upon an historic site, or
within an historic district, the exterior of such improvement would adversely
affect or not harmonize with the external appearance of other neighboring
improvements on such site or within the district.

c. Inthe case of any property located in an historic district, the proposed
construction, reconstruction, exterior alteration or demolition does not conform
to the purpose and intent of this section and to the objectives and design criteria
of the historic preservation plan for the district.

d. The building or structure is of such architectural or historical significance that its
demolition would be detrimental to the public interest and contrary to the
general welfare of the people of the city and state.

e. Inthe case of a request for the demolition of a deteriorated building or structure,
any economic hardship or difficulty claimed by the owner that is self created or is
the result of any failure to maintain the property in good repair.

If the commission determines that the application for a certificate of appropriateness
and the proposed changes are consistent with the character and features of the
property or district, it shall issue the certificate of appropriateness. The commission
shall make this decision within 45 days of the filing of the application, or the
certificate shall be deemed to have been issued.

The issuance of a certificate of appropriateness shall not relieve the applicant from
obtaining other permits and approvals required by the city. A building permit or other
municipal permit shall be invalid if it is obtained without the presentation of the
certificate of appropriateness required for the proposed work.

Ordinary maintenance and repairs may be undertaken without a certificate of
appropriateness provided the work involves repairs to existing features of an historic
structure or site or the replacement of elements of a structure with pieces identical in

142



appearance and provided that the work does not change the exterior appearance of
the structure or site and does not require the issuance of a building permit.

(b) _Properties within the Downtown Historic Mixed Use (DHMU) Zoning District. For properties
and structures located within the DHMU Zoning District, the property owner or applicant
wishing to make any changes to the exterior of the structure, including simply replacing
the same materials or paint colors, must submit an application to the Plan Commission for
a Special Area Design Review, in accordance with Section 15.10.43 of the City’s Zoning
Ordinance. That application and any supplemental materials shall be forwarded to the
Historic Preservation Commission for review and recommendation to the Plan Commission
before action. Parcels located within the DHMU Zoning District with structures built after
1925 are exempted from this subsection but are still subject to all applicable regulations in
the Zoning Ordinance.

(bc) Appeals. Should the commission fail to issue a certificate of appropriateness due to the
failure of the proposal to conform to the guidelines, the applicant may appeal such
decision to the council within 30 days. In addition, if the commission fails to issue a
certificate of appropriateness, the commission shall, with the cooperation of the applicant,
work with the applicant in an attempt to obtain a certificate of appropriateness within the
guidelines of this chapter. Approval by the council requires a three-fourths majority vote.

(ed) Recognition of historic structures, sites and districts. At such time as an historic structure,
site or district has been properly designated, the commission, in cooperation with the
property owner, may cause to be prepared and erected on such property at city expense a
suitable plague declaring that such property is an historic structure, site or district.

(de) Physical improvements to property. Neither the commission nor the council may compel
property owners to make improvements to their property in the historic district against
their wishes.

(Code 1969, §24.05)"

Section 2. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage, posting, or publication as
provided by law.

Enacted by the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Jefferson County, Wisconsin,
this day of ,2022.

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

ATTEST: Christopher Scherer, President

143



Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director

144



ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE
TO AMEND SECTIONS 42-36 AND 42-37 OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON MUNICIPAL CODE
RELATING TO THE HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, do ordain as
follows:

Section 1. Section 42-36 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code is hereby amended
to read as follows:

“Sec. 42-36. — Created; composition.

(a) An historic preservation commission is created, consisting of five members
appointed by the president of the council. The membership shall consist of five at-
large members of which at least two members shall be associated with the historical
society. Each member shall have, to the highest extent practicable, a known interest
in historic preservation. This five-member commission will hold hearings, review
requests and make recommendations to the Plan Commission. The Plan Commission
shall make final determinations per the Zoning Ordinance.

(b) At least three (3) members of the historic preservation commission shall be
residents of the City of Fort Atkinson. Up to two (2) members of the commission
may reside up to twenty (20) miles outside of the City, provided that each member
works within the City limits; owns property within the City in a historic district; or
owns property that has been designated a local landmark.

(c) Members will be appointed for three-year staggered terms, replacing no more than
two members every year with the potential for reappointment for two additional
three-year terms.

(Code 1969, §24.03)”

Section 2. Section 42-37 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code is hereby amended
to read as follows:

“Sec. 42-37. Powers and duties.

(a) Designation. The commission shall have the power, subject to section 42-3, to designate
historic structures and historic sites and to recommend designation of historic districts
within the city limits. Such designations shall be made based on section 42-3.

(1) No owner or person in charge of a locally-designated historic structure, historic site or
structure within a locally-designated historic district shall reconstruct, alter or
demolish all or any part of the exterior of such property or construct any

145



improvement upon such designated property or cause or permit any such work to be
performed upon such property or demolish such property unless a certificate of
appropriateness has been granted by the commission. Also, unless such certificate
has been granted by the commission, the building inspector shall not issue a permit
for any such work.

(2) Upon the filing of any application for a certificate of appropriateness with the
commission, the commission shall approve the application unless:

a. Inthe case of a designated historic structure or historic site, the proposed work
would detrimentally change, destroy or adversely affect any exterior feature of
the improvement or site upon which the work is to be done.

b. In the case of the construction of a new improvement upon an historic site, or
within an historic district, the exterior of such improvement would adversely
affect or not harmonize with the external appearance of other neighboring
improvements on such site or within the district.

c. Inthe case of any property located in an historic district, the proposed
construction, reconstruction, exterior alteration or demolition does not conform
to the purpose and intent of this section and to the objectives and design criteria
of the historic preservation plan for the district.

d. The building or structure is of such architectural or historical significance that its
demolition would be detrimental to the public interest and contrary to the
general welfare of the people of the city and state.

e. Inthe case of a request for the demolition of a deteriorated building or structure,
any economic hardship or difficulty claimed by the owner that is self created or is
the result of any failure to maintain the property in good repair.

(3) If the commission determines that the application for a certificate of appropriateness
and the proposed changes are consistent with the character and features of the
property or district, it shall issue the certificate of appropriateness. The commission
shall make this decision within 45 days of the filing of the application, or the
certificate shall be deemed to have been issued.

(4) The issuance of a certificate of appropriateness shall not relieve the applicant from
obtaining other permits and approvals required by the city. A building permit or other
municipal permit shall be invalid if it is obtained without the presentation of the
certificate of appropriateness required for the proposed work.

(5) Ordinary maintenance and repairs may be undertaken without a certificate of
appropriateness provided the work involves repairs to existing features of an historic
structure or site or the replacement of elements of a structure with pieces identical in
appearance and provided that the work does not change the exterior appearance of
the structure or site and does not require the issuance of a building permit.

(b) Properties within the Downtown Historic Mixed Use (DHMU) Zoning District. For properties
and structures located within the DHMU Zoning District, the property owner or applicant

146



wishing to make any changes to the exterior of the structure, including simply replacing
the same materials or paint colors, must submit an application to the Plan Commission for
a Special Area Design Review, in accordance with Section 15.10.43 of the City’s Zoning
Ordinance. That application and any supplemental materials shall be forwarded to the
Historic Preservation Commission for review and recommendation to the Plan Commission
before action. Parcels located within the DHMU Zoning District with structures built within
the last fifty (50) years from the date of application are exempted from this subsection but
are still subject to all applicable regulations in the Zoning Ordinance.

(c) Appeals. Should the commission fail to issue a certificate of appropriateness due to the
failure of the proposal to conform to the guidelines, the applicant may appeal such
decision to the council within 30 days. In addition, if the commission fails to issue a
certificate of appropriateness, the commission shall, with the cooperation of the applicant,
work with the applicant in an attempt to obtain a certificate of appropriateness within the
guidelines of this chapter. Approval by the council requires a three-fourths majority vote.

(d) Recognition of historic structures, sites and districts. At such time as an historic structure,
site or district has been properly designated, the commission, in cooperation with the
property owner, may cause to be prepared and erected on such property at city expense a
suitable plaque declaring that such property is an historic structure, site or district.

(e) Physical improvements to property. Neither the commission nor the council may compel
property owners to make improvements to their property in the historic district against
their wishes.

(Code 1969, §24.05)”

Section 2. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage, posting, or publication as
provided by law.

Enacted by the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Jefferson County, Wisconsin,
this day of ,2022.

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

ATTEST: Christopher Scherer, President

Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director

147



Agenda

City of Fort Atkinson
City Manager’s Office
101 N. Main Street

Fort Atkinson, Wl 53538

FORT®-

MEMORANDUM
DATE: February 17, 2022
TO: Fort Atkinson City Council
FROM: Adrian Bump, Police Chief
RE: Third/final reading and possible action relating to an Ordinance to amend

Section 58-148 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code relating to the sale
of tobacco, nicotine products, electronic smoking devices, and electronic
smoking device paraphernalia near schools

BACKGROUND

In 2022 Fort Atkinson will see the addition of its second retailer specifically focused on the sale
of smoking products that include Tobacco, Vape, Electronic Smoking Devices, Electronic
Smoking Device Paraphernalia, Pipes, Hookahs, Rolling Papers, and other miscellaneous
nicotine consumables and smoke products opening next door to our high school.

It is the intent of this ordinance to prevent future businesses from opening such retail
locations near our schools where marketing and sales either intentionally or unintentionally
target our youth.

60% of schools in the U.S. are within 1,000 feet of a tobacco retailer. Fort Atkinson is within
this 60% because we do not have an ordinance focused on preventing businesses to open in
locations that place additional temptation on our youth.

DISCUSSION

At least 44% of teens in the U.S. attend school within 1,000 ft of a tobacco retailer, and 77% of
public schools are within a 10-minute walk of a tobacco retailer. This is important because
when there are more stores near schools, youth smoking rates are higher. A 2019 systematic
review of both US-based and international studies found a positive association between higher
density of stores near schools and youth susceptibility to future smoking. One study found that
schools with more stores within walking distance have a higher smoking prevalence than
schools with fewer retailers nearby.

Stores near schools in some areas may be more likely to sell to minors or to display more
tobacco advertising than others. A study conducted in Washington D.C. found that illicit sales to
minors were higher in tobacco retailers located closer to high schools. The researchers also
found that the closer retailers were located to a public high school, the more likely they were to
display exterior tobacco advertising (source: www.countertobacco.org).

148


http://www.countertobacco.org/

Tobacco use is the leading cause of preventable death in the U.S., resulting in over 480,000
deaths and $170 billion in health care expenses each year. While the U.S. has greatly reduced
cigarette smoking, youth use of e-cigarettes has skyrocketed in recent years. According to the
2019 National Youth Tobacco Survey, e-cigarette use among high school students nationwide
more than doubled between 2017 and 2019 (from 11.7% to 27.5%) and over 5.3 million U.S.
kids now use e-cigarettes. Research shows that 97% of current youth e-cigarette users used a
flavored product in the past month, and 80% of youth who had ever used tobacco started with
a flavored product (source: www.tobaccofreekids.org).

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Financial impact on the City is specific to the passing and publishing of the ordinance. The
ordinance is focused on future businesses and will not target businesses currently in operation.

RECOMMENDATION
The City Attorney drafted the attached ordinance. All City Department Heads have reviewed
the proposed ordinance and pertinent feedback was incorporated.

The Ordinance Committee reviewed this Ordinance at the meeting on January 11t and
recommended that the City Council perform the first reading at the meeting on January 18™.
The City Council performed the first reading on January 18" and the second reading on
February 1%,

Staff recommends that the Council perform the third/final reading and adopt this Ordinance
amending Section 58-148 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code relating to the sale of
tobacco, nicotine products, electronic smoking devices, and electronic smoking device
paraphernalia near schools.

ATTACHMENT
Section 58-148 — Tobacco and Schools — Clean Copy

149


https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/trump-administration-combating-epidemic-youth-e-cigarette-use-plan-clear-market-unauthorized-non
https://www.tobaccofreekids.org/assets/factsheets/0383.pdf
http://www.tobaccofreekids.org/

ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE

TO AMEND SECTION 58-148 OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON MUNICIPAL CODE

RELATING TO THE SALE OF TOBACCO

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, do ordain as

follows:

Section 1. Section 58-148 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code is hereby
amended to read as follows:

“Sec. 58-148. Sale of tobacco and possession of tobacco and electronic cigarettes by minors.

(A) The City Council finds and declares the following:

(1)

(2)

(3)

Tobacco is the leading cause of preventable death in the United States and the
leading risk factor contributing to the burden of disease in the world’s high-
income countries. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
(CDC), more than 400,000 deaths each year are attributable to tobacco use,
including one-third of all cancer deaths.

Social norms about smoking influence smoking rates, particularly among those
not addicted. Studies have found that strong governmental regulation of
smoking corresponds and may contribute to anti-smoking norms. Social
unacceptability has been repeatedly shown to be an important influence on both
initiation and quitting.

Local regulations are necessary to control the location and operation of the sale
or exchange of tobacco products for the protection of public health, safety, and
welfare.

(B) Definitions.

(1)

(2)

Electronic smoking device means an electronic device that can be used to deliver an
inhaled dose of nicotine or any other substance intended for human consumption
that may be used by a person to simulate smoking through inhalation of vapor or
aerosol from the product. It includes any such device whether manufactured,
distributed, marketed, or sold as an electronic cigarette, commonly known as e-
cigarettes; an electronic cigar; an electronic cigarillo; an electronic pipe; an electronic
hookah; vape pen; or any other product name or descriptor.

Electronic smoking device paraphernalia means a cartridge, cartomizer, e-liquid,
smoke juice, tip, atomizer, electronic smoking device battery, electronic smoking
device charger, and any other item specifically designed for the preparation, charging,
or use of electronic smoking devices. It does not include any cigarette, as defined in
Wis. Stats. § 139.30(1m), nicotine product, as defined in Wis. Stats. § 134.66(1)(f), or
tobacco products, as defined in Wis. Stats. § 139.75(12).

150



(3)

(4)

Person means any individual, partnership, firm, organization, association, corporation,
trustee, or other legal entity of any kind.

Vending machine means any mechanical device that automatically dispenses
electronic smoking devices or electronic smoking device paraphernalia when money
or tokens are deposited in the device in payment for electronic smoking devices or
electronic smoking device paraphernalia.

(C) Prohibition.

(1)

(2)
(3)

(4)

No person may sell or give any person under the age of 18 any tobacco, nicotine
product, electronic smoking device, or electronic smoking device paraphernalia at any
time.

No person under 18 years of age may purchase or possess any tobacco, nicotine
product, electronic smoking device, or electronic smoking device paraphernalia.

No person may purchase any tobacco, nicotine product, electronic smoking devices,
or electronic smoking device paraphernalia on behalf of, or to provide to, any person
who is under 18 years of age.

No person may provide for nominal or no consideration any tobacco, nicotine
product, electronic smoking device, or electronic smoking device paraphernalia to any
person except in a place where no person younger than 18 years of age is present or
permitted to enter unless the person who is younger than 18 years of age is
accompanied by his or her parent or guardian or by his or her spouse who has
attained the age of 18 years.

(D) Regulations.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

The owner or operator of an establishment that sells tobacco, nicotine products,
electronic smoking devices, or electronic smoking device paraphernalia shall post a
sign in the immediate area where those products are sold stating that the sale of any
said products to a person under the age of 18 is unlawful under this section.

A person or vending machine operator may not sell tobacco, nicotine products,
electronic smoking devices, or electronic smoking device paraphernalia from a
vending machine, except in an establishment where individuals under the age of 18
are not present or permitted at any time, as provided in § 21 CFR Part
1140.16(c)(2)(ii).

No sale of tobacco, nicotine products, electronic smoking devices, nor electronic
smoking device paraphernalia is permitted within 1,000 feet of the nearest point of
the property line of a public or private school.

Establishments currently operating at a location where sales would otherwise under
(3) be prohibited may continue to operate.

Only those establishments which derive more than 50% of their gross income from
the sale of tobacco, nicotine products, electronic smoking devices, and/or electronic
smoking device paraphernalia shall be subject to this ordinance.

151



(E) Defense of seller. Proof of all the following facts by a person who sells electronic smoking
devices or electronic smoking device paraphernalia to a person under the age of 18 is a
defense to any prosecution for a violation of subsection (b)(1):

(1) That the purchaser falsely represented that he or she had attained the age of 18 and
presented an identification card, and

(2) That the appearance of the purchaser was such that an ordinary and prudent person
would believe that the purchaser had attained the age of 18, and

(3) That the sale was made in good faith, in reasonable reliance on the identification card
and appearance of the purchaser and in the belief that the purchaser had attained
the age of 18.

(F) Penalties.
(1) Any person convicted of violating this section, shall be subject to the following
forfeitures:
a. Not less than $100.00 nor more than $400.00 if the person has not committed a
previous violation within 12 months of the violation.
b. Not less than $200.00 nor more than $500.00 if the person has committed a
previous violation within 12 months of the violation.
(Ord. No. 774, 2-5-19)”

Section 2. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage, posting, or publication as
provided by law.

Enacted by the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Jefferson County, Wisconsin,
this day of ,2022.

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

Christopher Scherer, President
ATTEST:

Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director

152



December 15, 2021

Good morning,

I am writing to request permission to present the Fort Atkinson Chamber of Commerce Tourism
Annual Report at an upcoming city council meeting. As you are aware, the current room tax laws
require that we file an annual report with our local Tourism Commission and the State of
Wisconsin.

My intent is to provide this report to the Tourism Commission at an upcoming scheduled
meeting, February 17, and I respectfully request to present to the city council on February 1, if
there is room on your agenda.

Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Katie Carey

Katie Carey, Tourism Manager
Fort Atkinson Chamber of Commerce

153



Fort Atkinson Area Chamber of Commerce
Tourism Department

Fo ANNUAL REPORT
FORT ATKINSON AREA
CHAMBER OF COMMERCE

Mission Statement
To promote the City of Fort Atkinson and its attractions and events, with the intention of positively
impacting the city’s economy and quality of life.

Introduction

In October of 1998, the City of Fort Atkinson approved a room tax fee of 5% on gross receipts, 28% of
which goes to the city for the purpose of tourism-related improvements, 70% of which goes to the
Fort Atkinson Area Chamber of Commerce Tourism Department, and 2% of which goes to the
hospitality owners to help cover their administrative costs in recording and reporting room tax fees.
Under the guidelines of the Room Tax law, room tax funds can only be used for tourism promotion
and tourism development, and targeting transient tourists likely to spend the night in one or more
lodging establishments. By requirement of state statute, an annual report of room tax expenditures
must be provided to the local Tourism Commission and filed with the Wisconsin State Department of
Revenue by May 1 of each year.

The latest data from the Wisconsin Department of Tourism provides an overview of the economic
impact of tourism in the state of Wisconsin. According to Travel Wisconsin, the state tourism’s $17.3
billion industry saw a 30% decline compared to 2019, the state's best year on record. All of
Wisconsin's 72 counties saw a significant decline in tourism in 2020 compared to 2019. However, the
end of 2021 saw its first growth in monthly year-over-year tourism spending compared to 2019.
While overall spending in 2021 is expected to still be down compared to 2019, the recent shift in
increased reports is an indicator of Wisconsin tourism bouncing back in the right direction.

This report summarizes the use of room tax funds by the Fort Atkinson Area Chamber of Commerce
Tourism Department in 2021.

Financials

Included with this report are the following financial reports:
% 2021 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
% 2022 Tourism Budget

2021 Budget and Project Summary

The total room tax revenue in 2020 was $63,883.34, a 50% decline compared to $129,347.41 in 2019,
Fort Atkinson’s most profitable year in terms of room tax revenue. The current revenue collected in
2021 is $98,876.63, an increase of approximately 54% compared to 2020. This amount does not include
the 4% quarter payment. In November, the Tourism Department was also awarded $27,560 from the
Destination Marketing Organizations Grant Program made available by the federal American Rescue
Plan Act of 2021.

(NOTE: The Fort Chamber Tourism Dept. operates on a cash basis and does not claim income until it is
physically received. As such, the reported total room tax receipts for the current year does not include the 4"

quarter of 2021.) 154



Tourism efforts in 2021 included:

\/
0’0

\J
0’0

Created content for the 2021 Jefferson County Tourism Guide. Fort Atkinson has the largest
number of advertisers in this publication, due in part to the tourism budget underwriting a
portion of their costs.

Supported the Jefferson County Area Tourism Council (JCATC) as a member of the Social
Media and Wedding Promotion subcommittees and maintained a primary role of writing and
posting content on the JCATC’s Instagram page.

o Instagram: 866 followers (+75% vs. January 2021)

Increased following on all social media platforms through engaging and relevant content.

o Facebook: 4,662 followers (+17% vs. January 2021)

o Instagram: 1,221 followers (+15% vs. January 2021)

o LinkedIn: 279 followers (+26% vs. January 2021)

Designed and implemented a semi wrap in partnership with Wé&A Distribution to travel all 48
contiguous states for the next 10 years

o Offered eight sponsorship opportunities to include the logos of local businesses and

tourism attractions on the back panel of the semi as the ideal location to capture the
attention of following drivers.

o Created a brand-new landing page on the chamber’s website for both community

members and out-of-state visitors (choosefort.com)

* Includes direct links to sponsor websites, semi’s future destinations, photos of
Fort Atkinson, and clickable links to more information on recreation, events,
shopping and dining, and the Fort Atkinson Chamber’s Quality of Life
publication.

o Planned a sponsor breakfast and community reveal at the summer Farmers Market
Promoted the Fort Farmers Market, Rhythm Remix, Manufacturing Month, Holiday Lighted
Parade, and Holiday Open House & Market through newspaper, radio, billboard, and social
media marketing.

Hosted an “Eat Local’ trivia contest highlighting 12 local restaurants throughout the month of
May that reached over 40,000 people and collected 6,393 social media engagements.

Hosted the Coolest Thing Made in Fort competition during the month of October to feature
Fort Atkinson-based manufacturers. The month-long promotion reached thousands of people
and collected over 1,000 unique engagements.

Financially supported installation of the new electronic sign at the chamber office to help
promote community events to stoplight traffic.

The annual Wisconsin Governors Conference on Tourism was hosted virtually this year, with an
in-person format returning in 2022. Both the Farmers Market and local retailers benefitted from an
on-going promotion of shopping and dining in publications like the Madison Visitors Guide, BRAVA
Magazine (a Madison-based publication targeting women), and Experience Wisconsin (a free
magazine included in the Chicago Tribune and at Travel Wisconsin Welcome Centers). Fort Atkinson’s
recreational opportunities were also showcased through a three-page advertorial in Wisconsin Bike
Trails on the Glacial River Bike Trail. Fort Atkinson was featured in a number of earned media spots
including a video interview with Fort Atkinson Online on county tourism, a day trip destination in
the Madison Visitors Guide, recognition of fall colors on Travel Wisconsin’s website, and a StatePoint
Media story on holiday experiences that collected over 40 media placements and total audience of 5.8
million. The Tourism Department also gained additional exposure through memberships in Gicle



Wisconsin, Destination Madison, and the Wisconsin Hotel & Lodging Association, as well as staffing
booths at the Jefferson County Fair, Wisconsin State Fair, and a camping tradeshow at the Jefferson
County Fair Park.

The 2021 Tourism Counts Award was presented to Ryan and Kristi Klopcic for leading The
Fireside Theatre through the COVID-19 pandemic and the ripple effect for the Fort Atkinson
community in the way of employment, business with local vendors, hotel stays, and community
engagement.

2022 Budget and Goals

< Redesign front office area to focus on Fort Atkinson tourism and locally made products.
Invite an influencer or travel writer to visit Fort Atkinson.
Distribute 2022-2024 Quality of Life relocation and visitors guide.
Highlight Fort Atkinson’s amenities and experiences with a semi wrap promotion and
Discover Wisconsin’s Passport to Adventure.
Create a video library of tourism attractions and experiences.
Refresh website and oversee social media to update functionality and increase engagement.
Update posters on the theatre building at the downtown Farmers Market location.

*,
0.0

s

*

+
0..

+
0..

3

*

&+
0..

156



2:28 PM
01/14/22

Cash Basis Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
January through December 2021
Jan - Dec 21 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget
Income
Project Income 2,000.00 8,000.00 -6,000.00 25.0%
Room Tax 104,279.33 75,000.00 29,279.33 139.04%
Total Income 106,279.33 83,000.00 23,279.33 128.05%
Expense
Advertising
Discover WI 2020 Episode 13,000.00 13,000.00 0.00 100.0%
Special Projects
Retail Promotions 3,132.50 3,000.00 132.50 104.42%
Rhythm on the River 2,826.20
Special Projects - Other 4,577.90 5,000.00 -422.10 91.56%
Total Special Projects 10,536.60 8,000.00 2,536.60 131.71%
Farmers Market 1,801.67 2,500.00 -698.33 72.07%
Photography/Graphic Design 1,2156.32 1,200.00 15.32 101.28%
General TV/Video/Radio 2,670.00 4,350.00 -1,680.00 61.38%
Website/Social Media 1,362.85 2,000.00 -637.15 68.14%
Branding Initiatives 2,600.00 3,000.00 -400.00 86.67%
General Ad 8,144.34 7,500.00 644.34 108.59%
Total Advertising 41,330.78 41,550.00 -219.22 99.47%
Dues & Subscriptions 2,169.12 1,500.00 659.12 143.94%
Miscellaneous 10.00
Office Expense 3,200.00 3,200.00 0.00 100.0%
Postage & Distribution 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Salaries
Payroll Taxes 3,849.89
Tourism Manager 35,690.07 35,250.00 440.07 101.25%
Total Salaries 39,539.96 35,250.00 4,289.96 112.17%
Travel & Expenses 134.70 0.00 134.70 100.0%
Total Expense 86,374.§ 81,500.00 4,874.56 105.98%
Net Income 19,904.77 1,500.00 18,404.77 1,326.99%

Tourism Department

157
Page 1 of 1



2022 Tourism Budget

Expenses | Budgeted Amount |
Brand Initiatives (ie. Banners) $500
Farmers Market $5,000
Print Ads $9,000
General TV/Video/Radio/ Billboard/Photography $3,000
Literature Printing & Distribution $7,000
Dues & Subscriptions $2,000
Graphic Design $2,000
Retail $6,000
Special Projects $6,000
Website/Social Media $7,500
Tourism Center Redesign $2,000
$50,000
Office Expense |
Office (Phone, Postage & Office) $3,200
$3,200
Travel/Expenses
Tourism Conference/Seminars/Mileage $1,500
$1,500
Tourism Manager (January-December) $38,480
Intern ($12/hr, 150 hours or 6-8 weeks) $1,800

$40,280
TOTAL EXPENSES $94,980

Budgeted Income:

May (1st Quarter) S 15,000.00
August (2nd) S 35,000.00
November (3rd) S 35,000.00
January (4th) S 20,000.00
CD ($10,000)
$ 95,000.00

1/7%2022



Agenda

City of Fort Atkinson
City Manager’s Office
101 N. Main Street

Fort Atkinson, Wl 53538

MEMORANDUM
DATE: February 17, 2022
TO: Fort Atkinson City Council
FROM: Paul Christensen, Wastewater Utility Supervisor
RE: Review and Possible Action Relating to the Modification of Control Panel 55-

LCP-3-2 Programmable Logic Controller (PLC)

BACKGROUND

In 2015 a high efficiency turbo blower was installed to provide air flow to the aeration basins
with the goal of reducing power usage and expense. Although the project was successful in that
we started saving money immediately on the power bill, we were not able to complete all of
the programming and hardware changes we had planned because of deficiencies in the control
valves and wiring. The unfinished work was to make further changes to the process control of
the basins, and manage the dissolved oxygen levels to reduce power usage even more than we
had with the blower improvement. The remainder of the work would have to wait until other
modifications were made to equipment around the time of the Phase | & Il construction.

All of the unfinished work was carried over by the provider, L.W. Allen/Altronex, to be
completed when were closer to the current project and other needed work was completed by
us. At the time we thought the update project was only about 1-2 years out. However, now that
the current wastewater facility upgrade project is underway, staff now needs the unfinished
work to be completed. L.W. Allen/Altronex has carried over the labor and programming
associated with the project, but the City must purchase the equipment (Control Panel 55-LCP-3-
2).

DISCUSSION

Control Panel 55-LCP-3-2 is responsible for monitoring and adjusting dissolved oxygen levels in
the aeration basins. This is accomplished by modulating air flow control valves on each of the
six aeration basins. The modifications needed will operate the air flow control valves in a much
more efficient manner by using a reduced pressure to provide the necessary air volume.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

The cost of the additional hardware from L.W. Allen/Altronex is $11,960. This expense would be
funded using Equipment Replacement Fund monies, as had the previous project.

159



RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the City Council authorize the purchase of the PLC control panel hardware
from L.W. Allen/Altronex for the cost of $11,960 with funds from the Wastewater Utility
Equipment Replacement Fund.

ATTACHMENTS
L.W. Allen/Altronex Proposal

160



PROPOSAL

Altronex Control Systems

Phone 608.222.8622
Fax 608.222.9414

A Division of L. W. Allen, LLC

PROPOSAL ID: 21092810FMK

Paul Christensen

pchristensen@fortatkinsonwi.net

TERMS: NET-30 DAYS PER ATTACHED TERMS AND CONDITIONS
ADDENDUM __ ACKNOWLEDGED

44633 Tompkins Drive
Excellence, By Design Madison, WI 53716

Fort Atkinson Wastewater Treatment REFERENCE: Aeration System Upgrades
1600 Farmco Lane _
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 LOCATION: Fort Atkinson, WI - WWTP

BID DATE: September 28, 2021

FREIGHT IS F.O.B. ORIGIN — ALLOWED
PRICES DO NOT INCLUDE SALES OR USE TAXES

ITEM | QUAN DESCRIPTION TOTAL PRICE
L.W. Allen and its Altronex Control Systems division are pleased to provide a
quotation for the following equipment and services. The WWTP recently upgraded
A 1 AERATION SYSTEM UPGRADES
1. Modify existing 55-LCP-3-2 contro! panel and PLC/RIO to provide hardware
interface to (6) new Rotork actuators PBO.
2. Modify/upgrade programming functions for most open valve.
3. Provide additional terminal blocks in basin junction box for new field wiring
** NOTES AND CLARIFICATIONS
1. Owner to provide (6) additional two-conductor shielded cables from 55-LCP-
3-2 to basin junction box. Altronex will re-use (6) two-conductor cables
between 55-LCP-3-2.
2. Owner to provide (2) new two-conductor shielded cables from each valve to
basin junction box.
ALTRONEX PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
1. Engineering and CAD drawing updates
2. Programming for MOV (Provided under previous contract)
3. Startup and training
TOTAL PRICE ITEMA .......... $11,960
ACCEPTED THIS DAY OF .20 PRICE FIRM FOR 30 DAYS
SUBMITTED THIS: September 28, 2021
NAME OF PURCHASER
A D sS]
/04
BY: L.W. ALLEN, INC.-BY: Wl —
NAME & TITLE Mark Kane

Visit us on the Web at hitp://www.lwallen.com

MEMBERS: AWWA - WEF - WRWA - WWOA

161




	Agenda
	2.17.22 Council Packet CDBG Public Hearings.pdf
	Public Hearing Notice--BLIGHT ELIMINATION

SECOND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION MEETING
	Public Hearing Notice--WATER MAIN INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS

SECOND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION MEETING
	Citizen Participation Plan CDBG
	Citizen Participation Plan Public Hering #2
	Resolution to Adopt Citizen Participation Plan
	Resolution to adopt fair housing ordinance--Nov. 2020

	Police and Fire Commission Minutes
	Council Minutes
	Permit Report
	Licenses and Permits
	Special Event-Ski & Hike at Haumerson's Pond
	2.17.22 Council Packet - Comp Plan Amendments.pdf
	2.17.22 Council Memo- Comp Plan Amendment LT.pdf
	Adopting Ordinance 2.17.22.pdf
	2019 Adopted Map 9 - Transportation.pdf
	2022 Draft Map 9 - Transportation.pdf
	2019 Adopted Map 10 - Community Facilities.pdf
	2022 Draft Map 10 - Community Facilities.pdf
	Res 1368 Public Participation Comp Plan.pdf
	Res 1372 Amend Comprehensive Plan.pdf

	Memo Official Map
	Official Map
	Official Map Ordinance

	2.17.22 Council Packet - LDDO.pdf
	2.17.22 Council Memo LDDO.pdf
	Chapter 70 - Land Division and Development Ord.pdf
	Article I: INTRODUCTION
	Section 70.01.01: Title
	Section 70.01.02: Statutory Authority
	Section 70.01.03: Geographic Jurisdiction
	Section 70.01.04: Purpose and Intent
	Section 70.01.05: Compliance
	Section 70.01.06: Responsibility
	Section 70.01.07: Abrogation and Greater Restrictions
	Section 70.01.08: Interpretation
	Section 70.01.09: Severability
	Section 70.01.10: Repeal
	Section 70.01.11: Disclaimer of Liability
	Section 70.01.12: Effective Date and Amendments
	Section 70.01.13: Restrictions for Public Benefit

	ARTICLE II: APPLICABILITY AND DIVISIONS GOVERNED
	Section 70.02.01: Applicability
	Section 70.02.02: Exemptions applicable to land divisions
	Section 70.02.03: Exemptions applicable to uses and activities

	Article III: LAND SUITABILITY
	Section 70.03.01: General purpose
	Section 70.03.02: Floodplains
	Section 70.03.03: Wetlands
	Section 70.03.04: Existing Vegetation
	Section 70.03.05: Drainage/Erosion/Groundwater Separation
	Section 70.03.06: Access
	Section 70.03.07: Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation

	Article IV: DEDICATION, RESERVATION, AND PROTECTION OF LAND
	Section 70.04.01: Streets, Highways, and Drainageways
	Section 70.04.02: Public Access to Navigable Waters
	Section 70.04.03: Dedication or Reservation of Park and Public Lands
	Section 70.04.04 Park Development Fees in Lieu of Land Dedication.
	Section 70.04.05 Reservation of lands within extraterritorial jurisdiction

	Article V: LAND DIVISION PROCEDURES
	Section 70.05.01: Pre-Application Consultation
	Section 70.05.02: Preliminary Plat Submittal, Transmittal, and Review
	Section 70.05.03: Final Plat Submittal, Transmittal, and Review
	Section 70.05.04: Minor Land Division (CSM) Submittal, Transmittal, and Review
	Section 70.05.05: Extraterritorial Land Division Submittal, Transmittal, and Review
	Section 70.05.06: Replats and Reconfigurations
	Section 70.05.07: Condominium Submittal, Transmittal, and Review
	Section 70.05.08 Homeowner and Condominium Associations

	Article VI: LAND DIVISION SUBMITTAL SPECIFICATIONS
	Section 70.06.01 Preliminary Plat Requirements
	Section 70.06.02 Final Plat Requirements
	Section 70.06.03 CSM Requirements

	Article VII: SUBDIVISION DESIGN STANDARDS
	Section 70.07.01

	Article VIII: ROAD DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS
	Section 70.08.01 Street Principles and Arrangements
	Section 70.08.02 General road design standards
	Section 70.08.03 Alley standards
	Section 70.08.04 Cul-de-sac and dead-end street standards
	Section 70.08.05 Intersection standards
	Section 70.08.06 Limited Access Highway and Railroad Right-of-Way Treatments
	Section 70.08.07 Preparation, Construction and Dedication of Public Streets and Roads
	Section 70.08.08 Private Streets
	Section 70.08.09 Private Driveways

	Article IX: Pedestrian and Recreational Ways
	Section 70.09.01 General Standards
	Section 70.09.02 Design Standards

	Article X: WATER, WASTEWATER, STORMWATER, UTILITY DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS
	Section 70.10.01: General Requirements
	Section 70.10.02: Water and Wastewater Design Requirements
	Section 70.10.03: Stormwater Design Requirements
	Section 70.10.04: Other Utilities

	Article XI: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS
	Section 70.11.01: General requirements
	Section 70.11.02: Survey Monuments
	Section 70.11.03: Grading, Erosion, and Sedimentation Control
	Section 70.11.04: Street Surfacing
	Section 70.11.05: Removal of Temporary Turnarounds
	Section 70.11.06: Curbs and Gutters
	Section 70.11.07: Sidewalks and Recreational Paths
	Section 70.11.09: Street Lights
	Section 70.11.10: Street and Traffic Control Signs and Signals
	Section 70.11.11: Street Trees
	Section 70.11.12: Landscaping/Preservation of Existing Trees

	Article XII: REQUIREMENTS FOR CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS
	Section 70.12.01 Developer’s Agreement
	Section 70.12.02 Improvement Plans
	Section 70.12.03 Performance Bond/Financial Assurance
	Section 70.12.04 Building and Other Permits
	Section 70.12.05 Inspection
	Section 70.12.06 As-Built Drawings
	Section 70.12.07 Acceptance of Improvements
	Section 70.12.08 Indemnification

	Article XIII: ADMINISTRATION, FEES, ENFORCEMENT, & APPEALS
	Section 70.13.01 Administration
	Section 70.13.02 Fees
	Section 70.13.03 Enforcement
	Section 70.13.04 Appeals

	Article XIV: Definitions
	Illustration 1



	1 2.17.22 Council Packet - HPC Ord.pdf
	2.17.22 Council Memo - HPC Ord Changes.pdf
	Draft Sections 42-36 and 37 HPC Ord.pdf
	Section 42-36 and 42-37 HPC Ord - Clean.pdf

	2.17.22 Council Packet - Tobacco Schools.pdf
	2.17.22 Council Memo - Tobacco  Schools.pdf
	Section 58-148 - Tobacco and Schools - Clean.pdf

	2021 Tourism Report Letter
	Tourism Annual Report

	2.17.22 Council Packet - Wastewater control panel purchase.pdf
	2.17.22 Council Memo - Wastewater Control Panel Purchase.pdf
	0994_001.pdf




